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George Wiseman had been in Kashmir with his wife when the Japanese invaded Malaya on 8 December 1941.   George was a member of the Federated Malay States Voluntary Forces and he went to Calcutta to communicate with his unit and seek orders.   He was advised that his services were not required, but, he could make up his own mind.   He then obtained passage to return to Singapore to join his unit.   This meant leaving his wife.   However, the ship (Taisang) was sunk short of it’s destination and George was one who survived the sinking.   This is George’s diary, which commences boarding the ship in Calcutta.   The diary is extremely detailed covering his time as a Prisoner of War, including time on the infamous Burma Thailand Railway from October 1941 to a date in early 1945 when he stopped for fear of it being found by the Kempetai.
War Diaries of George Wiseman

Thursday, 8th January 1942.  Embarked in Taisang at Calcutta.

Friday, 9th January 1942.  Sailed 2am.  Wrote letter to be posted by pilot.

Saturday 10th January 1942.  Pilot left when out of sight of land in evening

Sunday 11th January -Saturday 24th January.  Sailed in zigzag course in company with ?Wensang and Hosang general direction SW until near latitude off Ceylon when aircraft dropped instructions and we turned and sailed due N until dusk when a light was seen.  A British warship then sent instructions by rowing boat.  No details visible owing to darkness.  I was on the bridge most of the time.  Wen then altered course.  The ship's officers never revealed details but the direction seemed to be SE.  During daylight hours the passengers, Mitchell-Innes, Doughty, Horn, Malcolm, Jackman and I did anti-sub watches on the bridge 2 hours morning and evening but never saw anything except occasional ships until near Sunda Straits, when we saw a convoy of Dutch ships of the Kota class escorting Canberra? The next day, as … we saw British (…) ranging from sloops to a cruiser of the Canberra class.  Early one morning we approached the Straits proper and saw many attractive islands, including a volcano which we presumed was Krakatoa.  Soon after we saw a collection of small ships clustered around a large four-funnel liner, which we later identified as the Aquitania and six small KPM.  Australian troops being transferred from the Aquitania.  Soon after we anchored the KPM moved off escorted by the Canberra and several smaller warships and a Catalina flying boat.  The KPM were in pairs and we were instructed to follow and were the fourth ship in the starboard column.  That afternoon the Canberra came very close, fired a line across with a rocket and passed over a chart.  Once we were in the Java Sea a large Dutch cruiser, supposed to be like the … joined the escort, while the HMAS Canberra left us the next day after signalling "Shoot good!" This was the day after.  We passed between Banka Island and the mainland of Sumatra.  We had to form single lanes.  Life on board was very pleasant as we all got on very well, having the odd drink which we diced for and played poker in the evening, when old Trader Horn usually won.  The Purser and I were usually the losers.  We decided to stop as we had lost $30.  That occurred after about 10 days play.   We were removed from the outside cabins to the large ones opening onto the alleyways leading to the saloon and smoking room.  They were comfortable, cool and well blacked out, so reading was possible.  I was on the starboard side with Jackman and Mitchell-Innes, the others then having a smaller cabin each on the port side.  The Captain, Hopkins, invited us along to gin slings one Sunday, a recipe which was very good.  Doughty, who professed to be an expert, was very impressed.  Dunne, the Chief Engineer, was easily the nicest of the officers.  The 2nd had just transferred from ?Rhexona?.   Among the passengers I was friendly with Doughty.  Mitchell-Innes was very pleasant but did little owing to lack of cash.  Trader Horn kept us enthralled with his yarns, the most interesting being his trip from Bangkok to Tavoy, avoiding the Japs.   He'd lost all his belongings, so I gave him some of Allen's.  I wrote to Dr Allen, telling him how useful they had been, a letter to Fox, besides a diary letter to you.  On the evening of the 24th, Friday, I started to repack as we were due in Singapore the next day.  Although we had had another Catalina increased an air raid alarm we felt quite secure as besides the sea escort the air escort during the day and we had visits from fighters including nine Hurricanes, presumably from Singapore.  As I thought it might be difficult landing in Singapore I loaded essentials for the first night in the rucksack.  These included the lilo, the thin green blanket, the … , a change of clothing, a small bottle of whisky, the brandy flask and small odds and ends including a towel on the top.  The whole thing was left open next to my lifebelt.  The rest of my luggage was spread over the floor and spare bunk, as by then it was time for a peg before dinner and Doughty had a bottle of Canadian Club, the only ship's drink except beer being rum.  As I'd had rather more beer the night before than I should have had I decided to be very careful as I wanted to be clear-headed on arriving in Singapore.  In fact I went off to my cabin soon after 10pm, but did not sleep too well and about 1am heard the engines stop and the party closing up about two.  The next thing after that was being wakened by a heavy crash and finding myself half on the floor on top of the luggage.  I put the light on to find it was 4.10am and then went out on deck to see what damage there was, thinking we'd had a collision with one of the KPM in the convoy.  I was standing by our boat station on deck just outside my cabin when I was joined by Jackman.  We waited a few moments to see if there were any instructions or alarm signals.  We heard nothing except the yelling of the crew, trying to get the boats away.  A few seconds later I heard sharp blasts.  In view of that we decided to get our lifebelts etc.  On my way back to the cabin I ran into Mitchell-Innes, who was on his way up to the boat deck.  I did not see him alive again.  As I was wearing Chinese trousers and a pajama jacket I pulled on a pair of flannel trousers over the Chinese ones and then put on the cork life jacket, tying it firmly on and placing my passport and cigarette case in my hip pocket.  I then rejoined Jackman at the boat station, carrying the rucksack.  As there seemed little change I left the sack with him and went back to the cabin to see what I could collect.  Just as I found your photos the lights went out and the door slammed.  I had a little difficulty opening the door but found my way along the passageway fairly easily.  I picked up the rucksack and adjusted it on my shoulders on top of the life jacket.  There was no sign of the boats although with the patent davits they were supposed to be swung out and ready for use within two minutes.  We heard water splashing round under the saloon, so with a remark to Jackman that I did not intend to wait any longer, I went over the side.  By then the water was only a few feet down below.  I swam away from the ship as besides being scared of suction when she went down there was a chance that I might be hit by a boat as it was being lowered.  After what seemed ages I turned on my back to have a look at the ship.  She was low in the water but on an even keel.  I could see officers' torches flashing as they worked on the boats.  A few seconds later, with a man standing there on the stern heaved up in the air as she slid under bows first.  The Indian crew were all calling on Allah, a most eerie sound as it was pitch dark.  It was only 4.20am I found from my watch which continued to go.  It was the cheap one I bought in Ipoh which I'd been using owing to the blackout.  Unfortunately I forgot all about the watch you gave me in the hurry of leaving the cabin.  I was holding on to a piece of wreckage when Jackman and a Russian guard came and joined me.  He was the man in the stern.  Soon after we abandoned it for a large box which we saw a Lascar holding onto.  The latter was absolutely terrified but we pacified him and made him understand that if we each clung to a corner it would support us easily.  Unfortunately the sea got rougher and the case turned over and opened.  It was the games chest as was proved by the assortment of quoits etc which floated out; the medicine ball caused quite a scare as somebody thought it was a mine! We could not understand why we were not rescued as we expected one of the escorts to be on the spot but as the sea was warm we did not worry much.  Then we thought we saw a ship stop and started to try to swim towards it, still holding onto the box.  After a while we decided it was an island.  Owing to the current we got no nearer but on the contrary seemed to be drifting in a circle.  But I continued swimming to keep warm.  My watch kept going and we cursed it heavily, the time went so slowly, five minutes seemed like half an hour.  At last it was light, after 6.30.  Nothing was in sight and we really began to get a bit depressed.  During all this time I held on to the rucksack with one hand and the box with the other for support.  In between times making an endeavour to stop my bags slipping right off.  I found that the flannel trousers prevented my tummy from getting too chilly and appreciated what a stroke of luck it was that I had put them on.  The Russian guard kept on raising the question of sharks.  I think I persuaded myself and the others into the bargain that there were only a few round Singapore, in addition to which the explosion should have scared them off.  Islands seemed all round us but the currents made swimming to them seem rather hopeless.  Then the spring onions I'd had for tiffin the day before began to give trouble.  Most unpleasant and not to be recommended before a forced bathe.   Just when we were getting very depressed we sighted a minesweeper closely followed by another.  We were scared stiff they would miss us and all yelled and waved.  The Indian doctor who had dropped near us was nearly crying with fright and would not calm down.  I think his trouble was caused by the loss of his glasses as he was very shortsighted.  A few moments afterwards they saw us and gave a series of blasts on their whistle.  As soon as they were close they each dropped a boat to pick us up.  Our group was among the first to be picked up after nearly 3 hours in the water.  I was hauled into a lifeboat just after 0740.  I then had a chance to examine the rucksack.  The top was open, as were the pockets, which were empty.  Luckily the two small bottles of whisky were in the socks at the bottom so were safe.  We each had a pull at a bottle and gave the other to the doctor to give to any injured.  It was an absolute lifesaver.  We were soon on board the Jarak, a minesweeper, an ex SS vessel.  The Chinese cookie immediately got coffee ready for us.  The captain gave us what drink he had, which consisted of gin, which helped a lot.  In the meantime the survivors from the Indian crew were put to bed in the crew's quarters.  They all seemed to be suffering from exposure and very scared, so we went and gave them coffee and generally helped the 'sweeper's crew to look after them.  Afterwards we helped apply artificial respiration to 12 or 15 who were picked up unconscious in their lifebelts.  Mitchell-Innes was the only European among them.  Unfortunately we could bring none of them round and so the doctor decided it was useless.  We desisted as we were all fagged out.  The other 'sweeper also checked up on survivors.  The Captain and Chief Engineer were missing among the officers whilst among the passengers Mitchell-Innes was drowned but his body had been recovered and Trader had died on an improvised raft but they had been unable to stop his body being washed off.  Malcolm and Doughty were missing together with about 30 of the crew.  All the survivors had had raw places under their chins where they'd been chafed by the lifebelts when going overboard.  I had held mine to keep it clear of my chin, most of the others seemed - it was the general opinion that most of the drowned were knocked unconscious through omitting to do this.

  Details of survivors were wirelessed to Singapore.  The captain of the 'sweeper explained that he had to continue sweeping but hoped to complete the job in time to get us to Singapore between 2 and 3pm.  No sooner had we settled down than there was an air raid alarm which was rather trying in our nervous condition.  Luckily it was soon over as far as we were concerned.  Evidently it was only Singapore's usual morning raid.  At last they had finished their job and turned towards Singapore.  Soon after we had further evidence of the war in a Hurricane with its nose in a sandbank.  A boat set out to examine it, no sign of the pilot, presumed taken of earlier.  As we came in through the entrance we passed the KPM vessels of our convoy leaving.  We anchored and a Red Cross boat came to take off the dead.   We were going off with them but eventually went off in a ship's lifeboat.  We were met by Crossley and Ball, who did not give me a particularly warm welcome, expressed surprise that I was on board.  Jackman and I were kept hanging around with the officers and crew for over an hour and had to witness the dead, who were very stiff, being carted away in a lorry.  Ball went off but eventually Crossley took us off to the office where Jackman tried to get in touch with somebody to put him up.  We sent a clerk off to try and buy us some sandals or cheap shoes.  Jackman was in a borrowed shirt and shorts while I was in my shorts and sports shirt with a pair of socks.  These were in the rucksack and were dried out on the 'sweeper.  In addition, I saved some handkerchiefs, the lilo and the thin green blanket, a spoon and a little bottle of potassium permanganate in addition to the Chinese trousers, flannel trousers and pajama jacket which I was wearing when rescued.  The case with your photo was ruined but luckily the photos were okay as was my passport and the money in the cigarette case, though rather sodden.  Crossley had made no provision for cash, so I gave what I had to the Purser so that the officers could buy necessities.  I had not paid my bar bill so we were square.  Anyway, it was impossible to repay it then.  I saw Cherry, who arranged for me to stay with him.  I was very pleased.  It was a very pleasant contrast from Crossley and Ball, who observed his opinion that I should have stayed in India a little longer to see what happened, but I really do not think I could have done anything else.  Soon Mrs C came to pick him up.  She was charming, made me feel much cheerier.  She and C were heads of the Medical Auxiliary Service (MAS), both working very hard.  During the drive to Abbotsford, the Chairman's house, they pointed out a lot of the damage, also the Cathay Building … they managed to trace Pop at Gibson's house on Cluny Hill.  I spoke to him on the phone but did not mention how I'd arrived! I was in rather an emotional condition when I saw him first, but I pulled myself together and went to see Di and Sheila.  They all looked very fit.  Pops said I'd returned just in time to identify our silver as Bill ?Ritches had rescued it.  A pleasant surprise which turned to disappointment later.   They'd come by car and Jim had managed to bring a lot of their belongings with them.  Somebody had eventually brought Pop's boat as far as Muar then the troops had borrowed it to reconnoitre up the river; but had been forced to abandon it on the approach of Jap patrols.  Miller of the Chartered Bank was living there as he'd been bombed out.  Also Kemp, a planter from Kedah, who spent most nights in a boat watching for mine-laying by plane.  After dinner I went down to the Adelphi with Pop to see Col ?Riches.  We examined the silver, it was certainly not ours.  As it was found in Port Swettenham I should think it was Harry's, although my photo album was found with it.  The latter was probably looted from Don's … tin box.  Anyway Riches could not leave it with Jim so dropped it down a well.  Among those in the Adelphi that we knew, including Johnny, who had a job in Pahang , who had only recently returned from leave.  The Despards, who'd returned in the Aquitania, and one of the KPM, but had heard us go down! So ended Saturday, January 24th 1942, a day I would not forget for a long time.  Unfortunately I found sleep practically impossible.

Sunday 25th January 1942.  Soon after 6am C woke me up and I went off to 'early'

Service with C to Singapore Cathedral.  It calmed me a lot.  On the way back I ordered three wreathes for Mitchell-Innes funeral.  One from me, one from Jackman, and the other from the officers.  On getting back phoned up the Marine police to enquire about the funeral but nobody seemed to know and referred me from one to another.  Gave up and phoned Jackman and the Purser to admit failure, arranging to pick up the former after tiffin and go down to the Adelphi to join the latter.  I tried again after breakfast but gave up owing to the frequent alerts.  The Purser collected me and we went round to the Anglo-Oriental office where I saw Coates and explained about Mitchell-Innes.  Only a few days before he said he was worried as to whether his wife had enough cash.  Coates said adequate arrangements had already been made.  Turner of the 

British Dispensary phoned up to confirm about Horn.  I promised to go along and see him on Monday morning.  I had tiffin with the girls and Pop at Robinson's, then collected Jackman and went down to the Adelphi.  We met the Despards and some sisters from Malacca.  They gave us a Verinol? each to make certain we slept that night.  As the Purser never turned up we did some slight shopping.  I bought a cheap Gillette razor, soap and socks.  Then we placed the wreathes on the Cenotaph as we had no idea where Innes' grave was.  Then some tea with the family and back to the Cherries before dark for another night.  Johnny phoned up, anxious for me to meet him.  I said I'd try to get in touch with Betty and arrange to meet him at Robinson's the next morning.  Early to bed after dinner.   The Verinal? made me sleep like a log; one alert but I never heard it!

Monday 26th January 1942.  Down to the office with Cherry.  He agreed that I could draw half of my bonus so arranged for it to be sent to you care of the Imperial Bank of Ahmednagar.  Went down to the Shipping Department to meet Jackman and the officers.  The first person I ran into was Capt.  Keir of the Islamia still very fit.  Just then there was an alert.  In the basement I met Begg, Mrs Dane and Dr Webb.  Begg was among the last to leave Ipoh.  By then his house had been thoroughly looted, so presumed our old house was in the same condition.  Mrs Dane was very glad to hear that you had not returned as there was very little that you could have done.  The MAS only functioned for a very short time.  Nancy had been amongst the early departures.  Mrs B … left four days later, thanks to her speaking Hindustani she got a job in an Indian hospital, but most of the others were doing little or nothing.  Anne Despard, a trained nurse, could not get a job.  After the raid I went over to the Manpower Bureau and filled up a long form, when I presented it to Farrer I was told that I must go and report to the FMSVF.  As the day before Gibson had strongly advised me to get into the Motor Transport as they were looking out for European drivers, Asiatics not having proved too good, I suggested to Farrer that as I was willing to drive heavy vehicles he might find a job for me at once.  He cut in rudely saying it was not a case of my telling him as I was conscripted and would do what I was told.  I felt like having an argument but walked out instead.  On my way along to Raffles Place I ran into Murray and Judy Scoular.  I gave Judy your address and told her of my adventures in the hope that she would be able to let you know all the news.  I had started a letter to you but found writing even to you extremely difficult because I was afraid that I might mention something that might cause the censor to delay the letter.  That was why I put so little in my wire.  On going into Robinson's I was lucky enough to meet LV, looking very fit, he had no direct news of Guy Hovil but understood he was still in Johore.  Unfortunately he was in a hurry so there was no chance of much conversation.  Betty and I then went up to the restaurant.  The first person we saw was Ray Blackland who was now a full lieutenant.  He insisted on standing me a drink in memory of happy times in Ipoh.  All very optimistic that the Japs would be held soon, at the moment they were well beyond Batu Pahat.  When Betty went off to her VAD work at Alexandra Hospital I went off to the club with tiffin with Pop.  Then I met Jackman and Lucy and Jimmy Walker.  The latter was looking very fit, ,,, planning job was transferred to Singapore.  Jackman and I then started off for the FMSVF HQ in Leonie Hill off River Valley Road.  Outside Beach Road Police Station we were caught by an alert and were taken into the Charge Room by the … chap who was acting as Asst Immigration officer under Rawlinson in Port Swettenham in October.  After the raid he kindly gave us a lift to HQ, where we met many people we knew, Pat Madge, ?Trevor? Allen, Charlesworth and many others.  They all seemed fit and optimistic.  Pat took us in to see Brigadier Moir, who wanted to hear all our adventures.  He instructed us to report at Telok Paku the next day.  I asked to be posted to the MT Coy, but was told that it would be arranged there, so had to be content with that.  Charles gave us a lift as far as Union Building; from there I went to the British Dispensary and told them what I could about Horn's end.  But as I was thinking of returning to Abbotsford I thought I'd make a last attempt to find the MT unit so I wandered along Robinson Road.  But in front of Dunlop's office I found what I was looking for.  In the lorry park I found Sanders, whom I'd known well in the Port Dickson Camp.  He very kindly took me along to Chamier who was the CO.  I explained that I was keen to join but the brigadier had not been too helpful.  He told me to report for duty the following morning and enquiries regarding my whereabouts could be dealt with when they arose.  That being fixed, I called a yellow top and went back to Abbotsford.  Mrs Oldham was staying there and very kindly lent me some of his clothes.  Blossom Oldham had a commission in the armoured cars.  Reggie Allen was also staying there and gave me details of the armoured cars.  I was very glad I'd not joined them.  Many had been killed purely through lack of training.  Earlier in the day I met Aubrey Wallich who told me there was not the slightest chance of my getting into the VAF as even a pupil pilot as rule was the inst … if Bob had not been so difficult about my joining when in Ipoh.  Considering everything I think I did the most useful thing joining the MT.  (My later experiences certainly proved that).  Johnny was extremely gay and optimistic, which not even the siren seemed to shake.  We went into town with Chamier, was dropped in Robinson Road where I saw the Purser leading the crew towards the office.  Nothing had been done for them so he was taking them to the Mission for Seamen.  There was nothing I could do so I went on to the MT camp where I reported at the office.  Major Chamier passed me on to Seward, ex Chartered Bank, Ipoh, to fill up civil liability forms.  I gave your address care of the Ahmednagar Bank so hope you will get money easily, $150 per month I understand.  In the middle of it there was an alarm so we took refuge in a drain until it was over.  I then drew kit from Manson and Ephraims.  During this I met Talbot who was fit and very helpful.  I've subsequently discovered that all the Port Swettenham customs had joined the unit.  Bailwood? Ian Jeffries and Richards.  I then left for the office, arranging to report for the evening.  I didn't have much time to spare as talks were continually interrupted by raids, bombs dropping very near, so we lay on the office floor.  But I managed to fix up all cash matters so that Prescott could do everything without consulting me first.  Also managed to finish a short letter to you which went off registered air mail.  During the last raid a tanker coming into Singapore was hit, flames and smoke thousands of feet into the air.

Tuesday 27th January 1942.  Joined Pop for tiffin at the Club.  He introduced me to a volunteer of the APC, who was very depressed about the tanker.  He feared the whole crew must be lost.  The last message received from it was "hit by … bomb no hope".  After tiffin we went over to Whiteaway Laidlaw, shopping.  The first person we ran into was Bert Hussey, looking very smart in his RAF uniform.  He was in the operations room at Kallang and had been narrowly missed in the morning raid, saved by the slit trenches.  He hoped he might have a chance of flying later.  When Pop left us I went into Gian Singh's and there was Johnny, very full of beans.  Wanted to have a party but nothing doing as I'd … so he wandered … got into the electric.  … Robinson's … the room was no longer air-conditioned, the band disappeared on the first day of the war.  We afterwards went along to Raffles for a drink before returning to report, met Dr Hardie, who was also in uniform, a captain, then back to Anson Road camp.  Found I was allotted to B Section, Capt Jock Paton, Sergeant van Langenberg, Sergeant Sanders, Best, Green, Lock and some Malays.  Derek Barr was very anxious that I should join his section.  I'm glad I didn't as all the Customs lads were also in Paton's section and they were an extremely cheerful crowd.  They all slept in a tent but I was lucky enough to get a place in the large bunkhouse.  I used the lilo on top of bedboards for the first time.  A great success.  Especially after a few whisky ayers with Jimmie Egan from Sungei Siput.

Wednesday 28th January 1942.  Started off meeting Capt Paton, B Section commander.  Also van Langenberg, the senior Sergeant who required details of religion etc for the cold meat ticket which incidentally they never issued.  I was allotted Marmon Harrington lorry no.  92.  It was fitted with a V8 Ford engine.  A Malay had had it before and left it in a filthy condition.  I spent most of the morning and some of the afternoon oiling and greasing it and Ian Jeffries'.  Then when I was ready we took 92 out on the road so that I could have a shot at driving.  Not too successful as the gears were worn, would go into reverse instead of top! We took it back and Capt Smith of the workshops took me out in another one and passed me out as fit to drive.  He gave a long explanation of the front wheel drive which has a separate lever.  This gear lever is next to the passenger/spare driver's seat.  Consequently the person seated there often knocked the lever into gear, many times I found the engine was working on both front and rear wheels.  When it was doing that the maximum speed was about 33mph whereas it could do a shade over 45mph if the drive was on the rear wheels only.  That evening I was detailed to act as second driver to Lock, late Customs Port Swettenham.  We had so-called dinner in the cookhouse early.  Whilst we were having it Talbot turned up with a bottle of beer, as he thought I needed cheering up.  I drove first to get the feel of the lorry in daylight.  We went to collect  a working party from 3rd Mixed Reinforcement Camp in Tampines Road.  Our route was down the front as far as Raffles, down over Beach Road, Serangoon Road, little or no sign of bomb damage.  Indian troops boarded our lorries soon after dark and were taken towards the Naval Base, where we dropped them off at ammunition dumps and brought back the party they were relieving to the Tampines Rd camp, where we waited until nearly midnight for the next party of men.  There were one or two air raids but no bombs fell near us, although the searchlights showed a plane passing overhead.  Lock went to sleep under his lorry while I found Best, a middle-aged Aussie and veteran of the last war and a charming chap.  We had biscuits and whisky ayers under the back of his lorry and sat by the road yarning.  A cool night but luckily the road retained the heat.  As we had taken it in turns to drive it was my turn to the Naval Base.  We eventually got back to Anson Rd after 3am.

Thursday 29th January.  After servicing the lorry I got permission to go to the office.  Prescott had already sent off what there was of the bonus by TT to your account at Ahmednagar, not as much as I'd anticipated, but enough to keep you provided the civil liability claim of $150 per month is paid.  Air raids as usual, some shook the building.  Arranged for any letters to be sent along to Dunlop's, as I can walk over to collect them any time.  No duty until the evening when I was detailed for the same job as the previous evening, but this time I was driving alone, rather an ordeal.  Luckily young Bailwood, late Customs PS, was in the party and I was able to join him at the halts.  Quite a few air raids, also saw our dive bombers taking off.  When near the Naval Base saw streams of flaming balls shooting into the sky.  No one seemed to be able to account for them.  They were totally different to tracer bullets which I'd already seen.  On our return trip wardens rerouted the convoy at the lower end of Serangoon Rd, evidently owing to bomb damage, but I saw nothing.  Towards midnight the moon came out and made driving much easier.  The blacked out headlights were little use and were not improved by oncoming vehicles having theirs wrongly focussed.  Time and again this had a blinding effect.  Each vehicle had a plain white light shining onto its rear axle, which made it comparatively easy to follow the one in front, provided his light was on! Many times MPs yelled for the lights to be put out owing to raids.  On that particular night my engine was not running too well  and stalled at most inconvenient moments, once in the centre of a crossroads.  The language was a trifle fiery.  Eventually back at the camp at 4am absolutely fagged out.  
Friday 30th January.  Woke up feeling rather rotten and very depressed, nearly in tears in fact and shaking like a leaf.  The latter was so bad that a chap recommended a straight whisky.  I had one, which helped, but as I had no wish to start that game I explained the position to Bailwood and asked him to go to see Turner of the British Dispensary, he might be able to recommend something.  As B had permission to go to town he went off at once.  I stayed in camp but was not helped by frequent air raids, seemed to spend most of the morning popping in and out of funk holes, cement sections sunk in a mound.  I'm sure they must look like MG positions from the air.  Some of the workshops crowd seemed to live in them.  Went over to Dunlop's to find out if there was any news of the family.  After the raids met Bob and Barnes; could not get through on the phone so Bob promised to get Pop to come along after tiffin.  Which he did do, turning up with Betty.  I tried to persuade him how important it was to get the girls away as soon as possible (other drivers who had been in South Johore reported that the Japs were pouring south towards the causeway into the island.).   I think they'd made up their minds then that they could not hold the mainland.  I think Pop agreed with me, but Betty was not so easy.  Naturally, she wanted to be near Donald.  I'm sure we could do our jobs far better if we knew they were safely away from the bombing.  It made me much happier knowing you were safe in India.  I had no job except to stand by in case we were required for a job, so had the opportunity for a long chat.  As the LDC had been disbanded Pop was without a job.  I suggested he tried for an office job with the RAF.   Bert said there were plenty of office jobs available.   He promised to try for one.   A quiet afternoon and evening for me as I was not required and there were no raids.  
Saturday 31st January 1942.  Was instructed to collect a crowd of clerks from outside the Union Jack Club, which is outside the Capitol Cinema.  Was delayed by constant air raid alarms, bombing, dropping quite near, in fact we had to get inside our funk holes.  When I eventually arrived I was an hour late.  They had already left for Siam Road, so I decided to wait; there was a mistake.  Ran into Warren of Cumberbatch, he was hoping to get into the RAF.  On returning I was stand by driver in the afternoon.  I was told to drive Richards' lorry to Woodlands Camp.  He'd hurt his leg but accompanied me.  He was ex-Customs PS.  When we got there we found that the mainland had been evacuated and the causeway had been blown up.  After a Scottish regiment - I think it was the Gordons - marched across with their pipers playing.  Evidently the job was not too thorough as I was told it was possible for a pedestrian to get across dry shod still.  Our job was to take a load of Malay RAs to a Malay school in the settlement of Pasir Panjang near Jalan Eunos.  Their European NCOs had nothing to say in their favour.  A dud lot, quite a few had deserted with their arms, including a Bren gun.  While they were loading I moved round the camp and found some Aussies taking what they could out of the vacated NAAFI, mainly empty beer bottles, which they anticipated selling in Singapore for a few cents each.  I collected a couple of glasses from our central ?Halan?, an eventful trip taking them to their new quarters.  
Sunday 1st February 1942.  Was detailed to carry stores from Alexandra Depot.  As the usual lorry was not available, I was told to deliver ice, a very unsuitable job for a 3 tonner Marmon Harrington lorry, as I soon found out.  About 30 blocks of ice were put in the lorry i/c of coolies, while the clerk climbed in beside me.  The latter was a most amusing bird, half Burmese, half Indian.  Before the war he had been i/c of elephants in a circus in Pahang.  He kept me amused for the whole of the trip.  We delivered ice at the FMSVF HQ at Leonie Hill.  Three of four hospitals, and numerous depots and camps dotted all round the island, including a new 'drome near Tengah 'drome.  The latter was in an awful mess, from both artillery fire and bombing.  A pilot told me that a gun in Johore had the place ranged, every time a plane attempted to take off it was shelled.  While we were there the air raid alarm went off so we got into a trench with some Indians.  As the ice had been delivered and the clerk was insistent that he knew of a safe place, we decided to leave as there was no sign of the raiders.  A little way down the road he saw the usual 27 bombers overhead, so I pulled up and we took to the rubber.  No sooner had I settled down in a hollow than I heard the soosh of the bombs falling.  They burst fairly near, I presume on or near the 'drome, but we felt no blast.  Except for that the trip was peaceful.  When I got back to Alex I was put on carting cigarettes to the Pavilion Cinema, as the storage space was urgently required for next morning.  … that is what the officer i/c said though he made no attempt to hurry up the Indian working party,.   They took ages filling my lorry and were not better at the others.  Although we were willing to work as late as they liked, they kept ordinary office hours and told us it was useless to return for fresh loads, as they closed at 4pm.  So the job would have to be completed in the morning.  I helped unload my cigarettes at the pavilion, which had been turned into a godown.  Once that was done I Q
wandered over to the Magnolia to have some milk and ice cream.  I ran into many people I knew, including Scotty from Ipoh.  He and Brownie were in the Observer Corps.  Also Ian MacDonald, who had no job now the FMS was overrun, but hope for something with the SS Police.   

Monday 2nd February 1942.  On the detail to Changi mag.  to collect AA ammo.  The mag is ten to eleven miles down the Bukit Timah road, beyond Yew Tee village.  To get into it is necessary to pass the oil tanks which are in the same reserve.  When we passed one tank was burning, bombed by a plane which was supposed to have approached under Dutch markings and therefore was not fired at.  We had to take cover from planes machine-gunning, but nothing came particularly close to us.  I sat in a dugout with Talbot, who had just received news that he had had a son and heir.  On one occasion when we popped out to look a Jap dive bomber passed over the trees.  We were eventually loaded with 60 cans, each containing two 5.7 AA shells, which we were told to take to Naval Base South, which nobody had heard of.  Whilst waiting an officer came up and asked us to show him Bukit Timah golf course on the map.  We could not find it as the map was a very bad one, … miles to an inch; therefore we gave him verbal directions; another sign of the lack of proper preparation.  After waiting for some time Saunders came back and piloted us to it.  It was a new gun position south of the naval base.  Arriving there we were told they could not take it as they were only allocated 1000 rounds per gun and they already had 1300, although there were no infantry between them and the sea.  We balked a bit at this as it was nearly 4 pm and we had no food.  On hearing this, the officers agreed we were volunteers so insisted on us coming into their mess for tea.  They'd nothing else! We were introduced as 'some more of them browned off volunteer drivers'.  We had tea and biscuits, adding our own salmon and bully beef to the spread.  When we finished an officer kindly came along to guide us to the gun position which was to take the ammo, off Holland road, which meant that 20 odd lorries had done an unnecessary journey of at least 20 miles each.  We all drove up to the gate of the position then found only one was allowed up at a time and that a concentration near the gate was forbidden.  This meant getting 18 or 19 lorries quite a distance.  Being one of the first in I was the last to back.  I worked the clutch, brake etc while Chancel Singh steered.  Half way up the hill there was a bang under the … and the lorry refuse to go any further.  It looked as if the transmission had gone.  We tried to run it forward off the road and tried to shift Chancel Singh the same way with the same result.  Loaded, they must have weighed at least 5 tons, most probably more.  Then, to make matters worse, it rained hard.  Luckily the officer i/c the battery took me in and gave me a drink.  He'd already rescued Talbot.  As it was pitch dark it was decided to leave the lorries loaded until the morning under a guard from the battery.

Tuesday 3rd February 1942.  A very amusing day.  I was detailed to collect a supply of petrol for the company from an RASC depot down Jurong road.  I loaded the lorry with empty drums and took two Malays along to help.  Once in the BP road the directions were vague.  When I got to the appropriate place I asked an MP.  I followed his directions and came to an Aussie unit.  I asked them and was told they could fulfil the requirements.  It was certainly the wrong depot but I didn't bother.  They were very efficient and unloaded and loaded my lorry in no time.  Then the officer i/c asked me if I liked rum.  He took me along to one of their lorries and gave me a really strong one.  The Malays also had one but luckily didn't like it.  As I was leaving they gave me a bottle of Indian rum as they didn't like it.  The Malays were loaded up with cigarettes.  On our return we were caught by an air raid in the town, so we left the lorry in an open space and took cover in a nearby ditch as we'd no wish to be caught in it with a load of petrol on board.  Owing to the mistake we were able to send another driver to the proper depot and were therefore 800 gallons in hand, which was a great help to us as before we'd always been short.

Wednesday 4th February 1942.  I was detailed to go to Changi road to collect camouflage nets.  They were loaded and I was joined by a corporal who directed me to drive to Farrer road, where we collected some Chinese coolies, after which we drove to the portion of Woodland road which is overlooked from Johore Bahru.  The nets were dumped at intervals to be rigged up on the side of the road to shield traffic from enemy observation.  Although the latter town was in enemy hands there were no signs of activity.  The next load was taken to Adam camp, after which we returned to Grange road, where the coolies heard that Farrer road had been hit by bombs.  As there was still work to be done we only let one of as he said his mother was there.  We went as far as St Andrews church, then let them off for coffee, whilst we went into the canteen run by the church.  They promised to be back within quarter of an hour, but never turned up again.  As we were in hurry we decided to go on alone, but after we started there was an alarm but we decided not to stop as we saw a flight of Hurricanes climbing.  Just as we got near the airport we saw a mata2 dive for the drain.  As we got to the pineapple factory and stopped the engine we heard the bombs whistling down.  A second or so later they burst on the 'drome and amongst the hangars.  A terrible sight with clouds of smoke and dust.  When the latter cleared away we saw some of our fighters burning, mainly Buffaloes, luckily, though the Hurricanes never seemed much good.  I suppose they never really had a chance of being properly tuned whilst the pilots had no chance to practice in peace.  I saw four of them being taken on by three Jap fighters and got the worst of it, though none crashed.  They fled, a very disheartening sight for people on the ground.  We came back for a second load but were so tired we decided to get helpers.  Unfortunately they did not understand my Malay and one ran off, but we managed to force the others into the lorry.  When we got to the factory he saw what we wanted and was a willing helper.  Actually refused the cash I offered but accepted it after some persuasion.  On the way back I saw Ron and Barbara near the Singapore Steam Laundry, walking…….  off, but could not attract their attention.  
5th Feb, 1942

We were instructed to go to MacPherson Rd and corner of Aljunied Rd.  After a long wait we embarked a large number of Indian troops.  While we were doing this we saw our last British aircraft, Air Force, a Moth and three Avro Cadets! Not armed but used for reconnaissance.  The Japs kept clear luckily and we were able to land the troops safely near Bukit Timah golf course.  They were part of the 3rd defence line and rather scared.  When they got out.   I did too, to fix the back flap up.  Luckily I did as I found they’d got out in such a hurry that they’d left weapons, equipment, etc.  I chucked it out on the side of the road and yelled at them to collect it.  One driver did not take this precaution and found when he got back to camp that he’d collect an anti-tank rifle, so he had to do the journey again.  I could not help feeling rather rotten at the thought of those chaps going up with the feeling of action fairly soon whilst I returned to comparative safety.  As I was returning empty I took the opportunity of stopping at the office.  No letters worse luck.  Everybody was very optimistic!!! Wallich anticipated moving to Java or Sumatra soon with what remained of the VAF.  Nothing doing in the afternoon but plenty of air raids.  They came lower as there was no opposition.  That morning a bomb dropped near and put a few holes in the bank house.  Nobody hurt luckily.  A few days before we saw the Empress of Asia on fire from bombs rather a terrible sight.  The crew came ashore near us seemed to have lost everything.  I certainly had a fellow feeling for them in view of the continuous air raids on the docks.  They’re looking for a camp for us.  I wasn’t sorry as bombs dropped all round, the 30 or so vehicles being an obvious target, besides a near miss at the docks could easily put a lot of them out of action.

Friday 6th Feb

Moved camp but did a job on the way so had to carry my belongings with me.  We were to carry AA ammo from a position beyond Tengah Drome to Mount Vernon, which is off Serangoon Rd near Bidadari Cemetery.  As the Japs had the former place under observation from a balloon we were to hide in the rubber, going into the position singly.  One or two air raids but nothing dropped near.  I did my trip and was back in time for tiffin.  Best and Green made tea on a primus and supplied butter and onions to go with bully beef and biscuits.  I was the last to in for a second load.  By then it was raining heavily.  One of our Indian drivers bogged down his Marmon, calmly got out of it and left the Europeans to do the dirty work.  We told him where he got off.  By then the ammo was all out so we had to take the gun crews along.  After doing that I was told to join the rest of the convoy.  On returning in the afternoon the road was under shellfire, but did no damage.  Only small stuff.  One burst outside the cane factory just beyond the Chinese English school in Bukit Timah Rd.  We found the old occupants, the Aust 9th/94 MT, our old friends from Ipoh, still in the process of evacuating it preparatory to leaving by sea, for I think, Burma.  They were one of the few Aussie units with a really good reputation.  They actually penetrated quite a few miles into Siam in the early days of the war.  We eventually got into camp in pitch darkness.  I spent the night alone in a leaking tent, as I couldn’t find the proper accommodation.   
Saturday 7th Feb

No time to settle into our new camp, as we are required to shift more ammo.  This time from an AA position on the Pongol Rd, which is a turning to the left off Serangoon Rd.  The position was too near the coast so was being abandoned.  Whilst waiting for a load I was talking to a regular RA sergeant who was very keen to collect his belongings from another camp further down the road.  I obtained the officer i/c’s permission, and drove him up in the Marmon.  The position had been heavily shelled, some of the guns being knocked out.  Luckily the men were in the slit trenches so there were no serious casualties.  I examined the attap and plant barrack block in which a shell had burst.  Only a small hole in the plank wall, but the contents looked as if a giant had slashed equipment, blankets etc, with a giant razor.  I’ve never seen anything like it.  As there was a chance of the firing starting again we left quickly.  Rather difficult turning the large truck, whilst doing it I unfortunately knocked over a filled nightsoil bucket.  The stink followed us down the road as the wheel had gone over it.  When we got back we found all the ammo loaded and Capt West told me I could call it a day.  I went back to camp to find all my belongings had been rifled, my sponge bag with razor, etc gone not even soap left.  I was furious but could do nothing about it.  The drivers thought the Aussies were to blame as some had been hanging about, though Jack B… suspected one of the Tamil drivers.  Luckily arrangement had already been made for us to shift to a large tent.  I shared it with Jimmy Paterson, Talbot, Ian Jeffries and Lock Marshall, a Yorkshire man, came to say goodbye as he had a job in the special unit.  Lock let him have his Tommy gun (we’ve heard nothing of him since).  That evening Paterson got me a lift into Singapore.  I left him at Holland Rd then went on to Cluny House, where I was lucky enough to find the Bater, Di and Sheila in, all fit and cheerful.  I had a bath and shave and then had to hurry back.  A quiet night with no bombs near.

Sunday 8th Feb

Japs made for it, landing near Tengah.  We were told that the previous troops they (refers to the Argyles) were so satisfied with the way we took up the Indian troops that they wish us to standby by for troop carrying only.  We spent the day clearing up the orchard we were parked in so that the trucks could get it and out without shaving themselves too much.  Dug slit trenches, then changed shirt to go off again with Paterson and Talbot and wives, the last time I saw the girls before they left Singapore.

Monday 9th Feb

A restless night we had to take to the slit trenches as Jap shells were passing overhead.  Many of them did not explode, duds were found below our tents.  One shell had exploded within a few yards of the Malays, who were scared stiff.  We were roused at 4am to take the Argyles to help them stem a Jap landing.  We waited for them in Holland Rd.  They eventually turned up at 9 or 10.  We were instructed to keep 100 yards convey distance between trucks and not to halt unless advised to by an officer.  In convoy we could not do more than 30 mph.  We had no incidents but could hear gunfire over the roar of the engine.  Wonderful cloud effects from the oil fires, black at the base but a glorious white above; Jap fighters flying near the apex.  We dropped the troops half a mile down from Bukit Panjang and …..  and started for home.  In Bukit Timah Rd there was one very large shell hole to get round.  Colman and one of the DR’s was forced off the road by an Indian ambulance.  I stopped just beyond and got out to help him.  As we were hauling at his bike, three dive-bombers passed within a few feet of the tops of the trees.  We could see the bombs on their wings.  We were scared stiff, but luckily they had a more important target because we had bombs exploding further…..  I saw many ambulances full of badly wounded going to Singapore.  One of our drivers picked up some wounded, unfortunately one died before he could be got to hospital.  I gave a lift to some troops and a very old Chinese.  I would have taken more but I thought I’d better hurry back in case there was more work to do.  We spent the afternoon sleeping in the slit trenches.  An awful lot of activity over and round us.  Plenty of Jap planes but not any of ours to be seen.  Aussies in filthy condition were streaming through the camp, covered with mangrove mud.  None of them seemed to have fired a shot; they heard the Japs near them in the dark and panic seems to have set in.  They’d thrown their arms and equipment away and run.  They’d been subjected to a very heavy bombardment before the landing.  Also they seemed to have adopted the slogan “ No planes, no fight.”

Tuesday, 10th Feb

As the enemy had advanced and the camp was likely to be under fire, they decided to shift us In the afternoon we took the tents down and packed everything.  As soon as lorries came up to collect everything, the Japs started machine gunning us.  So we kept on pooping in and out of the trenches.  I was covered by dust knocked up by the bullets but except for that none really came near.  When we were instructed to move off, Talbot found his starter had packed up, so I was detailed to haul his truck out.  A nightmare run as far as …… Golf Club, where it was peaceful.  We were eventually piloted to Bushey Park, a group of houses just above the St James Park Station.  We were billeted in Rodger’s house.  They’d eventually got out in a hurry, her clothes were still in the wardrobe and odds and ends were lying everywhere.  Rather a heart-breaking sight.  I was very grateful that you’d been spared that ordeal.  As they feared sabotage we had to sleep under our trucks with a loaded rifle beside us.  Thanks to the lilo I had a comfortable time, though was a bit scared at first when the guns from Blakan Mati fired over our heads.  Sounded like an express train; they were supposed to be shelling the causeway.  I thought it was a Jap at first, later it was reassuring.  All Europeans issued with rifles and 50 rounds.

Wednesday 11th Feb

No job during the morning and afternoon but practically continuous raids.  Some of them so low that the Bofors guns outside our house were firing at them.  Pandemonium reigned, but I never saw one hit.  Shells from the Jap batteries were also passing over us and bursting below us.  They also had a liking for the ….  in the docks, I saw a few hit and ….  There was a large Blue funnel, like the Dioment, on fire in the Empire Dock, she’s been holed a few days earlier, Gibson told me, by bombing.  They called for volunteers to help with the pumps and managed to get her into the dock where she was resting on the bottom and they were about to discharge munitions etc from her before she was set on fire.  After one of the raids I was sitting reading near the shelter when a large splinter whizzed within a couple of feet of me.  It made me jump and was about my only near escape.

Thursday 12th Feb

We had to fall in at 7pm and drive off to a biscuit factory in Alexandria Rd, we waited for a while during which British troops who were in the factory came out and gave us tins of biscuits ad sweets.  We eventually collected two lorry loads of Indian troops and took them down Serangoon Rd, where we turned off towards Paya Lebar, and were kept waiting for hours.  A lot of grumbling, especially as 20 odd lorries being taken about 10 miles out of their way when only 2 or 3 were required to collect the working party.  Eventually we were allocated five lorries at a time into an ammunition dump.  We took our load of to Alexandria magazine and had great difficulty in getting the trucks unloaded.  Eventually MacDonald Bennet said he’d phone up HQ if something wasn’t done.  At this, weary troops were roused up and they were quickly unloaded.  We got out at dawn, a blaze from Normanton? fuel tanks.  As a matter of fact driving that night was not difficult as fires at Bukon, Changi, and the Naval Base and Normanton were lighting up the whole sky, sometimes it was light enough to read a paper by them.  We got back to Bushey Park, we heard that Sugden’s wife had been killed whilst nursing at Changi Hospital.  Very tragic, she was quite young.  They’d known each other all their lives.

Thursday 12th Feb

Spent the morning and afternoon getting in and out of shelters.  No opportunity of making up lost sleep.  Continuous artillery fire and bombing.  Luckily for us nothing fell or landed on the Bushey Park ridge.  I tried to read “Amazing Summer” by Phillip Gibbs, rather too appropriately.  Early in the afternoon we were called out to take Indian troops up the line.  We traveled to Tampenis Rd near the usual route to Changi instead of using the Serangoon Rd.  From the instructions we guessed it was the camp from where we collected the labor for working at the labor base, but a guide who was to take us knew better.  We actually had the convoy of about 20 vehicles turned around four times in that narrow road before they took us to the camp we had originally suggested.  The language of the European drivers was unprintable! We were kept lying about until nearly dark and were then told we’d got to wait until the following morning as the Colonel had changed his mind! We could have rung his neck.  We’d no blankets or food.  Luckily I had a little whisky and biscuits, so we had some of those.  Having discovered a rolled-up tent, we laid it on the ground as cover in case of rain.  The mosquitoes were hellish.  I found Palmolive soap smeared on exposed parts kept them away a bit.  To add to our discomfort there was an artillery duel going on over us.  We were told to stand by at 5am, preparatory to moving at dawn.  After endless confusion the Dogras embussed and we got away just after 7.  We drove as far as the open part of Braddel Rd, where we halted, immediately after we did so a Jap recce plane appeared, and before I had time to look round the lorry was empty.  I followed as quickly as I could.  I was wearing partly soled shoes and climbed the bank, only getting covered with mud for my trouble.  I eventually got up the bank and crawled into the belukar.  As nothing happened I got back to the road and rejoined Jimmy Green.  We sat in the shade of a kongsi for over an hour.  Supposed the Japs had so much else to do that they could not find time to deal with our convoy.  We did not deserve the luck as the convey was a glaring target.  Eventually Capt Paterson put the position rather forcibly to the OC of the Indians and some of the trucks, including mine, were moved off the road under cover of trees.  Derek joined us and we pooled resources.  I had a tin of bully beef, Erik a tin of potato salad and somebody else a tin of herrings in tomato sauce.  Ian made cocoa, not a bad meal.  It was interrupted at least a couple of times by the Japs, machine-gunning us and the road.  Luckily the Chinese kongsi had a good funk hole and we were quite safe there.  The only casualty was an Indian soldier killed in the road.  Just as we finished our meal, instructions arrived for the tarpaulins to be taken off the trucks, so that the troops could fire back in the event of an air attack.  They came back soon after, we loaded up and started off with Stevens Rd as our objective.  Our instructions were to keep 200 yards convoy distance when a Jap plane dived on us, the officer beside me said they were machine-gunning but I heard nothing.  Just then the truck in front halted, and as I was not allowed to overtake, I had to halt too.  No sooner had I slowed down than every soldier was out and under cover, much to the officer’s disgust.  As soon as he had rounded them up we proceeded on our way.  We slowed up later but thanks to fluent cursing they stayed on board.  They left me in Stevens Rd, near Orange Grove Rd.  A lot of stuff was left on the truck.  I left it at the side of the road and drove back to camp for late tiffin, which we were told to have in the Sergeant.’s mess.  One actually objected to our having food there! Raids still continuing, but I had a fairly peaceful night under a lorry with Ian and Lock.  
Friday 13th Feb

No work.  Only standing by all day.  Continuous bombing and shelling of docks and town.  Our ridge all clear except for odd shell splinters.  Sanders went off with Bailwood and… They carted medical supplies from Tanglin Hospital to the Cathay Cinema, there they saw many casualties from the bombing, some rather ghastly.  They had to unload the trucks themselves, although there were plenty of Aussies about, they just refused to lend a hand.  Most of them seemed drunk and just bloody-minded.  During the morning some of them came to our mess looking down and out, so our chaps gave them a beer.  In the afternoon they returned with their pals and demanded drinks.  When they were told there was only a limited supply they took what there was by force, actually threatening Anderson, the QM, with a rifle and bayonet.  This was typical of their general behavior, in some cases they actually threw Mill’s bombs.  Dickenson of the Police actually died from wounds received in this way and a department of Robinsons was wrecked by one.  After tiffin we received our pay.  I received 20$ to account.  I received 1.44c per day + 86 cents and 20 cents Colonial allowance and 30 cents for being a driver plus 5 cents dhobi allowance- a princely salary.  I then obtained permission to use the phone but could not get in touch with any of the family.  Only hoped they were all right as the raids were very heavy.  Luckily I was able to leave the billet for a short time with Best and Green.  They left their car at the bottom of the hill, so it was easy to get at.  On the way down we found a Tommy gun by the side of the path, so we pinched it.  In the garage we came across some drunken Aussies and were soon joined by another one who was looking for a Tommy gun.  He evidently left it behind when he went to explore a nearby company.  We let him have it back and drove down to the harbor board officer, as Best was anxious to see if a pal of his was okay.  I went in to make inquiries and found two Europeans surrounded by clerks.  The latter ones evidently were being paid off.  On asking for Best’s pal I was told he’d been evacuated to an unknown destination along with most of the staff.  We then went on to town past a liquor godown where troops were destroying drinks under orders.  Then they stopped me at the office.  The place was in turmoil.  All optimistic.  Far more than I was.  I tried to send a wire to Bobby/you, but was told there was little or no chance of getting away.  Still unable to get news of the family, so decided to go on to raffles to meet Best and Green.  Luckily Brown, late Mertam Estate near Klang, was able to give to give me a lift.  When we got there we saw the MP’s busily clearing all Aussies out of the hotel.  I looked disreputable enough to be one myself, but was allowed in after explaining my business.  I ran into Mrs Rattery, cheerful but fed up that a hysterical woman who shared her room had not left by one of the evacuee ships.  Eventually joined Best and Green, who, by the way are Aussies, having tea in the Manager’s room with a senior officer.  The latter told them that Wavell had visited the Island but had told the powers that be that they had got into this mess and could find a way out themselves.  We got back to our mess in time to hear the evening news from London.  Nothing of interest, except that the gallant defenders of Singapore were still holding out.  Nothing encouraging, another night under the lorry disturbed by raids.

Saturday 14th Feb

When I got along to the mess in the morning they had the radio tuned in to Delhi, the program mainly composed of messages to Indian troops; though there were some to Europeans, I couldn’t help wondering whether my name would turn up.  Immediately after breakfast we were put to work digging trenches.  They were not absolutely necessary as there were plenty of shelters attached to the houses, but they wanted to keep us occupied.  We seemed to spend our time digging a bit then falling flat, owing to raids and shelling.  The ridge still seemed to bear a charmed life, although the workshop section, which was stationed at the bottom of the hill, received a direct hit wrecking some of the repair vans.  Luckily all the men were safe in a slit trench.  Charnel Singh, one of the Indian drivers, very kindly gave me a couple of bottles of Guinness.  He’d pinched them off a looter.  He and some of the Malays were stopping all looters and levying a toll, mostly immoral, but partly justice.  A little later the officer i/c asked for a couple of lorries to shift the two Bofors and their crews.  I was lucky enough to be chosen as one of the drivers.  I drove my lorry up to the No1 house overlooking the Power Station Pulau Brani.  There was a wrecked Hurricane on the back of the latter, yet another depressing sight.  A heavy raid quite near, but luckily the dive-bombers were not particularly interested in us.  We loaded up with ammo and baggage, coupled the gun behind.  I was instructed to drive to Raffles Square to wait until the officer turned up.  I received Captain Paton’s permission not to hurry back, so that I could find out how the family was.  I was advised only to stop if there was a raid on or if the road was being shelled.  It was safer to keep moving unless the shells were definitely bursting either near or on the road in front.  We started off going as fast as possible, which was about 35mph owing to the weight.  We heard a couple of shells burst and there was a chorus of yells, to stop from the gun crew, but we kept on going straight on.  The Indian Sergeant.  next to me did his best to quieten them.  Luckily the trip was short and we soon made Raffles Square.  I parked the truck, complete with gun, by the clock tower, arranged with the Sergeant.  to post a sentry and then went exploring.  Some Aussies were prowling about, trying to start any car they came across, so the sentry was most probably a wise precaution.  Outside the temporary HQ of the upcountry Chartered Bank branches I met McKay, who used to be in Klang.  He, together with other fairly junior members of the staff were trying to straighten out the accounts.  Most of the seniors seemed to have left already.  On crossing the square to go to Robinson’s I bumped into Perry and Hughes leaving Littles with armfuls of provisions, so joined in to help.  An MP was on duty and was only allowing special people in as the Aussies had made such a nuisance of themselves.  The corridors of the building were full of them, with the addition of a few Indians.  I met Cherry who was as cheerful as ever, still hoping for a last minute turning of the tide.  He told me that he thought Pop was at the Club, but if he wasn’t he’d give me tiffin himself.  I went back to Raffles Sq.; the Indian Sergeant.  said there was no sign of the officer so I decided to go and look for Pop.  I was lucky to find him having food with Bingham and Knight.  After a wash; I seemed to be covered in dirt from the slit trench – I joined them.  I collected the food, as there were no boys about.  Also no drink as the government had given instructions for all stocks to be destroyed.  Bingham and Knight had been with the Chinese Guerrillas who’d been disbanded, so they, like Pop, had nothing to do.  The girls had left about the 10th under an escort of MP’s with Tommy guns to prevent Aussies getting away by the same ship.  Pop had been offered a passage and a permit to leave the day before.  He’d been offered it not because of his age but because he was a member of Legco.  Evidently it had been arranged it without consulting anybody.  In view of that Pop had decided not to go (I think it was the correct decision to make as many older men were still in Singapore.) Hampshire and Braddel both died in Changi Gaol.  Bissiker was killed when the vessel he was in was bombed.  Dawson, one of the Gutheries, being killed too.  There was a notice on a blackboard “ No further evacuation from Singapore, including women and children”.  It looked like the beginning of the end to me.  After tiffin I went back with Pop to Raffles Sq.  to find that the truck, gun and crew had all disappeared! After making inquiries I traced it to the middle of the Cricket Club Padang; the officer had turned up, found I was missing, so decided not to wait.  In the meantime he had gone, so I had to wait.  The crew were busy digging an emplacement for the Bofors.  An Australian doctor came over to point out that no guns could be placed within 100 yards of the Cathedral, as it was a dressing station containing 800 wounded.  The Cricket club, Adelphi and Municipal Buildings all seemed to contain wounded.  I told him that I was not in charge and could not therefore order the gun to be shifted, but would pass on his instructions.  Lock turned up with another lorry full of baggage etc, so we decided to leave it and return to Bushey Park in mine.  To placate the Aussies we left my camouflage net and tarpaulin to hide the gun.  On our way out we ran into the officer who told us to hurry back as the billets were being evacuated, as the ridge was a bit too warm.  If possible would we bring away some of his belongings as he had not had time to collect them.  We promised to do what we could.  When I mentioned the Aussie MO’s instructions regarding the guns, he said he didn’t think there was much he could do as the padang was now the centre of the perimeter.  We got back to find a real flap on.  All the vehicles were loaded and ready to move off.  Best had packed all he could identify as mine and placed it in the baggage lorry.  I wandered into the house to find it in a terrible mess, abandoned kit everywhere.  I was lucky to find some of my stuff so recovered it.  Green and I then went to the AA Guns Officers Quarters; we discovered a complete camp kit, a first aid kit and plenty of clothes.  They seemed to have left extremely hurriedly.  We loaded what we could into my lorry, then prepared to leave.  As we were kept waiting we got permission to load on what foodstuff we could find, but we had to leave a lot as the order to move was given.  Why the whole lot was not taken God only knows, as there were at least 20 empty lorries.  But then Chamier had proved himself a hopeless CO, not even accepting the risks that the drivers took daily when doing jobs at the docks.  They were always being bombed, I was glad I was always on other jobs.  But it is the job of a CO in an outfit like this to face the same risks as his men.  We drove down to Duxton Plain, just off Cantonment Rd past Caldbeck MacGregor’s, which was blazing, full of molten glass.  All the lorries of our section except mine, Green’s and Lock’s were parked in rows on the playing field and put out of commission by the workshops; they punctured the radiators and petrol tanks with picks and smashed the distributors.  A further confirmation that the end was near.  That morning I’d run into Pat Madge, who was an officer at FMSVFHQ, who told me he’d seen a car with a white flag going up Bukit Timah Rd.  When we’d finished with the lorries we all had a drink with Capt Paton, something to cheer us up was essential.  During this a few shells burst on houses about 100 yards not far from Outram Rd Police Station, so our new resting place looked like being even warmer than the Bukit Timah Rd camp.  Soon after we went back to collect Lock’s lorry with Green and lock being in the party.  We arranged that they were to drop me at Fullerton Building, and I was to rejoin them at the cenotaph.  In the meantime they were to go on to my lorry to collect Lock’s.  I wanted to see the Pater to give him a bottle of whisky I’d saved for him, as the Club was dry.  Luckily I found him quickly, so he suggested he walked on with me to meet the others.  Plenty of Aussies wandering aimlessly about, we collected quite a few dirty looks from them, mainly I think because the Pater was in his usual blue shorts and sports shirt.  While we were walking the shells continued to drop near High St and beyond towards the docks, while the dive-bombing was still going on in the Geylang direction, but nothing came near where we were.  As it was dusk, and there was a curfew, it was time for Pop to go back to the Club.  I was a bit worried at his going alone, but luckily Shelton-Palmer and a friend of his turned up on their way to Union building.  So I introduced Pop to them and they went off together.  Green, Best, and Lock turned up soon after, the AA Officer had damaged the lorry so a little time was spent straightening the front bumper.  In the meantime I chatted to a lot of RASC chaps.  They all expressed disgust at the behaviour of the Aussies.  I must admit that the RASC had behaved very well on the whole and were a marked contrast to the Aussies.  We went back to Cantonment Rd and had a look at the bungalow, which had been allocated to European OR’s.  The last occupants had evidently left in a hurry, there was an uneaten meal on the table, and plenty of food in the fridge, whilst a woman’s bedroom looked as though she had just walked out.  Frocks in the almeirah and a well-furnished table.  Twin beds already made.  In fact it was a very depressing sight.  I felt very glad that you’d missed all that.  We had food in the kitchen quarters of a house we had occupied, but as the house was so crowded, Lock and I decided to sleep under our lorries.  We’d just settled in nicely, lilo blown up and all when there was a hell of a row, all sections being told to fall in.  We arrived to find that a deputation, headed by Gow, the CSM, had been to the CO and said that they wished to go further into Singapore, owing to the danger of being cut-off by the Japs.  After inquiries we found that the flap had originated as usual, with the Hawes brothers, ably backed by the Aussies, etc in the workshop.  Anyway after a lot of talk, it was decided to give the Asiatic members a chance of being discharged.  They all accepted the offer, so they were given a short time to get their barang together.  Best, Lock and I were the drivers, Green accompanying Best.  We loaded them up and were instructed to drop them at the Maxwell Rd Police Station.  When we got there they beseeched us to take them to the North Bridge Mosque, as they were afraid that they might be shot if found wandering around in mufti.  Best and I agreed, so took them on, a bit difficult in the blackout, although there was a little light from the many fires.  We were stopped by the post just beyond the Cinema, the i/c said he considered it was dangerous for us to go on, but we could do so at our own risk, which was typical of the general flap on.  We duly dropped them at the mosque to find it closed, there being no answer to all their clamor.  As Capt Paton had told us we could find shelter and return in the morning, we decided to stop at Cable and Wireless House.  Only Best and Green were with me, we’d missed Lock somewhere.  We made ourselves comfortable behind their blast wall with the aid of the officer’s kit, then went into the shelter where we had a drink and something to eat from our stock.  We saw one MP, otherwise the place was dead as far as movement was concerned, though there was plenty of gunfire overhead.  It sounded like a ship flying over the town.  All small stuff, the big guns were silent.

Sat 14th Feb

I was stopped outside Maxwell Rd Police Station by Capt Zaid Ali and another Malay officer.  They, together with about 30 men, had evidently been left there by Lock, who’d not known that we’d gone on.  They’d tried to stop Best and Green on their journey back, but missed them.  I agreed to take them on to where the others had been dropped the night before.  There was trouble with the picket at the corner of Bras Basah Rd, but the officer eventually let me through.  All down South Bridge Rd were women and children streaming down.  I dropped the Malays at the mosque, and I was immediately surrounded by the latter, asking for help.  An English speaking warder explained that they took refuge in the New World, but many were killed by shelling, and the survivors were very keen to get to Clifford Pier.  I told him I’d take him to look after them, but could only take women and children.  I had to use my rifle to keep a lot of men off.  In addition an old man carrying a baby was allowed on.  It was lucky I’d taken this precaution as the commander of the picket told me that one or two Nips disguised as Chinese had already tried to get there.  I dropped the lot at Clifford Pier and had a few words with Norrie Fyfe outside Union Building.  By the time I got to Connaught Rd the Coy was ready for another shift, this time to go to the Maxwell Rd Customs House.  On getting there, there was an air raid, so I hopped into the Police Station, but was immediately turned out by a scared European, who said that they were disarmed and no armed men were allowed inside.  As we could hear the rattle of the plane’s machine guns, a regular and I left our rifles hidden among some sandbags and came back in.  At the door I met Despard, who said that all the police seemed scared stiff, mainly doing nothing and staying in their shelters.  We found that some were waiting for jobs.  Ames had got away safely a few days before.  As soon as the raid was over, i.e.  the aircraft had disappeared because they’d given up using the siren, I went along to the Customs House to find we were on the third floor, an office floor, but there was plenty of room for us to make our beds between the clerk’s desks.  There were at least half a dozen Customs wives, but I only recognized Mrs Ph…..  I met the following: Jenkins, Pitt and Valpy.  Once we’d settled in we obtained permission to return to Bushey Park and see what we could save.  It was decided to take my lorry with two extra in it, three others to go on motor bikes.  Then if we were cut off where we could not turn to the lorries, we could escape on the back of the bikes.  We had no trouble on the way, although there was a little shelling and planes diving on other targets.  We got to the bungalows to find them deserted and untouched since we left.  We started loading with foodstuffs when the usual large formation came over, also a solitary plane, which came too near us for comfort.  We took cover and heard the bombs whistling down.  When we came out of cover, the town was shrouded in smoke with two large columns where the Customs House was.  In view of the raid we thought we’d better return, but first rescued a lot of clothing, etc, also Collins car, which I drove with Summers as passenger.  Once we got into town, we could hardly see for smoke.  In addition many of the trolley lines were either down or dangling.  In South Bridge Rd we were forced to take cover again.  We went behind the funk wall of a Chinese shop.  The occupants were most concerned when I peered round to see if the coast was clear.  We eventually got back to the Customs House to find that two heavy bombs had just missed it, landing on either side.  One landed in a junkyard and lifted a heavy ships anchor cable over the trolley wires.  The explosions had covered the Customs House with dust and dirt and a few splinters but had done no damage except to our stew, which was ruined.  A jaga outside was killed and Capt.  Harding was injured in the foot.  We tiffined off tined food and then hung about until after 3pm when Capt.  Paton asked for two or three volunteers to destroy our Lewis guns.  We took them down past some blazing rubber godowns to the east of the Yacht club.  There we took them to pieces, bashed all the parts with pickaxes and threw them into the sea.  As we were doing this a lorry with regulars came by and a corporal yelled out that we had capitulated at 4pm, which seemed unbelievable.
18 February 1942   CHANGI

From FMSVF in hospital, two-thirds with symptoms of beri-beri.  Van Langenburg and Godwin from the old 45 MT went in yesterday.   General Percival was arrested for refusing to send men to repair AA guns etc.  Heath was also for refusing to give details about India.  27 Japanese bombers arrived from Java, where the Americans were supposed to be consolidating.  They have bombed Sumatra from Java.  Blackout in Singapore from now onwards.  Improved our meals today.  Usual rice porridge with a dessert spoon of sugar, but at tiffin we had a small tin of tomato soup amongst six of us, whilst Bines provided some soya bean sauce.  The soup was brought in the canteen, 50 cents per tin.  We each contributed at tin to the mess except Sugden, who bought a tin of pineapple, which we had last night.  This evening we had potatoes, the first for ages, two each, also some sweet potatoes and plenty of leaves, all boiled without salt, but tasting good to us.  March? 42 Changi

Archie Arbuthnot is there too.  I was unable to see him but understand he is very cheerful, but all his old wounds have broken out again.  After dinner, went up to the armoured cars with Bill Hannay; we had a very interesting talk on law, lawyers etc, by Dr William Payne.  Oglivie CSM of the old 45 MT, is very anxious that the old Coy be reinstated.  I hope he succeeds, they were a very cheerful crowd.  This would help to dilute the Hoares brothers, who are terrible moaners and rather difficult to keep clear of in our present agricultural job.  We eat, sleep and work in close proximity.  Tommy Thomson, Sugden, Eric, Alan Hoares, and Bines.  The first and last named are the only ones who remain anywhere near normal.

13th April, 1942

Meat ration cancelled but ration party collected it! Mac came over.  Dillon Singh of Indian C.  Guard very friendly, Indian inclined to salute first.  Heath says two years.  Columbo bombed.  Two carriers and Hermes sunk.  Germany still going strong, heavy raids over England.  India rejects S.  Cripp’s proposal on dominion status, as offered by British Cabinet… Broadcast that this does not mean they will turn to Axis as they still intend to support British war effort.  News is just broadcast…..  saw Jap fleet going N.E.  42 vessels , including four capitol ships and aircraft carriers.  Generally accepted version of news- East Germany capitulated 27/3, Jap towns and ports bombarded and shelled.  150,000 men lost from attack on Ceylon.  Churchill resigned as job was done.  Eden promises.  Black market m&v $7, salmon $6, 20 oz Craven A tobacco 2$, rice porridge, milk, one roll.

14th April, 1942

1. Rice porridge with milk.  2 cups Rice and 2 spoons milk.   3.  Meat and rice.   New via

Bines.  German attack on Hull…………..  announces Germany surrended…..  now deal with East??? Position in the Philippines …..  heavy jap reinforcements.  Manila expected to fall again.  2lb marge $10, jam $7, fish $$7, m&v $5.  New Jap civil government   more helpful.  Australian Red Cross Representative in Singapore anticipated.  Field postcards allowed to be sent out and parcels allowed to be received.  Blackout injured had to be killed!

15th April, 1942

Shared tin of salmon with Bines, Sugden and Tommy at $1.50 each.  Three Jap subs came in.  Took beard off.  Bloomfield kindly gave me new blade.  Used Eric Hoares old brush, and Bines’s soap.  Felt really clean at last.  Five cigarettes issued, gave two to Metcalfe for bootlaces, … to Tommy as part payment towards share of tinned stuff.  T’s ticket 7471, mine 7599.  Party of SSVF returned from Singapore, rumored Russians little beyond Smolenkx, but confirmed Colombo action.  In the evening Storch obtained detailed news from the Gordon orderly room purporting to prove the Germans capitulated on 27/2.

16th April, 1942

General opinion is German government   have packed up with army carrying on, with Russia at war with Japan.  Work party required to go into Singapore.  I’m not on it thank goodness, it would be a change but I’d rather not do anything to help the Japs, None of our kongsi have been picked.  Two Jap subs came in.  Nazis packed up 27/3… Government   took soon …..  and gave up on 13/4, still pockets of resistance.  War declared on Vichy and fleet demanded and handed over.  De Gaulle landed fighting against forces led by Laval.  US has two thirds of Java, Sumatra.  Near Medan.    of Russia declared on 20/3, bombed Japan, as did US.  Two American cities bombed.  Serious communal trouble in India.  
17th April, 1942

Jap sub in.  Further confirmation of Germany packed up.

18th April, 1942

Slept badly, woke up feeling rotten.  Diarrhea started.  Went to MI room.  Hope caught in time.  Three hours of solid heavy rain.  Doctor gave me two tablets, two tablespoons of condensed milk, which helped a lot as I cannot stomach the rice.  Our staple diet is tea and rice now as flavouring material is getting less and less.  Diarrhea is a bit bad.  Ten cigarettes were issued; gave to Tommy for cash.

19th April, 1942

Diarrhea still on.  Was given teaspoon of Bovril and three empty tins, managed to get a lot more out of them by use of hot water.  Dr Turner tells us he is a contemporary of Bill.  A lot of O.V/K?S prisoners of war.  German capitulation refuted.  Vichy against us, 1 million men.  Phillipines bombed from Australia.  Women and children evacuated from Australia.  Macarthy came down, still thinks a long stay.  Saw A.K Allen, very fit.  Often feels like we will be out soon….  Finished issue of US papers instead of toilet paper.

20th April, 1942

…….  C and feeling a bit weak but diarrhea has practically stopped.  Met RASC chap who was told …… out by Jap officer.  Japs are stripping town of metal but are respecting private property.  Ships went out loaded with cars and lorries yesterday which rather queries this.

21st April, 1942

Japanese towns bombed.  Got a meal, rice porridge, teaspoon sugar, one small roll.

22nd “ Rice, little spoon mince and soggy pastry.

23rd” Ditto but a bit more...  Doubtful of news, think Gremans still fighting.  FVE  have started forecast of day of relief, range from 15th May to 15-7-44! My guess is 31-12-44 but consider may be much earlier.  Japs prohibit inquiries regarding health of prisoners in Changi Gaol.  Officers, QA’s in W block out of bounds?, presume Bingham does not want us to know how well he feeds.  No p…news but people doubtful of German capitulation.

23rd April, 1942

Food worse 1 rice, sugar, milk, tea 2 ditto but not sugar.  Did a little digging.  One coconut between six…..  each paying one cent, helps flavour the rice.3.  Rice and Bully beef pasty, one tablespoon papaya and tea.  Rumoured Germans still fighting.  Burma gone.  Phillipines, US are holding out.  Manilla lost but holding out in Corregidor.  Japan bombed by US.

23rd April, 1942

1. Large roll, porridge and sugar with milk.  2.  Rice and tablespoon of tasteless stew.  3.  Rice tablespoon milk and papaya.  Helped in veg garden but little energy.  No further money left.  Hope to raise more by selling cig rations.  Rumoured Germans nearly finished militarily and economically.  Russians still advancing.  Japan bombed from carriers.  Burma amnesty? Bogged down in Libya, finished except for pockets.  Now Jap ….  Now Jap…rumours and presume they…..educate us.  Saw Gestis? He was very fit but had no news of Paxton Harding and Capt Parsons.  Went out on patrol near the end and never returned.  Rumored Germany heavily bombed.  Ruhr in flames.

25th April

Owing to fear of beri-beri…… for breakfast with cold rice porridge.  Split a tin m&v.  The much talked of cartons were in fact in such small quantity that our names were put in a hat.  When our names came out we were permitted to view.  I was about 60th.  A few cakes of soap, some cards,….  a reel of cotton and polish.  I eventually shared a black boot polish with Sugden a pack of cards.  The earlier ones managed to get shaving soap and toothpaste.  Rumoured 50,000 injured  and 20,000 killed in US bombing of Japan.  Position in Burma good.  Wavell anticipates monsoon will help.  Darlan and Laval agreed to handing over of fleet to Germany.  US troops going to India.  Rumoured to have taken over Japanese Government  .  wonder we will get authentic news.  Very hungry at night, luckily kept half breakfast roll and some rice.  Food insufficient, many cases of swollen ankles, the first sign of beri-beri.  These are going to hospital, receiving mainly Vit B supplied by Japs.  We are to have an issue of yeast in liquid form which should help.  10 Capstan $1.25, jam $4, large bottle of curry powder, $4 worth about 10c

26th April

Yesterday’s rumours still persist some seem to believe them! Turkey joined Allies.  Russians 150 miles inside Macedonian border.  Benegal sea battle, 22/36 in our favour.  Keppel harbour and Naval Base bombed on Friday 26th.   90,000 US in Australia, 70,000 in India, plus 120 squadrons of planes.  Jap bases in New Guinea and Java bombed.  All sounds too optimistic.

27th April

Every indication in Singapore that they are stripping the place with a view for an early departure.  Rice porridge, roll, sugar, and margarine.  Kept the two latter to flavour the tiffin rice as the pasty, although tasty, is spoilt if broken up with the rice.  We’d do anything for a square meal.  I am now broke, so have to keep clear of the black market.  $2.30 for a tin of tomato soup, $5 for a large tin of marmalade.  Curry powder now $5, cigarettes $1.35 for 10, tobacco $4 per oz.  Wood-Wynch seems to have lost 2/3 stone; so far I have lost about 7/8 lbs but malaria starts so suddenly.  Best has it; goes into hospital today.

28th April

Spent most of morning and afternoon outside the wire near Fairy Point clearing drains, verges, etc.  to make it presentable for the eve of the Emperor’s birthday tomorrow.  In the evening I went along to the concert in Changi village with Bines.  A first class show with a female impersonator of professional standard.  A piano accordion solo by Frankie, who I believe was once with Geraldo.  Plenty of topical jokes, all RAF would get a warm welcome in Australia.  Larwood’s leg theory against the Aussies who refused to bat without air support.  We were doing the third round in Libya.  Never had so many been buggered about by so few.  Sutherland- Brown died on Saturday from dysentery.  I believe it was aggravated by the TAB injection just before.

29th April

Jap Emperors birthday.  No gardening.  Also no dhobi to be done.  If it is, it must be hung up to dry.  Rumours that they are mining the causeway, lets hope they are more successful than we were! New Argyll prisoners from up country report no tapping, Chinese in a bad way.  Country being looted.  Guns, etc being prepared for loading at wharves.  People now optimistic.

30th April

Rumoured Jap C-in C said goodbye to Percival.  Mentioned rice for one month…$12,000 being left for southern area i.e.  $1 per man for purchase of vegetables, etc.  Of course he may have been only transferred.  Three divisions and Americans and Aussies supposed to have landed in Java, one armoured division plus air support.  Wavell doing well in Burma.  European Association announcement regarding claims.  Very well worded enabling full claims for loss to be made.  I felt it was too optimistic, with luck we might recover 10% of our losses.  Everybody was very optimistic considering relief only a matter of weeks; I wish I could believe it.

31st April

Working party sent to Singapore .  Today’s rumours a bit pessimistic, England bombed in reprisal raids, six towns.  Supposed heavy landing in Sumatra.  I wonder who believes it.  It was 14 weeks yesterday since I left Calcutta and we finished 10 weeks in Changi last Tuesday.  Sam Taylor came over to see me yesterday afternoon, he’s keeping fit.  LV is in Singapore in a working party.  We had our first issue of the yeast ration.  I only hope it prevents berri- berri.  Meantime to hospital, swollen ankles.  
1st May

Pep talk by Dr Crawford on steps to be taken when working up country.  He considered 10c grams of quinine a day or 4 tablets of atabrin per week a safe prophylactic dose.  When the danger was considered over, the final treatment should be as for curing an attack of malaria.  The working party returned with only cigarettes, no chance of buying provisions.  Some were taken to clean out the Jap guardroom and shared the soldiers sukiyaki for their trouble.  They were well treated; they confirmed that the town is being stripped.  They were also employed loading oil drums at the station.  Food not too good though we have had small quantities of meat four times this week.  I had to collect one lot from the depot with Tommy and Hoares brothers- we used a wheelbarrow for the leg of beef and were lucky enough to pinch some of the suet which we ate raw.

2nd May

Another party off to Singapore, I understand that we in HQ Coy will not be allowed to go.  I must admit that I’m rather glad of that.  Picked sweet potato leaves to go in the stew.  Talbot and Alan Hoares collected Hibiscus and tapioca leaves for the same reason.  With some of the beef, it makes a tasty addition to the rice, about a quarter pint of the mince each.  Continuous rumble of thunder.  Optimists think it is the guns of an attacking force.  A Jap plane towing a drogue makes it unlikely.  My inside worked for the first time in three days about normal.  Richards performs about once a month; the doctors don’t seem to be able to do anything for him, he looks very ill.  One chap gone to hospital with bad diarrhoea, evidently his own fault; he had eaten a whole coconut which no doubt was responsible for bringing it on.

3rd May

 Sunday.  A real volunteer mess up today.  I was just starting to dhobi my towel when an order came for every available man to fall in.  Most of those who had intended on going to church were allowed to fall out.  Always buggered about since we came to Changi.  Thanks to that my towel was still wet, and my bath had to be put off for the evening.  During the march we had to pass and salute Sikh sentries, which was about the last straw.  Rumours either very optimistic or the reverse.  Some of the Aussies seem to think that the fighting had stopped while a conference was being held.  Others said Leningrad and Mandalay had fallen.  Tommy bet $50 that we would be out before September 30th.

4th May

More parties to Singapore, 100 to go semi-permanently, 50 daily.  I as a gardener have so far been exempt from the parties.  We heard five or six explosions about noon, sounded like gunfire, certainly not thunder, although the weather is bad.  Rumours are much as they were.  New Version mentions Russians regain Smolensk after meeting and turning back German offensive.  Allies fighting on Timor and New Guinea, Corregidor and South Phillipines.  Burma position not so good.  Murray fairly optimistic, long talk regarding what we hope to do at Port Swettenham if and when we get back there.  Bombing of Germany continuing, Hitler supposed to have asked for a respite.

5th May

Eleven weeks since we marched in here, feels like years.  Poor old Chapman died last night, from general weakness and undernourishment.  Position in Burma good.  Severe bombing of Germany.  Timor and New Guinea ours.  Allies landed in Java with little opposition.  300 went into Singapore.  Tommy was the only one from our crowd fit enough to march into Singapore, 100 required.  Tommy quite enjoyed himself, only able to purchase some cakes from a Bengali.  Japs gave him biscuits and pineapple to add to the biscuits and rice he took with him.  He was not overworked and was well treated.  They are making very strong efforts to be friendly.  No new rumours.  They don’t seem to be fortifying the place much, though Bofors  guns were seen manned by Indians.

6th May

Robinson the barber, who returned to his unit on Sunday, is up for desertion in the face of the enemy.  He should be able to get away with it, as his story is that he lost his own unit and therefore asked if he could be attached to the FMSF Signals.  He did not rejoin earlier, as he wanted to stay on as barber.  Recently one or two volunteers have returned, some of them have been recovering from wounds all this time.  100 men detailed to go to Balkan Mati permanently.  Mainly from C Coy, which included Nigel Caruthers.  Crispin and Clarkson, Bines and I went to see the show in Changi village again, enjoyed it very much.  The “leading lady” was in hospital, but the understudy was very amusing.  Percival was there, I wonder how he liked it, at least one skit had digs at him.  My breakfast roll came in quite useful.

7th May

Helped haul the baggage for the Balkan Mati party for as far as Changi village.  Everybody very cheerful.  Henry Mills was at W block when we collected the officer’s barang.  He asked me what I was doing and roared with laughter when I said I was just a ruddy porter.  The remark was not appreciated by the other officer’s present.  Dragging the trolley was very heavy work, and when it was finished we were expected to do a spell of digging.  I did a little, then packed up.  Not much energy on this diet.  After tiffin had to carry Johnny Giles to hospital.  He was not very bad but had first signs of malnutrition; a little feeding up will soon put that right.  According to the AIF we are in a bad way in Burma, retreating into China whilst the Yanks bombed Rangoon.  We have taken Madagascar from Vichy; positions in this part of the world remain static.   Canteen news says we are doing well in Java after a seven-point landing.  We are not inclined to put much credence in either rumour.

8th May

Today’s whopper is that the Yanks in the Philippines have packed up, 49,000 prisoners.  Russiansn are still holding the Germans, line extends from Riga, west of Smolesnk, to Karkov.  American fleet in Suez.  Two thirds of FMSVF to be prepared to go overseas.  JVE ditto.  Rumour says Indo China.  Brig reported to be protesting, evidently at Jap intentions, just some bonehead at HQ when Japs asked for 8,000 were possible.  HQ evidently does not appreciate the importance of keeping the commercial people in the country prepared for an early start.  ISP still talking about the immediate needs of the rubber industry, when we get this country back.  I will leave a letter behind giving what details I can so it will relieve you of a little worry.   

9th May

Plenty of rumours regarding our being shifted out of the country, first that we all will be going, then the Brig had had no luck with his request.  Rumours of 17 Jap ships sunk in Pacific.  Advised we are not now going overseas but 2oo permanently to Singapore.  Passed the preparatory medical exam as fit.  Managed to find some brinjals last night that we boiled and had with our evening rice.  Our first proper quantity of vegetables since we came to Changi as POW’s.  Japs supposed to have lost three aircraft carriers in the battle mentioned above.

10th May

Vichy France has declared war on us.  Campbell of the Light Battery has died of dysentery.  Definitely not going overseas in the meantime.  Intelligence Officer made a mistake.  Assam attacked through Burma.  Rumoured sea landing.  Solomon Islands Sea battle score now 22.  Prisoners for overseas supposed to be going to Timor to be exchanged for Japs held by Allies.  Only hope you will leave India if the threat of invasion grows.  Met a cap who was a patient in Alexandria hospital when the Japs invaded it in retaliation for Indian troops entering it and firing on the Japs as they advanced.  They seem to have gone mad under provocation.  Doctors and orderlies were bayoneted and also a lot of patients, including one on the operating table.  The chap who told me was an RAF Sergeant.  Pilot who had damaged his ankle.  He was a bit bitter as all wounded RAF officers were taken off by ship whilst the men were left.  Anyway the Japs then ordered all orderlies and walking wounded outside the hospital.  After tying their hands behind their backs they marched them off to a nearby European bungalow and locked about 200 of them in three rooms of the Boy’s Quarters, over 60 to a room 12 feet square.  A sentry was placed at the top of the steps with a machine gun.  One chap had a penknife and during the night they managed to cut a lot of the chap’s arms free, but even so eight of the wounded died as their wounds had reopened.  Early in the morning, the Japs started taking them out in twos and threes; afterward their bodies were found either bayoneted or machine-gunned.  The chap was rather afraid of this, when the sentry was distracted by a shell bursting near.  He made a dash for it with another chap; the Japs chased them and fired many rounds; one unfortunately hit him just below the armpit, only a deep graze, but he lost a lot of blood.  His pal got right away but he ran into a Jap patrol.  They bayoneted him in the side, and left him for dead.  After they’d been gone some time, he managed to crawl back to the hospital, was bandaged up again, given morphine, and put to bed.  More Japs came up and tried to get him out of the hospital, but when they saw his wounds left him alone.  Some orderlies and lightly wounded cases were tied up and left in a ditch under ground for the night.  He seems to be fully recovered from his horrible experience.  Norman Burgess has died.

11th May

During digging I had a row with Clemetson, the younger brother of the one you knew.  He has an unfortunate rude manner and everybody considered I was justified although he is a Sergeant.  It seems to have improved him much already.  Today’s rumours: a very large expeditionary force has been landed in north Russia without loss.  Corregidor lost but Yanks still holding out in other parts of the Philippines.  Landing in Java confirmed.  Japs at Akyab and on borders of Assam.  Battle of Solomon Islands 16-6

12th May

Rumours of yesterday still continue but ten percent of troops to Russia lost.  Seven ships.  Naval battles still continue, Cunningham and Mountbatten in command.  Churchill made a speech advising Germany to pack up before the serious bombing begins.  Anticipate Germans will use gas soon.  I saw a Syonan Times dated 5-5 in which the Japs accuse us of using gas in Burma.  150 troops to Singapore on permanent posting… not fussy nowadays, in fact we are rather easily pleased.  I should add that we have had rice with tiffin and dinner; also chillies, as we were issued with eight each at tiffin.  We get rice at least twice a day, always plenty of that, but little to go with it.  The issue at tiffin was a dish of beans.  
13th May

Rumours that a large party is to go into Singapore, eventually it was officially confirmed, every fit private, and most of the NCO’s are to march in at 7am tomorrow.  Bines was the only one of our crowd not to go.  Bedding etc.  was to be stacked in Changi by the evening.  On the way back from Changi I joined Murray and met Dr Burgess.  He considered the effect of the march equivalent to two days illness.  I arranged with him if I discovered I’d been shifted overseas, to let you know as soon as he was released, as I would probably remain a POW considerably longer.  If necessary I’ll get you to get in touch with Judy, whose address is c/o S/Ldr/ Wigg, RAF New Delhi.  Let’s hope neither of us has to leave Malaya as POW’s.

14th May

Started moving at 5am Jap time, i.e.  3am Malayan time, to Havelock Road Camp.  We eventually left Kitchener Barracks at about 8am.  I was carrying a water bottle and the old rucksack, the latter contained an old margarine tin full of rice, sufficient for the two Hoares and Sugden.  They in turn carried odd tinned stuff to add to it.  We were supplied with a tin of bully between six men and a handful of monkey nuts.  We were kept waiting in Changi village for a long time before we received the Jap’s permission to start.  When it eventually came the sun was well up.  But were halted again at the entrance to the perimeter wire just beyond Changi jail.  Our section was well short of the jail.  I’d hoped there’d be a chance of either seeing or passing a message to Pop.  Unfortunately when we were opposite the entrance, the Jap guards were falling in at 50-yard intervals on either side of our column, which consisted of between 3 and 4,000 men.   We could see Europeans waving from the windows of the jail-blocks, but I could recognise nobody.  Seeing waving through the bars was a grim sight.  I do hope that Pop is okay.  Bill Richie told me some time ago that a working party had seen him looking fit and cheery.  Worse luck the news of others was bad, Duggan Hampshire, old Braddon and English, and another name that I’ve forgotten have died.  The march was uneventful, being much easier than I anticipated; although we marched nearly 18 miles my feet were okay.  Five of the FMSVF party of 150 only fell out, most of them being late in the march except for Soward who was not fit when we started, and lasted as far as the jail.  Some of the guards could not take it; at least two fell out, and many of the regulars who seem less fit than the volunteers.  The guards luckily let us have many rests during which people could go into the shops.  Regulars as usual spoiled things by not paying on many occasions.  On the whole many of them have more cash, thanks to the black market.  The guards were not at all aggressive; in fact they were inclined to be friendly, making buddhas climb coconuts, to drop down nuts for us.  We had our last rest before the city, in a very devastated part about half a mile from the New World.  We then marched straight through to the bottom of River Valley Rd, turning left in Delta Rd, towards Alexandria.  We passed one camp where they had showers and electric light, and men in it yelled that the food was good, consequently our hopes rose.  But they were badly dashed when we were marched into the site reserved for us.  The huts were built for evacuees by us; they evidently thought them too bad, as they were never used.  They were150 feet long, by 20 feet broad, with sleeping platforms on either side in two tiers.  On the upper tier only was it possible to stand up.  We are so herded together that once our bed rolls are down, all other belongings must be hung up or placed under our pillows.  They managed to squeeze 201 in our particular hut, 150 FMSVF, and the rest RA regulars.  Amongst the officers, Frankie Walker is the only one I know.  Our immediate one is a Scotch coolie called Robertson; Cork being in command.  Before the war he was near Klang.  My immediate neighbours are on the same tier, Clemetson, Turner, Way, Murray, Sugden, Thomson, Drummond and S.J.Clarke.  Underneath: Verney, Ormiston, Jack King and Tilly.  Opposite: Soward, Derek Barr, Paterson brothers, Bill Paterson and Jimmy Egan.  To start with some Manchesters were in with us and nearly drove us crazy with the constant repetition of their county swear word, fuck.  Luckily accommodation was rearranged.  Water was laid on, but it only consisted of stray taps dotted about near the entrance, where we washed and bathed in full view of the populace.  One thing after this near naked Europeans will be no novelty.  The Japs speak little or no English but seem to be quick on the uptake.

16th May

We were formed up and marched out but some came back.  People with cash being permitted to buy bread from hawkers, etc.  We were given a squad drill in a mixture of English and Japanese.  Our squad consists of ninety men with two Lts, Robertson and CSM Thomson and three guards, who are friendly and helpful; especially a fat little man, who has evidently seen service in Sumatra.  I never thought that when I returned to Malaya, within four months I’d be learning squad- drill in Japanese!  Numbering, training, saluting, etc.

17th May

We marched out past the Singapore Steam Laundry, down Alexandria Rd to a building site, where we sat about most of the morning, except for a little scavenging.  The same procedure was repeated in the afternoon.  We only pretended to work when a Jap officer was seen in the distance.  Our Guards are all privates of various grades and not particularly energetic.

18th May

We were called in early and no sooner had we finished breakfast, that they fell us in with shovels and marched out to a string of light lorries driven by fellow prisoners, who told us we were bound for Changi to collect sand for the new building site.  I was with Ketchie Morris, Bloomfield, and Stevenson.  They purchased a lot of small rolls for sale in Changi.  We went by the route we’d marched … in fact it was a shade under 20 miles! We went to a sandpit in Changi village after loading the lorry, the others were able to dispose of their wares with about 500% profit; poetic justice as they sold to the black market chaps who had been stinging us! A very pleasant change from being confined in camp.  Parts of it were very depressing; for instance passing the jail and shops in Victoria Street where you and I had shopped.  All I could hope for was that we’d have the opportunity again soon.  I think we will.  Also passed the Cathay, a little damaged at the top, and I believe a bomb fell into the auditorium.  All the same I never expected to drive through Singapore on the back of a lorry wearing boots, socks, shorts, no shirt, and a dilapidated topi with a Jap next to the driver and another standing next to me, waving flags for the control of the convoy.  All Asians we met were very friendly, though scared stiff of the Japs.  On the March saw many Chinese and Indians, but a few Malays spoke to us when they thought the latter was not looking.  Rice is very expensive; about a dollar a gantung in some districts.  We are being used as cheap labour, and are fed mainly on rice, so later may collect more black looks.  The Japs are going to pay us twice a month at 15 cents per private per day.

19th and 20th May

Here repetition of the 18th except that I sold my cigarette issue of ten Londons for 30 cents to Charles Mann and started off in the black market.  The first thing was Chinese tobacco.  I was in kongsi with Charles, Bloomfield, Gilliand, and he driver Spencer, for $10 worth, Charles making up the residue for me.  The next profit was $1.10 on the first day and up to $6 yesterday.  Thanks to that I was able to buy some ducks eggs last night.  Delicious, and the first eggs since we were captured.  Tommy also gave me some pineapple, the first for Lord knows how many months.  The food is better than at Changi, but additions are welcome.  The first day we had pilchards then plain rice flavoured with… sugar or fish stew, about 16 to a tin.

21st May

Thursday, and the Japs weekly holiday.  Not much of one for us as we spent the morning digging drains to improve the camp; water is between 2 and 3 feet down.  Drummond unfortunately uncovered a decomposing corpse! Some poor unfortunate caught by a bomb I suppose.  Afternoon they left us alone and enabled me to get my dhobi up to date.  As Thursday looked like our only free day, I intend to keep my clothes down to a minimum, i.e.  one pair of shorts for working in, and another pair for sleeping, and wearing when not doing sweaty fatigues, etc.  Irwin was telling me of his trip to Australia on leave by the Gorgon in the second half of 1941.  Whilst at sea they received wireless instructions to pick up survivors from the raider who sank HMAS Sydney.  That evening they came across a large lifeboat with about 60 men in it.  A little while before the captain had sent for all the men passengers and asked them to volunteer as guards.  As it ws dark when the lifeboat came along side, and there were few arms on board, they decided to keep them in it for the night.  A senior German officer came on board, asked for provisions, water etc.  These were given to them, and their wounded taken on board and cared for.  Mrs Irwin, being a trained nurse, helped the ship’s doctor do that, Irwin being one of their guards.  The boats were being towed at the end of a long rope.  During the early hours of the morning they signalled that the boat was sinking.  The Captain signalled back that he would attach one of the ship’s boats to the tow rope so that they could exchange their boats, being drawn alongside for examination.  The Captain had no love for the Germans.  He’d been torpedoed in both this and the last war.  He could find nothing wrong with the boat, evidently an excuse to get them on board.  In the morning they were all taken on board, amongst them was an unfortunate Chinese steward off a Blue Funnel boat they had sunk.  He was very badly injured by burns, which had not been dressed, although he’d been on the boat for three days, and there were two German doctors with plenty of medical supplies.  Mrs Irwin expected him to die, but he rallied after treatment, and was able to walk off the ship a few days later.  As far as I could make out the newspaper reports that we read tallied very closely with Irwin’s version, which he heard from the German survivors.  On his way back he was luckily travelling without his wife and family because in the Banka Straits, the ship that he was in, either the Centaur or Gorgon, narrowly escaped a stick of bombs.  The Captain steered her himself and changed course suddenly, the bombs dropping just astern.  He arrived back from leave at the end of January, just after me.

22nd May

Did five hours as a policeman on the bridge connecting the camp; Havelock Rd with River Valley Rd camp.  I took turns with Todd and Thomson; Alan Hoarses being i/c guard.  Quite an interesting day with plenty of people to talk to.  Some to argue with too, as they were only allowed to cross if they held a pass, or were accompanied by a Jap.  Old Sutherland had to identify some of his men.  A Jap was there as well and was very friendly, trying to learn English.  Told me he hoped to be back in Japan by the end of the year, whilst I would be in London.  India would sound better to me as you are there.

23rd May

I was on a different job today; went with Jim and Duncan Paterson to a quarry near Mandai to collect granite blocks.  Ten minutes walk either end, and a pleasant ride to the town.  Crossed Orchard Rd, looked much as usual except for the small number of civilian cars.  The petrol kiosk at the corner leading to Tanglin Club is out of action, badly bombed.  Rumour has it that the latter club has been turned into a brothel.  Many ruined houses, but the villages such as Bukit Timah and Yew Tek working as usual.  Very few of the shops out of action.  The large Albion buses seem to be running to the causeway, if not beyond.  Some graves, mainly Japanese, kept neatly with a pole in the middle with Japanese characters on it.  There is a certain amount of doubt of their nationality, but the layout seems too uneven for them to be Chinese.  The Jap guard helped us load so the work was not particularly difficult.  That sort of job makes the day go quickly, which is the main thing.  Somebody produced a copy of Churchill’s latest speech, rather cheering.  Russians rumoured to be holding the German offensive.  But the news we heard in Changi was evidently too optimistic.  I hope we can be out of this jam by Christmas.

24th May, Sunday

An ordinary working day.  We did the Changi trip twice and saw all the Roman Catholics leaving church, including troops in uniform; presumably the Japs let them out specially.  Churches of other denominations seemed deserted.  Many of our troops and Aussies seem to be wandering about, shopping without guards.  A queer system, as the guards at the gate of this camp will often let us out in small numbers to shop, and they make certain the Chinese do not swindle us.  They’ve actually published the maximum prices we are to pay.  Evidently the higher prices we are willing to pay spoiled the market for their troops.  Kalang’s Drome seems to be in working order, though not so many planes on it today.  The wrecks of our 12-gun Hurricanes are a depressing sight; there is one in a garden, just as you approach the Drome near Geylang.  In addition to these there are many Buffaloes, but these in some way do not seem so important.  Rained like the deuce on the way to Changi this afternoon, but by sitting on the floor of the truck in my groundsheet, I managed to keep dry.  The driver only arrived by the Westpoint at the end of January.  An American ship as propaganda I suppose, as his crowd originally left Britain by the Orcades but transhipped at some port before Cape Town.  They waited a fortnight in Bombay, and then came on here; owing to air raids she sailed after landing the men only, retaining their vehicles on board.  The black market has quietened down, the Japs frowning on it a bit.  Though quite a few sold cigarettes and tobacco, I did not risk it.  Some of the regulars are on trips to Kota Tingii, bringing in wood, they return with plenty of eggs.  Prime duck eggs are retailing at 10 cents each and small ones at 5 cents each.  One enterprising gent goes around with a pail of tea complete with tinned milk and sugar at 5 cents a cup.  He alternates with coffee and cocoa, but raises the price to 10 cents when he does that.  He’s certainly enterprising.

25th May, Monday

On the trip to Mandai collecting granite.  A little rain, but as I don’t wear a shirt the groundsheet was adequate.  On our third and last trip we, Bloomfield, Green and I, were in the first lorry, which the guard directed to go to the village, to wait for the rest of the convoy.  Most successful.  We made a few purchases, and the towkay stood us a cup of tea and a cake, which was very good of him.  My purchases consisted of two prawn fritters, a nut cake, a bottle of soya bean sauce, and a pair of nail clippers, all for 48 cents.  The sauce is very useful for flavouring our rice and makes it much more palatable.  Our tea party was spoilt by a crowd of regulars arriving with the rest of the convoy.  They proceeded to take most of the edibles without paying for them.  The Jap guards did not interfere.  I suppose it is good propaganda for them if Europeans misbehave.  The guards were careful to pay themselves on this occasion, though quite often they just take what they want, and pass on what they don’t require to the Tommys.  The towkay told us that he found life very difficult; there was little to purchase, and therefore his business was nearly at a standstill.  Certainly his stocks seemed very low.  A regular has just come round selling pineapple fritters cooked in coconut oil batter, but it seems good to me.  Let’s hope there are no ill effects.  The sentry is s… by a… and is demonstrating his rifle and bayonet.

26th May, Thursday

Did two trips to Changi and made $2 gross profit in the black market.  Tommy has gone in for it in a big way, has an agent in Changi.  Crowds outside all the rice shops; would not be surprised if the Japs had rice riots soon.  I saw a lorry loaded with rice draw up at the side of the road with a Chinese woman complete with brush and tin collecting any grains that stuck to the outside of the sacks.  The police are working as usual; they wear no identity numerals, but Jap arm bands instead.  I saw no European officers; the only Europeans working were at the fire station.  Our lorry was sent to help pull another one out of the mud of Alexandria Rd.  We got stuck for our pains, consequently had a very hurried tiffin.  The place is a sea of mud thanks to heavy rain this morning.

27th May, Wednesday

Usual trips to Changi.  Saw Donald Allen looking very fit.  Only bartered in the afternoon as the guards proved very difficult in the morning.  Whole town decorated with Jap flags, understand it is in honour of a victory in the Russo- Jap war of 1905.  Have collected a bad cold but hope to shake it off.  Tommy got out and purchased Tiger beer; I feel a little ale would do me good, but intend to wait until we are released.  I’ve still got the brandy sample bottle filled with whisky.

28th May, Thursday

Our holiday! Announced on parade that there was an early service at 8am.  I don’t think I would have gone anyway, it was too late.  At Changi I went twice and enjoyed the services.  At breakfast it started to drizzle so there was no chance of either dhobiing or airing our clothes.  I took aspirin and quinine last night to sweat my cold out, so you can imagine what my blanket is like! The regulars are trying to make hay, one was selling hen’s eggs at 3 for 50 cents, whilst another is selling tomato soup, hot, at 10 cents per mug.  The rain continued until the evening so there was no opportunity for clearing up, etc.  Rumour has it that the Russians have lost Kersch, only holding Sevastopol in the Crimea.  They are still in Kharkov, but the Germans have bypassed it and the position is serious.  Attempted assassination of Heydrich in Prague.  Tokyo bombed twice by US, 200/250 bombers… promised biggest ever in a few months.  Alexander congratulated on evacuating troops from Burma.

29th May, Friday

Three trips to Mandai collecting granite, on looking round further, noticed many more buildings were scarred and Changi oil tanks were all burned out.  A ghastly sight.  Noticed unexploded shells outside Bukit Tanjong Post Office.  One looked like a 9.2, most probably armour piercing which did not explode on the soft ground.  Three chaps were talking to the British and Jap sentries on the bridge, when one of them saw a small pig.  Unfortunately they did not catch it.  There was a weird occurrence this afternoon; a European came up to a regular Sergeant and gave him a loaf of bread, but told him on no account to eat it until he got home.  When he got back to the camp he cut the loaf up and found a note baked inside.  The note stated that the Japs were leaving, and that their departure would be heralded by three guns, after which we must beware of the water.  Sounds as if the chap was a bit cracked.

30th May, Saturday

Cold much worse with a sore throat, so reported sick.  I was told I was fit for duty and medicine, the latter, APC mixture.  To be taken three times a day.  I had the morning dose, but none was available for midday.  They found no jobs for me so I took the opportunity of airing my bedding and doing some dhobi.  The lorry Sugden was in pulled up suddenly and two Malays on bicycles nearly crashed into it; he made a facetious remark, and one of them grinned and said, “ Orang Japun ada balek sekarang.” We’re rather wondering as there is not the slightest sign of their moving, though during the night we heard plenty of traffic, gunfire and ship’s sirens.  All rather unusual occurrences at night these days.  On the way back from Mandai yesterday afternoon we saw a train from the north.  The engine; the Kuala Kuantan, besides its number only had SN on it, presumably that stands for Syonan, the Jap name for Malaya, and the trucks were Siamese.  It carried the remains of a Jap plane, and a serviceable launch; the former with a guard on it.  A private, of  their sergeant: : “ ‘e may ‘ave three fucking stripes on is arm but ‘e aint Christ all fucking all mighty.”

31st May, Sunday

I had to report sick again as my throat was little better.  What improvement there was caused by an old remedy of Bernhard’s.  A wrung out handkerchief covered by a sock round my throat.  I think it would have worked better if I’d tried it the night before.  I spent part of the morning carting rubble to make the cook house a little drier.  In the afternoon I helped Edgar and Marc brand shovels with L7.  Tilley bought a packet of Chinese cigarettes and discovered that the inner wrapping was a file copy of one of Bousteads letters to Xmas Island Co, London, dated 24.8.41.  An indicator as to what has happened to most of our records.  Rained cats and dogs so the rest returned drenched.

1st June, Monday

Decided not to report sick as the doctor is not helpful.  I took a shirt and groundsheet, so managed to keep fairly warm when the lorry at speed.  We went to Changi, loaded a quantity of sand, made 70 cents on the black market.  Just getting ready to start off when the guards decided the colour was too dark, so we had to go back, discharge it and load lighter coloured stuff from the bottom of the pit.  Difficult digging and hot work, consequently it seemed colder than ever speeding in the open lorry.  This afternoon they decided to try somewhere else; we passed Alexandra, signs of damage round it, but the hospital looked comparatively untouched but deserted.  The slit trenches round it have been filled in and a lot of them had crosses on the denoted graves, Malayan Breweries and Anchor brewery looked untouched, but the Singapore Rubber Works near them had been badly knocked about.  Coconut Grove seemed a skeleton, burned out, the surroundings used as a dump, probably ammunition.  A little further on was the training ground for AA gunners, Indians with at least 15 Bofors and 3 3.75’s, what a lovely target when full of these renegade Indians.  We went on through Buena Vista and Pasir Panjang and eventually dug the sand from beside the road where there was a strong smell of decay.  Presumably a corpse near the surface.  Noticed two large damaged vehicle parks, full of cars, buses, etc.  of all descriptions.  Most of them battle damaged.  Missing the trip to Changi was a blow to us, We’d hoped to make a little more for necessities.  On our return we stopped at Buena Vista just short of the turning to the Gap and were allowed to go into the shops.  I had a ten-cent bottle of Ginger beer and a couple of pasties in a coffee shop.  The Chinese were very friendly as usual.

2nd June, Tuesday

We collected loads of sand from the beach near Siglap.  When we collected our second load this afternoon, the guards let us go into a coffee shop where we stayed, killing time for about an hour.  Romney and I shared two bottles of Orange Crush.  As my money is low I invested in a bottle of Chinese sauce; it always helps the rice diet.  Our particular lorry guard was the nastiest piece of work we’ve come across so far, spent his time being difficult.  When we discharged the sand we went to a street off South Bridge Rd parallel with Cantonment Rd where we loaded the remainings of the blast walls, which the Japs are using our troops to demolish.  An old Chinese woman very kindly gave us a bunch of bananas.  A few signs of damage in the form of smashed houses, but on the whole the town looks little different from normal.  I saw the Straits Times, no news in it except the announcement of precautions during air raids.  Despite this they have relaxed the air raid precautions as far as the blackout is concerned.

3rd June, Wedneday

Two trips to Siglap for sand with the usual trips to the coffee shop.  Signs of AA guns at St Patricks School and on top of the United Engineers Building.  The former seems to be in the process of conversion for military use, an imposing entrance road to start with.  The police are now wearing arm bands with a red sun on them.  A gent selling treacle pastries at 5 cents each and sardine sandwiches at 10 cents and another selling a cooked fish; all this in the barracks! Very queer colour effects in the sky, all the colours of the rainbow, not a rainbow, but patches which keep on changing.  One suggestion was that it was caused by ice forming near the docks at about 17,000 feet.  The Japs were practicing with their AA guns but I don’t think that had anything to do with it.  News seemed good but there was no opportunity of checking it.  Russians always supposed to be interested in Krakow! We are continuing bombing Manheim and Cologne, this time 1000 planes on each occasion, losses 25 and 35.  Consider Germany in the position she was in August 1918.  Position in Burma good with a slight advance.  Yanks taking over Chinese dromes.  Libyan battles won, 400 tanks damaged or put out of action.  Coventry bombed.

4th June, Thursday

A holiday.  Fine.  Thank goodness.  A little dhobi, but on the whole took things easily as throat very bad.  An issue of the New York Post as Bromo.  A para-bombadier, a regular with 24 years service, died in his sleep last night.  Finished reading “ Out of the night” by Ian Valtin, an excellent book which Morris very kindly lent me in exchange for “GeorgeV” by Gore, which I kept back from the Changi library.  Thank goodness there has been plenty to read as a POW.  Mainly books pinched from different mess libraries at Changi.  Though today most of them seem to be reading year old news in the form of their toilet issue.  Electric light in our huts at last, the first light of that kind since being taken prisoner in February.  Only use the lights for about half an hour when the sirens wail for practice.  Cheers from the troops, they only wish it was a real one.  The last time I heard it was about four days before we packed up.

5th June, Friday

In the morning went and collected sand from near Siglap.  Afternoon returned to Changi but to the 11th Div area, they had no money, so no trade for us.  The air watchers at St Patricks School and U.E.s have been removed, though I wondered if there is a proper ARP practice tonight.  Wild rumour that all Europeans must be off the island by Monday.  Presume it arose as the chaps at Adam Rd camp have been told to be prepared to move after Monday.

6th June, Saturday

On the Mandai run, did three trips collecting Granite blocks.  After the last trip I went into an eating house with Alan Hoares and shared a 30-cent marmee.  Excellent.  Passed many damaged vehicles being towed for scrapping, including two or three armoured cars and some Bren carriers.  I understand from a chap who was in them that splinters from the Jap mortars penetrated the armoured cars easily.  Regulars turned up with a couple of live ducks, wanted $2.50 each for them, as there were no takers, they turned them into soup at 5 cents a pint mug.  It was excellent.  Rumoured that four Jap subs gave themselves up off of Sydney.  57 bombers over Tokyo.  Battle of Midway anticipated.  We will get a tough time due to British successes in Burma.  Rangoon and Bangkok bombed.  Largest convoy arrived intact in India.  Jap aircrafts, cruisers and battleships sunk in Pacific.  Russians and Germans at a standstill but Red star anticipates biggest amount of material will be brought into use and the battle will be decisive.

7th June, Sunday

Changi trips did well in the market.  Stopped in Bedok Village.  News good… thinks peace by September.  Russians and Germans at a standstill, last night’s bulletin elaborated.

8th June, Monday

Changi business not so good, but received my first Jap pay, $2.70 for 18 days.  News of Midway battles, two American cruisers sunk, seriously damaged and unlikely to reach home.  Three others damaged, two cruisers sunk and two battleships damaged, 13 ships of various types sunk.  Balance of power now in favour of Allies.

9th June, Tuesday

The Japs made a real volunteer mess of it this morning; about 20 trucks went all the way to Changi Jail, where they left us waiting for a while, then they turned the convoy and went back as far as St Patricks School, where after a wait we turned again, and went to the usual place on the beach near Siglup.  Ian Jeffries and I went into the coffee shop but before we could drink the coffee the guards yelled all aboard.  I tried to leave my cup behind but the silly idiot wouldn’t let me; as I did not want to give the idea that I pinched it I managed to return it to the boy outside the shop.  Ian collected a slap on the back for his trouble.  I turned to face the guard as he started towards me so he changed his mind.  No luck at contacting Pop at the Jail.  I was just going to ask Johnny of MacAlisters when we moved on again.  The latter was on a wood cutting fatigue.  In the afternoon Romney very kindly took my place, so I stayed behind and did my dhobi.  Had a haircut for 5 cents in the evening.

10th June, Wednesday

Two trips to Siglap, too much time allowed in coffee shop.  Too expensive.  We stopped twice on the trip back this afternoon, the second one in Katong.  News still good, Jap losses up to 18 ships off Midway.  US losses fairly heavy, full details will be announced later.  China has received reinforcements of RAF and US planes.  Burma bombing still continues.  Rommel returns and joins his reinforcements, a further battle expected soon.  We are actually using some of his own tanks against him.

11th June, Thursday

Holiday! Medical inspection in the morning; looking for beriberi.  I was okay.  Rained in the afternoon, luckily I was able to get hold of another pack of cards and played your game of patience.  In the evening Jack King, Stewart and Winchester tried to teach me bridge, a trifle difficult owing to the large number of experts among the spectators.  King is really picking it up too but he is more advanced, I hope I can keep on with it and have it as a surprise for you when we are released.

12th June, Friday

Changi trip this time to a beach through the 18th Div area.  Morning trip stopped at Bedok; in the afternoon stopped at Simpang Bedok and returned taking the sea coast route.  We wondered if it was deliberate as manoeuvres are on at the moment, mainly in the afternoon.  The shops have very small stocks, further supplies being very difficult to get.  The rice allowance is 5 katis per person per week irrespective of age or sex, a reasonable allowance but unfortunately not always available.  Straits Times actually admits loss of an aircraft carrier off Midway and claims lands at Dutch Harbour Aleutians.  Sevastapol still in Russian hands though other version state Germans have it.

13th Jun, Saturday

Two trips to beach beyond 18th Div at Changi.  Usual stop at coffee shop near Siglap, no coffee as out of sugar.  Towkay said very little of anything available.  A very pleasant windfall this evening..  Frankie Walker had evidently contacted Buosteads dealers and received some ready cash.  Naylor and I collected $30 each.  I was down to 30 cents.

14th June, Sunday

Two trips to Changi but we had tiffin there, the guards intentions being that we could finish and be back early.  Unfortunately when warning us last night they omitted to warn the driver who lives in another part of the camp, consequently when we discharged our first load we were kept waiting nearly an hour while they went off for food.  In Changi crowds thronged round the lorries trying to buy cigarettes etc.  One of the guards cut up rough as it was spoiling his trade.  Eventually he allowed buying outside the barrier, 15 men to be allowed out at a time! Rather difficult to write this there is a chap playing rather expertly on the piano accordion (squeeze-box, the regulars call it).  I shared a lorry with Jimmy Green, Billing and Way.  Yesterday I was unlucky enough to go with the Hoares brothers.  This moaning nearly drove my crazy.  We saw a Chinese looter being led away; he had his hands tied behind him, while two Japs with rifles marched behind.  Straits times still yelling about Allied losses in the Pacific, but admits Jap losses of one carrier and one damaged.  Reading between the lines I felt they are preparing the people for a bit of a shock.  Local rumours confirm this.

15th June, Monday

A trip to Changi in the morning shared with Jimmy Green, Morris, Sadler and a regular.  Sold some cigarettes at a profit.  The Jap Sergeant.  I/c, commonly known as ‘Puss in boots’, evidently didn’t agree with the arrangements made for selling, he raised hell and pointed out there would be a little face slapping and head chopping if it occurred again.  Capt Robertson, who is in charge of us, has wound up.  In the afternoon Jack Kemp took my place, as he wanted time off from his job as battalion clerk.  Thanks to that I did my dhobi instead.  Clouds of dark smoke from the direction of Keppel Harbour, let’s hope it is a coal dump on fire.  It turned out later to be a tanker, even better.  A Chinese was seen tied to a telegraph pole, rumour has it that he shot and killed a senior Jap officer.  I only hope their vengeance is not too drastic.  Another was seen tied up in Raffles Place with a heavy bag of loot tied round his neck.  He was condemned to remain there all day.  Jap soldiers spat at him and beat him up.  Rumoured news has it that the position in Libya has stabilised.  Sevastopol looks like turning into a Russian victory, 65,000 Huns killed so far.  Midway 18 sunk, 13 damaged.  Roosevelt has promised to sweep the Japs from the Pacific.

16th June, Tuesday

A little selling but under the punkah.  Rained practically all day, rather unpleasant sitting in the back of an open lorry; my groundsheet was a trifle porous! In the afternoon we were allowed to stop on the return journey at Bedok.  I was extravagant, 35 cents for repair outfit for repairing my lilo, 25 cents for a pair of clogs, besides 15 cents for biscuits etc.  Rumoured that an RAF pilot pinched a Jap bomber and escaped.

17th June, Wednesday

Changi trips with no stops, fine in the morning but wet and unpleasant later.  Rumoured Rodney sunk off Gib.  4-7 Italian ships also sunk in Med.  Jap cruiser off Singapore! Queer, but we saw many ships arriving and leaving Singapore, which rather rules out the latter.  Continued my buying in camp and am now set up.  A nearly new pair of boots 75 cents and a heavy cape $1.50, both money well invested, especially if we get transferred to another Jap territory such as Formosa.

18th June, Thursday

Morning spent sewing buttons on the cape and repairing my khaki shirts.  Afternoon in airing my bedding, etc.  and cleaning my boots.  Overcast all day.

19th June, Friday

Changi twice.  Stopped at Bedok on return, bought more tyre solution for lilo.  Understood from an officer that 3000 of the men from Changi are going to Port Swettenham, most probably the Q camp.  Also they may be allowed to write field post cards before leaving Singapore.  I hope that means there will be a chance of writing to you.  Rumoured news that 8th Div is beseiged in Tobruk, while two other divisions are fighting their way out towards Egyptian frontier.  Germans have temporary air superiority.  Sevastopol, Germans captured outer defences.  Krakov attacked by half a million, but Russians holding; Further attack towards Moscow but driven back; Russians captured and destroyed 140 tanks.  Tokyo/ Berlin message intercepted by Allies.  Japs worried by shipping position, 61 important vessels now lost.  America states Japs in Aleutians will starve, as they will cut off all help from Japan.  MacArthur states in Australia that although threat to Australia is temporally withdrawn it cannot be considered permanent until Java, Sumatra and Malaya recaptured.  He hopes to be in a position to do this in the not too distant future.  Bombing discontinued owing to bad weather.

20th June, Saturday

Changi trips twice, stopped at Bedok in the afternoon, cup of very good coffee 3 cents.  The present cooking area of this camp sounds like the East End.  All the old street cries 

“ Ool ave a nice pineapple fritter or a cup of sweet coffee, rissole etc”.  The camp authorities have put a plot of land aside for cooking which is allowed provided they bring their own fuel into camp.  Jimmy Green fried me an egg excellently this evening; he cooks with Ian Jeffries and Bill Paterson.  Derek Bines has made a most efficient stove out of an old petrol tank.  Received $2.25 being my second pay from the Japs as POW.  Purchased a pair of very good gloves for 75 cents! Not much use at the moment, but we never know where they may send us.  Anyway it would not be difficult to get my money back.

21st June, Sunday

Two trips to Changi, usual stop at Bedok.  Many ships going out, a few coming in including a hospital ship.  Have been definitely told a post card will be allowed in a day or so.  The message to be short.  I’ve so much to tell you but I am afraid that you will only receive old message but I hope it will put any fears which you may have had at rest.

22nd June, Monday

Two trips to Changi, no stops.  Saw Sandy Simpson outside the jail.  Strong rumour Tobruk has fallen, though some deny this.

23rd June, Tuesday

Raining all day, I luckily got off work as I have broken a tooth and wished to see the dentist about it.  He gave me an appointment for 3pm on Monday July 8th.  I hope we are not shifted by then.  Rumours are busy, some POW have evidently left for Alor Star and Bangkok and more are expected from this the River Valley Rd Camp.  A general air of despondency caused by the weather and the glaring headlines in the Straits Times announcing the fall of Tobruk with 25,000 prisoners.  When will all this end? Straits Times also announced details of the Ipoh races! Rumour confirms Tobruk attacked by six divisions and dive-bombed for 24 hours.  Sevastopol still holding out, 40,000 Germans killed, wounded very many more.  Further Aleutian sea battle, Japs lost one aircraft carrier, a cruiser,… destroyers, etc.

24th June, Wednesday

Two trips to Changi with usual afternoon stop at Bedok.  Was lucky enough to see Harry Foston outside the jail looking fit.  He yelled out that Pop was fit, which is most encouraging news, I’ve been trying to get it for ages.  In the afternoon Wyatt-Smith was the only one I recognized.  Rumours that Tobruk is not as bad as first reported, anyway as far as the number of prisoners is concerned.

25th June, Thursday

Holiday! At 9am suddenly told to fall in with shirts on for a group photo.  We formed up and were marched out around to an open space on the far side of River Valley Rd camp, where we were formed up in columns facing a dais.  The lorries also turned up.  A Nip general stood up on the dais, and a movie was made of the whole parade.  I don’t suppose many of us will be recognisable, my straggly beard is quite a good disguise, also there was a forest of hands giving either a thumbs-up or the V sign.  One actually held up two up two shovels in a V sign.  When the general bowed there was a chorus of hoots.  In fact there was a touch of comic opera about the whole thing.  When the official cars left one chap gave a running commentary as though it was a race meeting.  After tiffin I sunbathed while my bedding etc.  aired.  I’ll be like a Tamil by the time I get out, as I never wear a shirt unless I feel cool, which is seldom.  Volunteers are becoming quite enterprising.  Parker of the JVE is making and selling liquor costing 10 cents a half-pint, excellent and sells like hot cakes.  Alan Hoares suddenly turned up with some coconut ice, real professional stuff.  He could have sold it ten times over, but he’s an expert; in the last slump he was at home working in a restaurant.  Rumoured news better.

26th June, Friday

Changi trips.  High tide in the morning, I was lucky enough to get in a quick swim, cool but refreshing, as by the sun it was only just after 8am.  Stopped at Bedok for coffee, managed to get a bottle of Chinese sauce for 35 cents.

27th June, Saturday

Changi morning.  Mandai for large granite in the afternoon.  Anglo- Chinese school used as car park.  Otherwise no change in the Bukit Timah Rd except general signs of clearing up.  Rumours USA landing in Sumatra, bombing over Java, 8 Jap fighters down.  U.S.  and G.B.  united, King No.1, Roosevelt Viceroy.  The wildest we’ve had for ages.  Straits Times mentions fall of South Burma which is nearer the truth.  I wish we could get some unbiased news.

28th June, Sunday

Changi trips.  Swim in afternoon with stop for coffee at Bedok.  Rumour position in Egypt steady.  With hopes of holding Rangoon and north Burma, Sumatra.  Java and Celebes all bombed.  Commando landings in the last three.  Anglo-Saxon union confirmed.  The Orderly Officer caught a convoy at Bedok, slapped one chaps face and harangued Puss in Boots for allowing us to shop.  Bousteads come up trumps again with $40.  Ian Jeffries has only 30 cents so I’ve lent him $5, to be repaid when we’re free!

29th June, Monday

Was barrack room orderly with Tommy Thompson.  Our job lasted about an hour and consisted of cleaning out the inside of the hut and the drains around the hut; as two men were also available from the other company in was a nice easy job.  Rained most of the morning but cleared up later, so dhobi was possible.  The Japs are a bit touchy, last night they were busy driving everybody into the huts.  Usually on a moonlight night plenty of chaps stay outside until quite late and the guards more often than not try to join us in conversation.  Some of their planes are flying extremely high this afternoon, sometimes only a contrail being seen.  News more optimistic.

30th June, Tuesday

Changi twice, swim in the afternoon, no stops.  Fighters, evidently from carrier, still on drome.

1st July, Wednesday

Changi trips without stops, for some unknown reason we returned back in the afternoon by our route out.  This evening the colonel gave us a talk on health prevention as there is a cholera scare on, no fishing or swimming.  The former prohibition has been in force for some days, but today was the first time they have said anything about us not bathing.  Although the Straits Times published the official notice a few days ago.  Today they only said that we bathe at our own risk.  The night before last they caught an Aussie from River Valley camp, he was caught amongst the godowns which are situated in a no mans land between the camps.  We saw him outside the Jap guardroom with his hands tied behind his back and with a rope round his neck slung loosely over the door.  He looked as though he’d been beaten up.  It is rumoured that the Yanks have Wake Isl.  The Huns are in Mersa Matruh having captured 8000 prisoners.

2nd July, Thursday

At last we’ve been issued with postcards, mine must seem terribly short to you when you get it, but I was afraid if I wrote too much the censor might hold it back.  I wanted to mention LV and Sam but was advised that it might jeopardise the dispatch of the card.  I hope mine was clearer than an effort by one of the regulars “ Dear Mother I am a prisoner of war and fit, I hope you are too.” I wonder when you will get it.  Rumoured that the New Zealand 2nd Army have attacked in Egypt and driven the Huns back a little.

3rd July, Friday

Changi trips.  On our return journeys we avoided the seacoast.  Nobody seemed to know the reason, though it may be because they are extending the drome.

4th July, Saturday

Changi trips, in the afternoon we returned by the coast road.  A nasty shock at Bedok Village, a partially decomposed corpse had been dragged out of the sea and was lying beside the road.  We did not stop! The drome was still crowded with planes.  Rumoured that Sevastopol has not yet fallen although the Straits Times announced it with banner headlines.  Whilst Alex is still 150 miles from the enemy who was driven back there.  Allied reconnaissance planes came over Singapore, Java, etc.  The Yanks had landed in the Celebes, Timor and Ambona.  Our postcards have safely passed the camp authorities.  I have just joined the camp library at a cost of 10 cents.  I could have joined by presenting a book but the one I had I was anxious to keep as a memento.  There was nothing much left so I had to content myself with Mungo Park and Livingstone.  Rumoured Sevastopol and Egypt still holding.  US in Celebes and Timor.

5th July, Sunday

Changi run.  Avoided coast on both occasions.  This afternoon saw a four-engined jap bomber for the first time, looked like a Dornier.  With gun positions fore and aft and in blisters at the side.  Rumoured news from Libya and Russia a little better.

6th July, Monday

Changi run.  Recognised Gunn of Yukon Gold outside jail.  A ghastly sight on St Andrew Bridge near the airport.  The head of a native, most probably Chinese, was exhibited on the bridge with a note in Chinese, etc.  detailing his crimes.  We were not near enough to read them.  Plaster covered a wound on one side of the head, so we presumed he had been shot before being decapitated.  I understand there are nearly a dozen of these ghastly relics dotted around the town.  We were paid today, $2.25 for privates.  10 cents extra for NCO’s.  Brand new Japanese notes.  Two Chinese, one Malay and a Tamil, are tied up outside the guardroom in Alexandria Rd.
7th July, Tuesday

Changi trips.  The head is still on view, as were the prisoners outside the guardroom, but they’d gone in the afternoon.  Everybody is being inoculated against cholera today.  Wild rumour: Rommel a prisoner.  US in occupation of Java.  Fifth anniversary of the China incident.  Every household to show the Jap flag, the Hinamaru, I noticed quite a few had not!

8th July, Wednesday

Morning trip to Changi only, as I believe it is a Jap holiday.  The grisly head was still there on our way out but had been removed on our return.  The Japs were trying out their defences thoroughly, AA guns and heavy stuff firing out to sea.  Also 48 twin engine bombers and 15 fighters flying over the city and out to sea.  I went over to the dentist but found I should have gone yesterday.  I will have to go on the 14th instead.  Anyway, the half-holiday was a chance to do some dhobi.

9th July, Thursday 

Holiday.  An excuse to air all my belongings.  Derek Barr and Bill Paterson busy making pasties, quite professional.  Unfortunately at 10 cents they lost on it.

10th July, Friday

Changi trips, A great number of durians in camp.  I had another shot at them, the first time for nearly 13 years.  I must admit I liked it.  Tommy had a shot but was not so sure.  Suggie made a pig of himself!

11th July, Saturday

Changi trips.  A very pleasant swim in the afternoon, then more durians when we got back.  I am trying to make a new breakfast dish; a teaspoon of cocoa, a dessertspoon of condensed milk all mixed in with the rice and sugar.  The Straits Times announces that the cholera scare is over.  An excellent concert in the Gordon’s hut.  Some good voices, especially a chap named John Luck.  They even rigged up a stage in the hut.  A piano accordian, a harmonium, a cornet and castanets, not bad for a POW camp.

12th July, Sunday

Changi trip.  Recognised Chalmers and Foston outside jail.  In the afternoon we returned via the coast road.  Many planes at the airport and many new buildings near St Patricks School.  Shared a durian with Eric Dimmock and S.J.  Clarke.  Have improved the breakfast by getting a tin of honey grains for $1.  Saw a mixed batch of Javanese and Malay troops.

13th July, Monday

A holiday.  No particular reason given, but believe it is to be due to the changing of the Jap guards.

14th July, Tuesday

Changi morning, dentist in the afternoon.  He filled a tooth in my left lower jaw.  He seems to have made a good job of it.  I saw Jim Langdon outside the jail looking thinner.

15th July, Wednesday

Celebrated the day by two trips to Changi.  Had a very pleasant bathe in the sea.  Saw George Pringle outside the jail, thinner but fit.

16th July, Thursday

Holiday.  A commotion at midnight, the Japs busy checking over the other huts, at least two men had escaped, evidently while working in Johore.  We were left alone.  Then a little later a heavy storm came on and lasted until after breakfast.  Played dice with Tommy and Suggie a lot of the morning for cigarettes.  I was five up at the end.  After tiffin had a game of bridge with Jack King, Bill Watson, and S.J Clarke.  They were all very helpful and I think I learned quite a lot.  If only I’m able to save the Auto Bridge! Wild rumours about some of us being shifted to Manchuria.

17th July, Friday

Changi trips.  Recognised Ruall and H.H.  Bell outside the jail.  Bathed this afternoon, very pleasant.  Rumoured that the Aussies who left for overseas went to Victoria Point, where the drome was heavily bombed.  Two lorries of troops from upcountry went into Changi.  Amongst them were recognised chaps who’d been missing since fighting at Alor Star.  So we hope some of the missing Volunteers, such as Ginger Miller, may still be alive.  Rumoured R.E officers and men are going to Japan, also all officers of the rank of colonel and above.

18th July, Saturday

Changi and a bathe.  Amusing sight of Jap guard and three Aussies busily shovelling out sand as they went down the road.  The Japs idea of a joke.  Also saw a mixture of Chinese coolie women, Tommies and guards all in the same lorry trying to talk to each other.

19th July, Sunday

Changi trips.  Raining in the morning.  A regular from the other camp fell off a lorry and was killed by the following one.  We actually saw the body lying by the altar in the River Valley camp, wrapped in a blanket.  Two chaps who escaped were recaptured.  Given away by Malays.

20th July, Monday

Pop’s birthday.  I’d hoped to drop him a note, but no luck.  Only recognised Cameron when passing the jail.  Had a swim after loading sand.

21st July, Tuesday

Changi trip morning, dropped a note to Pop in a packet of Woodbines! Noticed Osborne and George Rolleston.  A large party of Dutch prisoners were marched into Changi.  Rumour current that 10,000 are going overseas, most probably Japan.  Afternoon off, dhobi.  Started a course of vitamin B tablets, I bought the tablets some time ago in case I had signs of vitamin deficiency, which is the beginning of beri-beri.  There are slight signs, so I’ve started off.

22nd July, Wednesday

Changi trips.  Recognised Parkinson of Hallams.  Free Indian sentry was abusive.  Will remember him.

23rd July, Thursday

Holiday! A further effort at bridge with Jack King, Bill Paterson and Pat Stewart.  I was not too bright.  We made pigs of ourselves at the evening meal.  JVE curry mixture and hard boiled egg, grated cheese, all mixed up with a third of a grated coconut and the usual rice and vegetable stew, plus a minute quantity of mince.

24th July, Friday

Changi trips.  Afternoon (very few Europeans left).  Returned via Bedok and airport.  Airport crowded with passenger carriers, bombers and a few fighters.  Saw Jap sentry beating up Chinese, Indians, and a Malay for riding past a notice instructing them to walk.  They were then left kneeling.  The Malay traffic police also make jaywalkers kneel and watch the traffic.  One mata mata was furious when with the fire service Dusty Miller yelled out to a Chinese offender, “ Tidapa Taukeh, sedekit jam sahaja.”

25th July, Saturday

Mandai trip for large granite three times.  Little except military traffic and buses on  Bukit Timah Rd.  We broke down in Bukit Panjang village.  Jimmy Green and I had our first Mangosteens at 2 cents each.  Chaps who tried to bring in bananas they had bought had them taken off them by the guard at the gate.  After lodging a complaint they got them back.  The ridiculous part is that they had been bringing then in openly for weeks.  An amusing sight in Bukit Timah, about 40 Malay mata mata facing each other learning to bow in Jap fashion, with a Sergeant, arranging the position of their heads.  They got a hearty laugh from us.

26th July Sunday

Changi trip and bathe.  A letter from Pop.  He is fit but weak after recovering from an operation.  Mentions that Betty Thom’s husband, Roger Horne, is safe.  Also Rex Blow.  The letter was dated the 15th.

27th July, Monday

Changi trips and bathe.  The two chaps who tried to escape we now understand were betrayed by Tamils.  They were sentenced to four days on rice and water and a beating up.  The latter because they refused to divulge how they crossed to the mainland.  The guards this afternoon were busy seeing that whatever purchases carried were not on obvious view while passing the sentry at the gate!

28th July, Tuesday

Changi trips and a bathe.

29th July, Wednesday

Three trips, large granite.  Saw more gruesome evidence of the results of war than I’ve ever seen before.  One poor chap was evidently buried in a shallow slit trench, parts of the skeleton were showing while others were a little way off, his tin hat showing name was evidently Smith from Western Australia.  Groundsheet etc.  were all lying near.  Whilst near the quarry there was another grave with only a tin hat to show the position.  Yesterday the remains of nearly a dozen more were found in the lallang.  Evidently a mortar shell had exploded near a stretcher party, killing the whole lot.  Watches, equipment, etc.  were still on the skeletons.  Taylor, of the Battery, has gone into hospital with dysentery, most likely bacillary.

30th July, Thursday

Holiday.  Bug hunting.  Half the hut seems to have been taken to pieces in the search.

31st July, Friday

We worked on the godown site, the work consisting mainly of carrying large granite blocks short distances.  We all slacked as much as we could.  Tommy and Stonehewer were caught going slow and slapped.

1st August, Saturday

Working on the building site with pick and shovel, levelling the floor of one of the godowns.  A hot job as the roof is not on yet.  We paraded at 9am, got back at 1pm.  Out again at 2pm and back by 6pm.  Rather exhausting.  We had to collect our tools from the Japs guardhouse, which is in a Hongkong Bank house on Siri Menanti Rd.  The house seemed nearly as full as the barracks.  A lot of the furniture was in the garden, including a billiard table in pieces.

2nd August, Sunday

On the building site, very tiring.  We were carrying a length of light railway when a guard from another company thought Blaney was slacking, so hacked his shins hard.  Our own guards told the attacker off severely.  They helped him home and carried his pick for him.  Then when we were having tiffin Al Capone and another guard came in with peanut coffee and a water bottle full of coffee and port wine for Blaney.

3rd August, Monday

Navvying again, the guards arranged a holiday for Blaney.  A fight between two regulars, as they were so insistent, an officer eventually refereed.

4th August, Tuesday

Mixing cement; an easier day.  Roper- Caldbeck told me he had ascertained that Pointz Roberts is not in the Jail, we only hope that he got away safely.

5th August, Wednesday

Mixing cement and cleaning out godown.  The latter consisted of brushing the floors with wooden scrapers.  Seen three lorry loads of Jap women waving heartily to the troops, who returned it with interest.

6th August, Thursday

Holiday.  A bridge lesson with Erwin, Bill Paterson and Jack King.  Tommy has been feeling the worse for wear as had some samsu last night.  He does not recommend it.  The round faced young guard has now got three stripes up and is a first class private.  He was cheered by us.  He is always fair and even-tempered.  He brought in an eye ointment for a regular with pinkeye.

7th August, Friday

Cleaning up and cement mixing for the interior drains.  Comforting news only, hope you are quite all right in India.

8th August, Saturday

Our platoon was still on the same job but I was on a handcart with three others collecting sand and cement, a much more pleasant job.  Incidentally these handcarts were the Jap transport in their rush down the country.  It is rather lucky that you can’t see me at the moment as I’ve had an absolute convict trim.  That with a black beard, no shirt, and ragged shorts completing the picture.

9th August, Sunday

Same job again.  A few of the cement floors had to be taken up.  They wouldn’t harden! The reason being that Christmas Island phosphate had been mistaken for cement! I’ve come to an arrangement with Baptist late RRI to blow up my lilo for 10 cents a week.  A funny sight this afternoon of a Jap guard chasing a small Chinese boy for trying to sell something to us.  The kid won and disappeared up an alley.  The guard was handicapped by his straw hat, which he had to hold on and by his rifle, which he carried on his shoulder.  There was a more unpleasant episode in which a Chinese was beaten up for not getting off his bicycle when passing the sentry post.

10th August, Monday
Handcart and cement mixing.

11th August, Tuesday

Cement mixing.  Another windfall through Walker, $20.  I’ve received $90 to date, it arrived in the nick of time; I’d $1 left

12th August, Wednesday

Same job.  The guards like it so much that we quite often stand around watching them work! The Straits Times is full of the Solomon Is and Aleutian battles.  Also Indian independence, a special day.  The Indian flag is beside the Hinomaruo.  I understand 50 Indians objected to the former and there was a riot.  But it may only be a rumour.  The dawn was hideous with the noise of bombers and fighters.

13th August, Thursday

Bug hunting.  A large fire in the direction of the docks, looks like oil.  AA and heavy guns practicing.

14th August, Friday

Cement mixing etc.  Straits Times makes amusing reading.  Australia is suffering from a food shortage because no rice is coming in! Most of the Aussies in camp hope they never see rice again.  They mentioned yesterday fire and say it was put out in 45 mins.  We saw the smoke early in the morning and the flames still showed after dark.  Just learned that the old Kennerway of Kuala Lumpur, who got away before the capitulation to Australia, was captured by the Japs on his way to Bombay and is now in Changi jail.

15th August, Saturday

On the cabbage patch.  The Japs are celebrating Singapore’s first six months of freedom! An extra half sheet in the Straits Times.  Rumoured that there was a clash between Hindus and Muslims, that did not happen under our administration.  Six or Eight Malays had their heads chopped off for killing a Jap.  The latter we heard from a tukang.  A bomber crashed in landing at Kalang.  Overshot and crossed the road, finishing up in the far ditch.

16th August, Sunday

On handcarts.  A regular from No.1 Coy was joking with a guard and threw a shovelful of sand, which hit him in the face.  The guard charged him to return the complement, fell and hurt himself, and then got annoyed.  Another guard saw the man running, thought this was horrible, caught him, and then proceeded to beat him up.  When the first one turned up he grabbed the regulars arms, which he held behind him while the first guard took his turn at beating him up.  Eventually Walker and CSM Anderson stopped it.  The latter and the regular remained behind whilst we off to tiffin.  They came back later and we understand the matter was closed.  The chap was given the afternoon off and a packet of cigarettes.

17th August, Monday

Fell in on parade earlier.  Major Corke gave us a talking to regarding yesterday’s incident.  CSM Anderson and the culprit were taken to the local Jap HQ where Lt.  Watanabe also held an inquiry.  He then told the guard off and beat one of them up, Cook was not certain that he dealt with the right one.  Then added that he also had held an inquiry but the evidence of Clayton, a Volunteer, was unsatisfactory.  Rather suggested that it was hearsay.  He considered that the Japs had acted very fairly and doubted whether we would have done as well if the boot had been on the other foot.  He pointed out that the chaps must not play about with the guards, as that was the sole cause of the incident.  Clayton was fuming as he considered Corke was making a personal matter of the thing.  I’d had dealings with him before the war.  During the rest this morning he called us together to make an apology.  He’s an absolute old woman.  I spent the morning mixing cement with the addition of metal for the outside apron of the godowns.  A back-breaking job.  I found an easier job in the afternoon.

18th August, Tuesday

The Japs kept us hard at cement mixing.  At the evening parade we were told that the apron and drains of these godowns were to be finished by the 25th.  We were to band ourselves into teams of ten, who were responsible for three bags per day.  Ours was composed of the following: Drummond, Sugden, Geoff, Clementson, Currie, Bragg, Todd, Way, Green and Yews.  By these means we were able to dodge the less energetic people, like Noble, alias the witch of Endor, Stonehewer, alias the black orpington.

19th August, Wednesday

A very heavy morning but our team was strong and the company as a whole did most of the set task before tiffin.  Regulars were painting the godown, which broke into a rash of V’s which the Japs did not notice.

20th August, Thursday

Bug hunting.  Found scores.  Heavy rain in evening which finished off a miserable day.

21st Aug, Friday

Cement mixing.  A regular was slapped by a Jap guard, so he retaliated by knocking him out.  He was court martialled and sentenced to death, but was reprieved and we were told that in future cases the death sentence would be carried out.  In the meantime he received his daily beating and for the first 24 hours received no food or water.  Even when the MO appealed for him to be given some it was refused.

22nd August, Saturday

Cement mixing and drain widening.  A lecture by Lt.  Alton of RM on HMS Repulse.  A very interesting talk which brought back my own small experience.  It took five torpedoes to sink her.  The Prince of Wales received eight.  But she had a propeller damaged by bombing, the tail shaft whipping round had damaged a lot of the watertight doors early in the action, slowing her down to seven knots.  The Repulse, whose design speed was 28 knots, worked up to 33 knots and managed to dodge a lot of it, some were lucky as she was heeling over.  One of these was an Aussie midshipman who did a shallow dive into the sea.  The unfortunates were the men who dived the wrong way and hit the deck.  One poor unfortunate was seen to go down the funnel.  As soon as the large vessels sank the Japs signalled to the four escorting destroyers that if they ceased fire they could pick up the survivors.  They did and the Japs refrained and flew away.  Admiral Sir Tom Philips was last seen in a deck chair on the bridge of the Prince of Wales smoking his pipe.  The paymaster commander did the same on Repulse.  The chap who gave the talk was only 21 or 22 but a fine type of officer, a great contrast to the chaps we see about this camp.

25th& 26th August

Fixing up the godown, so little to do that we finished at tiffin yesterday and had a long rest in intervals today.  More Chinese attempts on Jap officers, understand one killed and one injured.  I wrote a long letter to Pop hoping he will pass on details to you if he is repatriated.  I also enclosed names and addresses of pals and their wives, etc.  so that he can do the same for them.  Official channels are so uncertain.  We understand that the home government   has announced that it has received no details, so we are posted as missing, presumed POW’s.  Yesterday they took a group photo of our guards and us.  I’ll try to get a copy, we look a prize lot of ruffians.

27th August, Thursday

Bug hunting.  The Hoares got hold of a blow-lamp and we exterminated hundreds.  Played bridge with Paterson, Clementson, and Lovell.  The latter is more of a beginner than I am.  I also attended a class of ‘automobile maintenance and workshop practice’.  The teacher made it interesting and hopes to get engine parts to demonstrate.  Provided I can master the lessons they ought to be of great use afterwards, if we can afford a car.  Spent the latter part of the morning as we did yesterday, doing a quiz contest.  I was very successful.

28th August, Friday

Evidently the Japs have decided to use the godown temporarily as barracks because we spent the day erecting latrines and bathhouses, we thought of transferring some of our bugs there, but thought we’d better not in case they decide to house some of us there.  A Jap colonel inspected the work this afternoon.  I noticed a Sikh amongst the drivers.

30th August, Sunday

Our days on the cabbage patch seem to be numbered.  We did hardly any work this morning, actually spent some of the time in a new bathhouse keeping out of sight of the guard.  We had the afternoon off.  A lorry belonging to one of the sand collecting parties went over one of our old land mines, two chaps, and a guard were hurt.  According to the interpreter the Japs admit the loss of the Solomons and attribute it to too much beer.  The troops here being told it as an object lesson.  The guards sometimes come on duty slightly bottled.

31st August, & 1st September]

 Spent yesterday morning placing stones in the potholes in the road.  Went home early and had the afternoon off, spent it reading ‘Ivanhoe’.  Today was spent preparing posts, etc.  for the perimeter of the cabbage patch.  Many ambulances loaded with wounded Japs were seen passing through the town.  Gardner of the JVE met a coolie off his estate who asked him if he could use his influence with the Japs to have him transferred to KL!

2nd September

I’ve spent our third anniversary driving in fence poles.  I only hope we can spend the next one together.  I hear that it had been broadcast that we are going about bootless, some chaps have been, but only a few and those mainly because they sold them.  Boots are getting short but gym shoes are being supplied.

3rd September

Bug hunting! The blowlamp was quite helpful.  We found a nest under Jack King’s place.  Billy James, alias Fisho’s 24th birthday.  He celebrated it with port wine and beer, the former he procured through the Jap guards.  He and Roy run a shop so have a little extra cash.  Billy earned his nickname of Fisho by opening tins of sardines of tomato sauce and selling the fish separately at 10 cents.  His average profit is only 5 cents a tin as they cost 55 cents outside.  Engine caring class and quiz.

4th September, Friday

Still fencing.  The sick and the bootless looked on and beat the Aussies at soccer.  Finished reading Ivanhoe and started ‘ Every Woman’ by G.  Frankau.  After evening roll call Capt Robertson ‘the bounder’ gave us a talk.  Evidently the Japs had produced parole sheets for the chaps in Changi to sign.  All refused except five who had received sentences for desertion etc.  of varying terms up to 13 years.  When the Japs heard of the refusal they ordered the whole of the southern area and the other areas except the 11th Div numbering 17,000 to move to Selerang Barracks, which meant that 4,000 were put in a barracks which housed from 80 to 100 in peacetime.  After capitulation we managed to squeeze in about 600 men.  In view of this they had to sleep in three shifts.  Digging latrine pits in the parade ground.  There being water for cooking and cleaning only.  Robertson was very careful not to state any reason for the Japs demanding paroles but I understand it was something to do with the attempted escape of a Capt Phillips and three men.  The former was supposed to have been shot.

5th September, Saturday

Did odd jobs which the guards instructed us to do slowly.  In the evening we heard that the Lt.  Col i/c in Changi had accepted full responsibility and instructed everybody to sign the parole sheets.

6th September, Sunday

Knocked about 20 nails in knife rest road block frame, they are finding great difficulty in devising odd jobs for us.  Still no settled job, mainly wasting time, which makes it drag terribly.

7th September, Monday

A holiday.  A boring day.  No chance of bridge as a ladder competition is in progress.  Regarding the parole I understand that they were told that they’d got to sign.  After deliberation a senior col authorised it.  It only covered not attempting to escape under any circumstance.

8th September, Tuesday

On the cabbage patch.  All I did was to make a stool for my own use.  Tommy has caused a certain amount of amusement playing goalie in a soccer match against one of the other huts.  He was smoking a cheroot and nearly swallowed it.

9th September, Wednesday

Still wasting time.  Anyway until 4.30pm when we were just starting off for home.  A junior Nip officer turned up and told our guards off thoroughly.  In view of that we started scavenging.  Our armed guard keeping an eye out for the return of the officer.  He actually ran up the road to warn another company.  Then another guard saw Bloomfield pushing a wheelbarrow he gave him a lift on his motor bike on the pillion.  Bloom sitting there holding on to the barrow was a really funny sight.  An interesting talk on Gallipoli by Lt Col Thomas.

10th September, Thursday

Bug hinting.  Unfortunately we could not get the blowlamp so used a flit pump with petrol instead.  All the same I had a rotten night and killed a lot.  I am afraid I’ll have to join the others outside.

11th September, Friday

Joined the ‘no boots’ parade, one of my pairs has gone for repairs, and the powers that be have no knowledge of the other pair I’ve got! After helping clean the inside of the hut the morning was free so I spent it rubbing off the sharp corners of my stool and scrubbing brushes.  Also I’ve got hold of Thomas’s Contract, bridge in 20 mins so have been studying that.  Bill Paterson got it for me, luckily he runs a stall so was able to exchange 19 cents worth of tobacco for it.  Lucky I did not go out; the others only shifted piles of bricks.

13th September, Sunday

Still bootless.  Col.  Clarke explained the details of the Japs demands for parole.  We’ve got to sign otherwise we’ll receive the same treatment as they did at Changi.  I also took my beard off.

14th September, Monday

The Japs decided we could have a ‘yasumi’, evidently the work on the patch is all but finished as only one company went out.  Had a bridge game with the help of Clementson and Blaney.  Also watched some soccer matches.  Also some boxing to be seen in the Aussie section of the camp.  A ‘grudge’ fight the other night.  The winner received a large bottle of stout, the loser a tin of soup or a jar of paste.  All donated by the Aussies.

15th September, Tuesday

Still a holiday.  Rained most of the day.  Luckily I had a good book, ‘Turning wheels’ by Stuart Cloete.  Also received some pay.  It is down to 10 cents per day for privates.  I collected $1.60 for a fortnight’s work.

16th September, Wednesday

 Rained all the morning but in the afternoon the guards turned up and took the companies off to stack bricks.  I got off owing to a lack of boots.  It was announced at evening roll call that going shopping through the wire must cease.  As if anybody is caught collective reprisals will be taken.  It looks like spoiling a lot of the shops, especially Bill Paterson’s.  Not that all the stocks come through the wire.  When we do get out it is quite a common sight to see Chinese kids with filled haversacks with the name of shops on them.  They hand them over when the guards are not looking.  The kids sometimes get spotted but are very seldom caught.  Pork and beans, soup, pickles, cheese; in fact the stalls look very like a grocery shop anywhere else.  The Jap guards quite often patronise them.  Even the guard off the bridge wanders along complete with rifle to buy cigarettes.

17th September, Thursday

Bug hunting with a blowlamp.  Finished reading ‘Turning Wheels’.  An excellent book.  Met a Scottie who’d been working on the Tatula Maru, an exchange ship.  He saw many parcels addressed to the POW’s.  I wonder when we’ll get them; if we do I really hope the RASC will be fairly honest, nobody trusts them, with good reason.  The ship next to the TM was loaded with new fighters with in line engines.

18th September, Friday

On the cabbage patch piling bricks.  Had a long chat with Harry Roper-Caldbeck.

19th September, Saturday

Medical inspection.  Mainly caused by the high incidence of skin disease, especially on the scrotum.  They attributed it to lack of Vitamin A.  One chap is rumoured to have had it so badly that he had to be emasculated.  Another quiz tonight.  Our evenings are a bit more occupied than they used to be.  Recently we’ve had lectures on Gallipoli, the Argentine and the BEF in France.  Booze seemed to predominate in the latter by a Signals Corporal.

20th September, Sunday
Piling bricks mainly to the tune of the Volga boatman.  Ian’s words being clever and amusing.  Quite a few were broken.

21st September, Monday

A similar day.  New Nip troops passing in the whole time.  Went to a lecture on animal husbandry by Peacock, I thought he generalised too much but hope he will go into more detail later.

22nd September, Tuesday

Brick and cement sheet stacking.  In the afternoon they marched us up to the patch, where we sat chatting until we were marched back at 4pm.  Received $1.50, being 15 days pay.

23rd September, Wednesday

Loading water pipes onto lorries, easy work.  I managed to read quite a lot of ‘The White Monkey’ by Galsworthy.  The only drawback was that we were close to the sewage farm.  Tamil coolies were cleaning out the drains too, which did not improve the scent.  The latter were friendly and respectful as ever, only getting 55 cents a day against 80 to 90 under us.  A passing Nip corporal, one of the new troops, gave us two packets of 20 cigarettes.

24th Sept, Thursday

Rained most of the day so prevented bug hunting.  Lecture on the motor car engine continued.

25th September, Friday

Morning’s work only carrying papers.  Yasumi in the afternoon.  The guards came to say goodbye to the Aussies.  All entrances are now guarded by guards wearing a brassard with a black triangle on it: they are supposed to be fighting troops.  Indians are sharing their duties and are living next to the Aussies on the other side of the soccer pitch.  Had a talk on the BEF in France by a gunner sergeant, Hardaker.  They seemed to have done well.

26th September, Saturday

Still a yasumi.  Ran with CSM Thompson on fatigues.  He’s weak and only picks out the easy going people.  Watched some soccer matches.  A concert in the evening, we passed the time with a quiz.  The long narrow hut makes the acoustics very difficult.  Black guards slapped a few faces for not saluting.  We seem more closely guarded than ever, which seems odd after signing the parole form.

27th September, Sunday

Still holiday.  Have collected a very bad cold.  Shared a tin of celery soup with Suggie, Tommy and Eric.  It improved the tiffin rice and vegetable very much.  We are getting little of the latter now, but are hoping to start growing our own.  Went to evensong, a very good service with a solo Schubert Ave Maria sung by John Leach, he is supposed to have sung over the radio in Australia.  The church is quite a fine affair with a couple of paints by a pukka artist.  A well carved altar table.  All made in the camp.

28th September, Monday

Still no work luckily, as my cold is bad.  Raining most of the morning, played a card game called Hearts.  I find it useful for memorizing the cards played.

29th September, Tuesday

Had to sleep out owing to the bugs, luckily it was a fine night.  No work for me.  A large working party was advised to be ready for work and to take food with me.  Everybody got ready, but no Japs turned up.  It’s still not officially cancelled.

30th September, Wednesday

Some PT under Frankie Walker.  Digging in the new vegetable area.  The working party was called out and had a hard day, not returning until after 6pm.  They stacked empty drums mainly, though one party shifted a lot of aviation gas at John Moray’s; looked like undestroyed stocks of ours.  A ship was noticed with three guns on it, but the centre one and AA was wooden! The Indian guards beat a few chaps for not saluting.  The Japs behave far better than they do.

1st October, Thursday

Wet again, though luckily not at night.  Played hearts for hours.

2nd October, Friday

Gardening in earnest, no working parties outside from this company.  First issue of Red Cross goods, each man received 11/4 lbs sugar, also a ration of ghee and maize flour, which goes directly to the cookhouse.  Also collected $5 from Walker, a godsend.  A class on organic chemistry by Griffiths.

3rd October, Saturday

Large working parties went out.  Some worked shifting line.  I’m glad I was digging.

4th October, Sunday

On a working party as exemptions have been cut down.  We went by lorry to Cantonment Rd camp, about 100 of us were evidently not required as we hung about there all day doing nothing.  The ones who went out had a very hard time.  At tiffin time a few had their faces slapped.  I was sent round picking up waste rice and nearly got slapped for missing some, as a matter of fact I kicked it away.  Bill Paterson had a beating up for buying cakes at the gate.  A sikh policeman was on duty and gave him permission.  A little later an old Chinese hawker omitted to salute the latter, two plain clothes Sikhs brought the hawker back to the policeman, who proceeded to beat him up, after which they tied him to a tree and gave him a further slapping and trod on his bare feet with their heavy boots.  He remained there until the next mata mata arrived on duty and let him go.  We saw lorry load after lorry load of women Nips coming from the docks.

5th Oct, Mon

Working party again.  This time working either at the cabbage patch or opposite.  Started stacking timber then loading lorries with Nip rations, which were taken down and loaded on a large transport.  The latter had a lot of invasion barges on her decks.  At the end of the day we were all searched.  The chap next to me received an awful beating for having some potatoes on him.  He was slapped and kicked and hit with a pole.  An officer intervened and received a wallop with the pole, but managed to get the Nips to desist.  It was the first time any of us had seen an officer make any attempt to help.  The men are full of it.  He was in the RA and I think he’s Graham.  One more chap received a few slaps for the same offence.  When we got back we were counted and recounted, the guards found 12 missing.  After a lot of inquiries they discovered 12 Aussies had gone straight in as they had misunderstood an order.  They were all made to kneel and received a few slaps each and were then marched off to the guardhouse with the interpreter.  They were given a thorough telling off.  The interpreter said at the end that as far as he could see they now required three cheers, which they gave most heartily, much to the surprise of the Nips.  Luckily they saw the funny side of it and sent them back.

6th Oct, Tues 

Same job as yesterday.  Graham of the SDC, late Fraser and Neave, was caught in between the two camps and was tied up outside the Nip guardhouse last night and is still there tonite.  He seems to get a beating now and again, but also receives cigarettes.  Works with the Sikh guards levelling.  We received a tin of jam between two and fifteen toffees each.  The latter are of medicinal value, cod liver oil etc in them.  All this stuff arrived by the last repatriation ship.  We all wonder when we are going to get the stuff that arrived by the fist ship; it went straight to Changi.  A few days ago we were issued with sugar from the same source, so the Nips immediately cut down their issue.  The same occurs automatically when Red X stuff is handed to our QM.

7th Oct, Wed

Loading lorries with crates of beer bottles at a railway siding just across from the Empire docks where the Taliphibius lay grounded and burnt out.  We made three trips with the bottles to the ABC brewery near Alex.  We then loaded up with rubber (RSS old) but stopped outside the station while the guards decided where it was to go.  That was at 3pm.  We eventually dropped the load behind Keppel Police Station at 7pm.  After a trip to a rubber packing plant near the Yacht Club.  A turning off to the left just before the latter.  We saw Carey Island and one or two other estates in Selangor.

8th Oct, Thurs

Rumours that we are shifting.  Stacking timber.  No incidents.

9th & 10th Oct, Fri & Sat

Laying timber for goods to be stacked on it in the godown.

11th Oct, Sun

All leaving for an unknown destination on Monday.  Red X stuff being issued in quantity.  An awful waste as we can’t consume it in time and the Nips are allowing little transport.  Five tins milk, 3 tins bully, 4 M&V, quite a heavy load in itself plus 80 Victory cigarettes, tonic sweets and toffees.  One large tin of jam and one of guavas, both excellent, one tin between two.  We were then told that we must carry everything except a little which could go into a fifth kit bag.  We found that if we only put the tinned stuff in, five would fill a bag.  We tried using a rice bag but the officers were either so scared of the Nips or wanted more space for their own stuff, so would not allow it.  To add to our kit we received a maternity blouse or a new pair of boots.  The kit I had to carry amounted to one kitbag, one haversack, one rucksack and a Red X bag.  I had no valise.

12th Oct, Mon to 20th Oct, Tues

Started off the day by cleaning out the hut.  After an early tiffin we marched across to River Valley Rd to join the rest of the party.  650 travelled in all.  Fuller and I carried our kitbags on a pole, but had to give up owing to the weight.  At the other camp F.  abandoned a tin of dripping and his bedding.  I reached the station absolutely exhausted although I got some of the kit out on to a rickshaw.  The particular guard near me was alright.  But one nearly hacked the shins off a coolie for being near the column.  We were placed in covered steel goods wagons.  Our particular one was a CG 1396; 29 of us in it! Jimmie Green, MacKensie, Billings, Ian Jeffries, Percy Walker, Jimmy Egan, Suggie, Soward, Jimmy and Bill Paterson, Andy Paterson, Derek Barr.  Also Clementson, Giblin, Fritz, Graham, Eric and Alan Hoares, Tommy True, Sandy, Bloomfied, Dan Thompson, Tommy Thompson, Halkett, Joe Potter, Peters and Deighton.  This meant that nobody could lie down.  We tried sleeping in shifts, but were unsuccessful.  We eventually left at 5.30pm.  A few wrecked coaches, etc.  in the station yard but on the whole little damage.  A Jap officer told one Jap that we were going on a fairly long train journey, and then a march in the hills.  Rumour named Port Dickson, Frasers, Camerons, etc.  We reached Gemas at 3am and had rice, etc given to us.  Seremban soon after daylight.  No sanitary arrangements were made whatsoever; consequently there was the unpleasant sight of hundreds of Europeans squatting over the main drain in Seremban station yard.  The sight was duplicated all up the line.  Many of the bridges had been blown up, but had been replaced by wooden ones.  We arrived at KL at about 1pm after nearly 20 hours travel.  The main bridge by the station looked a mess, some said that the Majestic was a shell but cars were in the park and the office seemed to be working.  We received a good meal on the main platform.  Rice, stewed vegetables and dried fish.  Asians without exception were extremely friendly, especially Indians of the kerani type.  Nearly 12 hours to Ipoh, where we arrived at about 1pm.  Little damage.  Club, etc.  floodlit.  Prai in time for a breakfast of rice.  The place looked dead.  Plenty of Nip planes on Sungei Patani drome.  At Padang Besar, the border station, no drinking water, but an English speaking kerani was very helpful and provided boiled water for a few.  Once we were in Thailand we expected to be amongst a hostile population as they had declared war on us, but nobody could have been friendlier.  Selling us potatoes, for 10 cents and large bunches of bananas for the same.  We were the fourth or fifth train load to pass but the novelty did not seem to have worn off.  The station names were all in Thai so we had little idea as to where we were.  Our third night on the train was spent sitting on a kitbag with no legroom.  The whole of the next day we travelled slowly north, eating far too much of the wonderful fruit.  The Thais would insist on trying to talk to us although the guards tried to drive them off, but I noticed that there was no beating up, as there would have been in Singapore.  I spent the fourth night sitting by the door, uncomfortable and cold without sleep.  Added discomfort by at least one and a half hours of shunting off a few trucks they’d added onto the train.  Fairly soon after daylight we arrived at Ban Pong.  Evidently about 40 miles west of Bangkok.  We then staggered off, literally about a mile, to a camp, where we found 300 or 400 of our chaps.  It seemed a pretty place.  We were allotted a long hut with sleeping platforms around 8 inches off the mud floor, which was lucky, as the alley was covered in anything up to a foot of water.  The hospital hut was the worst of all, the orderlies had to wade, many patients were suffering from leg sores so had to have everything done for them.  Dr Macintosh was there, doing good work.  We were told that we would have two nights there, and then start on a long march, and were advised to carry as little as possible as only one kitbag between five men would get transport; all other kit must be carried or left behind, with no promise of it being forwarded.  We fell in just before dawn and were told that the march for the day was at least 17 miles.  But as the Japs used the km, there were sure to be muddles.  A long straight road with no shade, heavy going, although I was only carrying the rucksack and my water bottle with my blanket in a cape slung in front.  I did not feel too bad for the first three hours, but during the fourth we kept starting and stopping, which was hell in the boiling sun.  Eventually I fell out as I was so bad having done about 17 and a half miles.  I doubt whether I would have got as far as that if it had not been for the Thais who showered fruit on us, especially limes and oranges.  Each village had bottles of water outside most of the house and shops.  I fell out and went into the shade by a couple of regulars and was given water by a Thai.  A Nip Red X orderly came along and told us to go and join a crowd of others…there as soon as we felt better.  There we found about 20 others who were being showered with bananas and pomelos, so many that a lot had to be refused.  Then a Chinese towkay came along and insisted on leaving a large bunch.  After a while we got a lift in a lorry to the next camp.  The line of march seemed to extend for miles, very few being fresh enough to keep formation.  The general estimate for the march was 20 miles.  The camp was quite pleasant but the latrines, etc.  had been left in a filthy condition by an earlier party.  With the solitary well out of bounds until late, we decided to bathe in a stream running beside the road, in full view of the passers by.  They then called for volunteers to help in the cookhouse.  Jimmy Green, Bill Paterson, Jock Burnett and I, went and spent some time cutting vegetables.  While we were doing that a Nip came along and asked if we’d prepare the stew for breakfast provided we got a lift for the next days march.  As it was supposed to be 12 miles, we agreed.  The Nips in charge were friendly and helped, giving us plenty to eat and drink and cigarettes.   We worked until 2am, had a couple of hours sleep and then helped clean the cookhouse, being free about an hour after the others marched off.  One lorry turned up early but nothing turned up for us until the afternoon.  Consequently we reached the other camp after most of the marchers arrived.  There was accommodation for a few in long huts and in tents meant to hold 12, where 35 were crammed in.  In view of that we made a bivouac with our groundsheets.  Jimmy Green, Johnny and Bill Paterson, Derek Barr, and Saunders squeezed in.  Luckily on the first couple of nights there was only a slight drizzle.   The camp was an old drome called something like Kanchanaburi.  The drome had evidently been abandoned owing to size but Amy Johnson was supposed to have landed there.  Our first morning there was a medical inspection.  I was classed ’B’ as my heart was working a bit, the doc Pavillard, thought a days rest would put things right.  The rest i.e.  ‘A’ category were to march the next day.  Everybody was keen to get away as there were no adequate washing facilities, one pipe to supply 600 men and the water was not on in that whole time as the Japs only worked the pumps at intervals and the storage tanks were small.  The fit duly marched off and we were left to clear the camp.  I developed scrotum trouble and was told by the doctor that if transport was available for the rest of the journey I was to take it.  After messing about for another day, they decided that the whole camp was to be cleared, including the hospital.  I was in the latter batch.  We’ve formed up early in the morning, including a lot of chaps who could hardly walk, but were delayed by a cloudburst, which flooded everything.  Once it was over we marched about a mile through Kanchanaburi, which had been a walled town.  I’d like to look over it under happier circumstances.  We were loaded into tonkangs.  The worst of the sick, mainly from sores, were in a closed one with the doc, Capt Stone, whilst I and 34 others were in another open tongkang.  As rations we had five four gallon tins of Jap biscuits, and a little rice with two camp kettles and a dixie.  We started off by being towed by a small diesel launch.  A really old affair which burnt mainly coconut oil and was started with a blowlamp.  We chugged along at two or three knots, the engine misfiring fairly frequently.  At dusk we halted near a kampong and rejoined seven or eight other tongkangs, including a group with Frankie Walker (Capt) in charge.  No sooner had we stopped than it started to rain.  It was an absolute nightmare climbing up a steep bank in the dark.  We made cocoa but could not take it to the chaps on the tongkang owing to the bank.  We just sat round a fire and shivered.  A friendly Thai took quite a few into his shack and gave them food and shelter.  The Thais without exception treated us as friends.  In fact the general treatment we have received from them has been better than anything we received in Malaya.  Nips are careful in their treatment of them but take full advantage of any incidents.  At Ban Pong one drew a knife on a Nip guard, he was tied p and beaten at intervals.  We heard him yelling during the night and understood he was shot in the morning.  Another was beaten for trying to buy clothes from the troops.  I tried to buy oranges from a woman but only had Nip Straits cash.  She took one look at it and refused it.  I turned to go away but she said something and gave me some toffees.  We spent a miserable night which was only brightened by a bright spark pinching some green papayas which were stewed and eaten with rice.  During the early hours of the morning we heard a tug start up.  We rushed down on to the beach to see it in midstream.  We worked on the backs of the various tongkangs where we were left three or four hours in the pouring rain until daylight.  We had difficulty in getting on in the morning so there was a certain amount of face slapping as the start had been delayed.  As our engine refused to play we drifted back to Kanchanaburi to get another; the trip took two hours! When we got down there we asked for further supplies as in addition to wasting a day we found two tins of biscuits were mouldy.  The Sergeant i/c refused, so we started off decidedly short.  Luckily we still had a large supply of cocoa.  We continued steadily all day except for a stop for decarbonising when we took the opportunity for a swim.  A few miles from Kanchanaburi we came across a solitary British soldier fishing, it looked really odd as there seemed to be nothing but jungle, but a little further on we came across an encampment where the men had been quite a while.  Some had been in Ban Pong since June, including Doc McIntosh.  Just after dusk we came to a Nip camp, five of us were told to come ashore.  We were taken to the cookhouse where we carried water etc for the Nip cooks, who were very friendly.  They gave us a very good meal, passed cigarettes and peanut toffee around.  It was a rather pleasant surprise; I couldn’t see our cooks turning out cheerfully to cook for POW’s.  We spent a chilly but fine night there and had a breakfast of rice flavoured with tinned salt cucumber, which the Nips gave us on parting.  The next days trip was uneventful but through very attractive country.  Much better than Malaya; warm but much drier with a cool breeze.  Once we were clear of Kanchanaburi it seemed absolutely undeveloped.  The bird life was very pretty, there being many varieties.  In particular I noticed Kingfishers and wild fowl, the latter looked like a bantam.  At Ban Pong we saw a species of vulture besides crows.  The jungle seemed to consist mainly of bamboo.  We passed other small parties of POW’s delayed owing to engine trouble.  Nobody seemed to worry, the guards, in most cases a couple of xx of xxx privates were inoffensive.  That night we camped near a Thai kampong.  A young guard wandered off with his rifle early the next morning and soon returned with a goose.  I think he bought it, but the effect was amusing.  He kept it for his pals, but we managed to buy plenty of bananas.  We travelled for most of the day without seeing any signs of life except one POW camp and an occasional kampong.  We spent the night in the open but did not sleep too well owing to the cold.  I shared blankets with Billy Bragg, even then we could not keep warm although we had three thicknesses of blankets over us.  A large fire was a godsend.  No breakfast, except a mug of cocoa, as all supplies were finished.  We arrived at the base camp (Tarsau) to find it only partially finished.  No washing facilities except the river, and there the bush was very thick.  There was little accommodation; most of the chaps seemed to have slept in open where it was very damp owing to the trees.  There we met most of the walkers, who’d had a hell of a time, a lot of it being through padi fields, with hardly any food.  We really appreciated how lucky we’d been to get transport.  After being checked we were bundled back into tongkangs.  At noon just before setting off we were given a little stewed vegetable flavoured with dried prawn.  Not very satisfactory as our first meal that day.  We were then towed down to the camp (Wampo) we’d noticed the day before.  We found we’d have to sleep in the open again as there were some 1172 men in the camp with accommodation for about half.  Luckily plenty of attaps were available, so we made a little shack.  I shared with Jimmy Green, Bill Paterson, and Dereck Barr.  The next day three tents were erected but were insufficient to house all; eventually a new hut was completed.  Ours was to be the next one built.  Once the camp is completed it should be a good one as the drains are good.  The view of mountains and river is superb.  As usual sanitary leaves much to be desired.  The lavs are not to bad, but much too near the huts.  Washing etc is done in the river.  Owing to working hours the latter is difficult.  We start moving just before dawn, which is between 7.30 and 0800 Tokyo time, work from 0930 to 1, then 3 to 7pm.  By the time we are fed it is too dark to get to the river as the banks are steep.  On 2.11.42 they cut down the tiffin hours so are able to let us off at 6.30pm, which improves matters a bit.  Our main complaint is the food, which consists of rice and tea, with vegetable stew every now and again.  The latter has no food value and it is composed mostly of gourds that look like watermelons.  We had a slight taste of fish, which was got by dynamiting the river.  Lovely fish was caught, but not enough.  The camp is absolutely dependant on tongkangs for transport.  We’re evidently here to build a railway into Burma.  By the looks of it I think we must be following in poor old Trader Horne’s footsteps.  Lots of chaps are drinking the river water, there are many cases of dysentery ahead.

 3-11-42

We are still in our shack but hope to be in main hut soon as we’ve spent the last couple of days building it.  Rather like the Havelock Rd one but only one storey, thank God.  Today I’ve had an easy time as I’ve been standing by in case the Nips need a working party.  Everybody weaker, even some Vegemite only helps a very little.  I brought along two small tins and have opened one but am keeping the other one until one of us is seriously ill.  Bill Paterson’s legs are in an awful condition with sores but are improving slowly.  Two of our chaps had to kill a pig for the Japs but we won’t benefit by it.  Most of us are very short of kit as the Nips told us at Kanchanaburi that the five in one kitbags would not be sent up for months.  At the same time they told the marchers to carry the minimum and promised that anything they left at Kanchanaburi would be forwarded at once.  We’ve been here nearly a week but no signs of any.  I’m luckier as I left nothing there, but all my footwear except the boots I’m wearing is in the… at Ban Pong.  Little to no reading matter is a curse, even though we have little time to read.  I finished the first volume of ‘Tom Jones’ on the way up in the tongkang.  I only hope the second volume turns up from Kanchanaburi.  Our fear here is scorpions and centipedes.  We killed nine of the former and one of the latter amongst our attap.  I actually found three dead scorpions which had evidently been squashed by me during the night.  Their bites are painful but not very dangerous.  I forgot to mention that one of the first sights that greeted us at the base camp was a copy of the inscription to be placed over the grave of a Pte Wilson of the RASC who’d been drowned with a Nip on the trip up.  In addition a Sergeant in a county battalion died of heart failure on reaching the drome.  He fell down through exhaustion and a guard fired a shot over his head to hurry him on.  The authorities eventually took a serious view of the whole thing, which may have accounted for our guard’s good behaviour.  
4.11.42

Still building the hut.  Showery weather.  The food no better.  Many down with dysentery and signs of beriberi.  Young Hutchison of the Gordon’s critically ill, having to be fed through the anus.  One bit of poetic justice, Imfu? late D&I dept is in charge of the hand pump.

7.11.42

Hutchison died that night.  If ever a man was murdered by the Japs, he was.  Dr Pavillard worked like a trojan, but was hopelessly handicapped by lack of supplies.  I only hope he gets due recognition after the war.  He seems to get everywhere, besides marching the whole way, he was often seen marching back to look after chaps who had fallen out.  Evidently Hutchison’s intestines were perforated and in his weak state not even a major operation would have saved him.  A funeral is always a grim sight but this one was the worst I’ve ever seen.  Most of the chaps there were naked, their kit being left at the drome.  In addition to that a lot were skeletons from the semi starvation diet.  The padre was the same and in addition could hardly stand.  The Nip guards fell in clear of the main party.  While the padre read the service they stood to attention.  As the coffin was lifted up they all bowed politely towards it.  The padre in a sports shirt and shorts was carried in a rough bamboo affair by four men.  The grave on the Jap’s suggestion was near the proposed railway there would be more chance of it being looked after.  They are queer blighters with far more respect for the dead than for the living.  The coffin was covered by a union Jack and in addition the deceased belt and cap and a couple of bananas placed on it.  There were no flowers available.  The latter may have been a Nip gesture.  I did not go the graveside but I know the usual bugle calls were given and a piper played ‘The Flowers of the Forest’.  The next day I developed a sore throat and reported sick.  Meanwhile Dr Pavilard saw my throat and gave me some tablets to suck and told me to report back at noon, when he would let me know whether a bedspace was available.  There was just one.  The hospital is a long bamboo and attap building with sleeping platforms on either side except at one end where there is a small M.I room and an isolation room.  The present inmate had his appendix out the day before yesterday and is progressing satisfactorily.  Luckily there was a RAMC doctor to help Pavillard.  The main cases are diarrhea and dysentery, but there are a few cases of fever, and three of us with sore throats.  Jack King and Bill Paterson are in with Singapore foot and sores respectively.  The sanitary arrangements are a little nearer but otherwise very little different.  Water is difficult and we are lucky if we get a wash a day.  Even then it is a basin between three.  We are lying practically touching each other, which is not too bad if the other chaps breath is alright, unfortunately I’m unlucky on one side.  All volunteers are together, which is lucky as we have nothing in common with the regular rank and file.  I believe our disease has been diagnosed as something sounding like ‘Keating amnesia’, whatever that is! All I know is that I’ve got a very sore throat and my temperature rises and falls fairly frequently, though it had been steady today.  The doctor and orderly do their damnedest for us but the old rules of hygiene have to by the board.  We do practically everything for ourselves.  A pail of water is placed in the centre of the floor for washing our feeding utensils.  I’ve used the water in my bottle so far.  Wallace took his down to the river.  The orderly missed him, when I told him the reason, he said “ He’s mighty particular”.  I’m afraid I am too, as I don’t want dysentery on top of this.  Clarke of Planter’s Stores, KL, looks like a living skeleton as do many of the others.  Luckily the atmosphere is drier than Malaya.  Otherwise it would be really unpleasant as some of the chaps have only the clothes they stand up in.  Thanks to my tongkang trip I’m a bit better off.  The food is the same as for the rest of the camp but we get a few pleasant additions.  Yesterday the Nips gave us a pig, a fairly small one, but a pleasant one; as there were 1171 to share it with out with our portion was small, although we had more than the fit.  We also had a little stewed chicken, really stewed veg with a smell of chicken, but it tasted good to us.  Today we had stewed papaya and bananas.  The doc also produced a fruit, which seemed a cross between a lime and a lemon.  A dash on the rice was excellent.  There are three diets: liquid, light and ordinary.  The first consists of tea, marmite and tinned milk.  The second has rice in addition to milk.

 10.11.42

 Still in hospital but throat practically normal.  The thorough rest has done me a lot of good.  Pity there isn’t more food but Pavillard does wonders with what there is.  I didn’t know I had so many bones in my body; the bamboo bed frame finds them all.  A cape and layer of blanket is really not sufficient but unfortunately the hospital has nothing in that way.  It is really difficult for the really thin chaps, and I’ve still some fat too lose.  Yet another death, the Cpl.  in the Norfolks nearly recovered from his appendix, but unfortunately died from a clot of blood in the early hours of the morning.

11.11.42

Funeral of the Corporal in the Norfolks who died from the operation.  I was discharged from hospital as the space was required and my throat was nearly okay.  Near me in hospital was Hannay of the SSVF, a son of old Major Hannay of Ipoh.  Mary Hannay got a job as a stenographer on Wavell’s staff and got away to Java.  Major and Mrs were in Changi jail, but got separated.  The first the old man knew that his wife was ill was when he saw her carried away on a stretcher.  He heard through friends that she was seriously ill with dysentery.  He did everything to get Nip permission to see her, but there was nothing doing until later.  When he arrived he was too late, she’d died the day before.  He is 68 and she was 62.  Rather needless for the Nips to separate them.

15.11.42

One more death in hospital.  A man in the Sherwoods.  A mixture of diseases; beriberi and dysentery  being the main ones.  Doc Pavillard went off with Pearson, who speaks Thai, to Kanchanaburi to get more medicines.  Food is no better, one pig a week between 1100 odd being only enough for one weak ration of stew per man.  Otherwise, food is as described as earlier.  The throat is still wrong, but I should be out working soon.  All the barang, or most of it, left at Ban Pong has turned up.  All my stuff arrived safely but I was one of the luckier ones.  We are certain the thieving is by own people, not the Nips.  The 9th coast RA are amongst the worst offenders, but they are difficult to spot.  A rifled haversack was found in the latrine trench this morning.

16.11.42

Had the best meal for tiffin that we’ve had for ages.  Rice tea, and fried dried fish, let’s hope that means we are on the way to more nourishing food.  Our other trouble is water.  The river is in semi-flood and the colour is the consistency of strong coffee.  So thick in fact that the filter pump had to be changed often, every three or four buckets.  Washing clothes is the river is hopeless and there is not enough filter water.  As for bathing it is hopeless.

20.11.43

Two deaths yesterday.  One dysentery and one drowned (5).  One early this morning from the former cause.  Further death in evening (6).  The food is improving very little.  Pork stew roughly every third day, but it is very weak.  Tiffin is usually plain rice and tea.  So far we’ve managed to add either dripping or bully from our private stock, but only a few are in that lucky state.  Pavillard has returned with a good supply of dope.  He seemed to have had an amusing time at the drome.  The Nips let him have a late pass.  The Nip officer pointed out that Pav was also an officer and asked him to see that the Nip guard did not get into trouble! A British plane was seen over Kanchanaburi, let’s hope something will happen soon.

22.11.42
Working on earthway embankment, little progress as the Nips worry about levelling so much.  They found the body of the drowned chap last night and buried him at once in the moonlight, 10.30.  Pavillard had an appendix op to do by torchlight last night.  Nips talking about finishing the railway in 1945.  So we have four kilometres to do by March 30th, when we go to Ban Pong for a yasumi during the wet season.

23.11.42

MacLeod of the MVC died today (7), dysentery followed by a throat infection.  Working in the earthway digging for the embankment and carrying as well.

24.11.42

Another death in the Foresters (8).  Working on the usual task, a metre per man per day to be shifted, fairly easy as we work 25 mins a half hour and rest as we are in two gangs.  We dug a culvert, they are adding wooden rivetting.  I wonder how long they intend it to last.

25.11.42

Pickard of the SVC died (9) last night.  Not strong enough to recover from the appendix op, although blood transfusion was tried.  Nips would not allow a case of appendix to be operated on, insisted that he should be taken down river.  They gave five mins warning of a launch leaving.  The man was hurried out but when they got down to the jetty the launch was in midstream and the Nips refused to put back.  
26.11.42

The above case got away today, he was down there before the appointed time.  A plane was over yesterday, the first here so far, during the early hours of the morning- more passed over.  We only hope they are ours.

27.11.42

Our first day off for 16 days.  No further deaths but another suspected appendix thought to be due to the mica suspended in the river water.  Anyway he’s been sent down river.  Instead of letting us have a proper holiday the powers that be, not the Nips, insisted on reorganising us.  The Nips wanted smaller section but instead of just shortening the existing sections, our officers made fresh lists, in a lot of cases they split up kongsis, in no case did they consult the senior NCO’s.  Typical of our volunteer officers.  They decided to put all the MT personnel in one section but even then they managed to give us two outsiders and put two of ours with the 9th Coast RA.  Walker is away, so had nothing to do with this, but he’s so ineffectual that his presence would have made little difference.  What was left I spent dhobiing and bathing.  The weather is delightful.  Cold nights, my blanket is insufficient, with cool sunny days, rather like Pindi that time last year, but no dust.

1.12.42

Still arguing about the rearrangements….two K.P/R chaps applied for interviews with their CO’s but so far they’ve been fobbed off.  St Andrews last night.  The 2/Gordons got up a concert which was attended by the Nip commandant who presented a bottle of spirits, a tin of fish and cigarettes for the three best turns which were judged by our people.  A haggis was piped on and Andy Paterson made the usual incantation.  It was sampled by the Nip commandant amongst others.  It was made of rice, fat, etc in a pig’s bladder.  The turns were quite good.  John Leach sang the Lost Chord and one or two others sang.  A concert solo.  Pipe solo; incidentally the piper played a lot of the marchers up.  Piano accordion solos and Highland dances.  It was a weird sight, two bonfires illuminated the gathering with a couple of Damar torches on either side of the stage, an earth platform.  When the anthem was sung the Nips stood at attention.  They do behave queerly, the guards are armed with our rifles and bayonets, the other day one saw a wild fowl and handed his rifle to a chap who fired a shot but only hit the tail feathers.  Some of the 9th Coast RA have managed to bring queer loot with them, we saw them showing glasses, champagne and hock and box camera to Nip guards with a view to sale.  One was actually boiling water in a silver teapot.

5.12.42

Since the reorganization our section has been in camp working on a filtration pit.  Interesting work but unfortunately there are too many chaps who think they are engineers.  Starky Cameron is the CSM, but Dough Yews is now giving the advice under Sammy.

6.12.42

Heard last night that Henry Mills died at 5am yesterday morning at Tarsau.  He seemed to have recovered from an appendix op when he had a relapse.  Tragic, as he was cured of a bad stomach wound.  We have had no further deaths in this camp but feel the mica in the water may cause further trouble.  Food is little better but we actually had a rissole last night which improved the vegetable stew and eternal rice.  The canteen was selling six small dried fish for ten cents.  Unfortunately I had no money but had an egg on credit which Derek Barr fried.

9.12.42

We had our yasumi yesterday.  Spent the morning in dhobing clothes in the river and the afternoon in drying them and sewing my blanket into a bag and a few rags, as the nights are so cold.  According to an SVC chap the temperature was down to 62.  I know I could not get my feet warm although I was wearing a pair of army socks, long khaki trousers and shirt, a battledress blouse (thin) with the pullover worn over my legs and tummy.  Thanks to the fleabag I was terribly warm last night.  The Nips were celebrating the first anniversary of the war yesterday, saluting towards Tokyo.  In the evening they had a lot of drink and a concert, our Col Gregor being roped in.  He had his share of the booze.  On Monday we were taken off our well and put back on the railway.  Trimming banks, hard work as the Hawes Bros were not pulling their weight.  Starky Cameron is a bit difficult, but the latter two do not help him.  Two eggs actually sold to us today.

12.12.42

Derek Bar received a copy of a wireless message from Aust stating that olive and sister-in-law arrived safely.  Wonderful news for him.  Food improving, we now get a fried cake or rissole every evening which improves the rice and veg stew, also pork the other day, a pig between 1600 men now.  Dr Pavillard returned for a trip to Kanchanburi.  Not so successful as the Nips did now play, mainly owing to the guard with them.  The commandant was as annoyed as Pearson, the Thai interpreter was asked to obtain things for him but was unable to, the guard collected a raspberry, so no doubt things will be sticky next time.  He ordered 15 sacks of bran but was refused them as they said the Nips should provide them! He managed to secure two.  Two Gordons were left on the track to guard tools during the tiffin hours.  The guard noticed them from the river so insisted on collecting and bringing them back to camp, much to the disgust of the other guards.

19.12.42.

Since I last wrote we’ve had an inspection of our work by a Nip general yesterday.  He walked rapidly by us, hardly glancing at us.  I’m not sure which he was as there were two officers with strings of medal ribbons.  A few moments before, the guard had been explaining that when we heard the bugle we must look out for him and be ready to come to attention.  Unfortunately he came from the opposition direction and there was no time for the guard to salute.  After he’d passed the guards were much more human.  They’d been driving us a bit.  Our tasks are up to 1 and a half cubic metres per man.  Mainly the fault of the Gordons, who were given a three-day task and told that they could have any time they saved as a holiday.  They stopped their shifts and finished it in 1½ days.  Food no better although we get something fresh each day and two spoons of beans.

22.12.42

The work was so hot and tiring on Sat that I saw the doctor and was made Att: C from 5am.  Going back to work today, 12 or 13 days without a holiday.  Too much, especially as the cool weather seems to be over.  The kit bag for putting my feet in was only necessary for a few days.

24.12.42

I got another pc off to you today, little info in it, but at least it will tell you that I am still ok.  As we are allowed to give an address, I hope that there may be a reply.  We had a hell of a day digging yesterday.  All of us, Derek Barr, Ian Jefffries, Pat Stewart, Doug Yews and Walker felt finished by the time they got back at 6pm.  Today is the grimmest Xmas eve I have had the whole time.  I keep on thinking of this time last year, when we were together.  I’m afraid I must have been terribly bad tempered and worrying to you.  I only hope this experience has taught me to be more understanding.  This low diet is making all of us irritable and bad tempered.  We spent this morning out on the railway cutting up bamboo for firewood, which they are using to break rocks on the track.  We were allowed home to a tiffin of vegetable stew, rice and tea at noon.  It was tasteless and was only saved by a spoonful of chilli sauce from Sammy Sanders for the section.  Three bottles at 12c per man.  After this repast we acted as beaters, anything shot to be sent to our cookhouse as part of the Nip contribution to Xmas.  Our party was lined up one metre apart and told to beat forward in a line.  The undergrowth was impenetrable; we chose the line of least resistance and wandered along in single file.  We put up a jungle fowl, which was not shot luckily, perhaps as I don’t think the guards are particularly good shots.  They were armed with our .303’s and their own service rifles.  The total bag was nil.  Our party after wandering about in circles eventually got back to the railway.  Dinner was the usual pork stew, one pig to1600 odd men, a pasty - mainly rice – and the usual tea.  Luckily Derek Barr added a vegetable stew of brinjals and beans he’d found in an abandoned Thai kampong.  Afterwards we sat round fires while a carol party wandered around the camp.  Ian Thompson’s section received a lot of samsu from their guards.  De Marco kindly gave us a sip, it was a bit fiery.  The Nips gave us three packets of peanut and rice toffee per man.  They got very annoyed when they found chaps eating it on roll call parade, but there was no face slapping.  Hot milk and water.

25.12.43

Xmas day… from Bill Paterson’s supply.  Our particular guard gave us 3 cigs each.  I exchanged mine for Jeremy Erwins toffee.  Shooting most of the morning.  Tiffin the same as yesterday, but Derek opened a tin of salmon.  Immediately after, the Nips dynamited the river, chaps had great fun collecting the fish, especially as the fish were only stunned and jumped when touched.  Afterwards there was a cricket match against the officers.  The batsmen, scorer etc, sitting in the Nip guardhouse, the latter cheerfully sitting behind.  Went down for an evening bathe with Derek Barr and Bill Paterson to find stunned fish still rising.  Bill caught three beauties.  My effort was about the size of a sardine, which got away.  Dinner was early and a pleasant surprise, usual rice but a decent spoonful of crackling, ditto of minced pork and a pumpkin pasty and tea afterwards.  It sounds little but actually it was more than ample.  Then the nine lessons and carol service with solos by Leach, really a good service.  On returning from it we found the Nip guard had produced  half a water bottle of samsu, also Suggie and Derek had cooked the fish which was excellent.  Unfortunately I only had room for the soup.  Followed by a concert.  The Nips attended but were unobtrusive.  At the end Col Lilley made a very good speech, rubbing in to the Nips their promise to improve the rations as the road is now through the drome to Tarsau the camp above here.  So ended Xmas day, far better than we anticipated.  The Nips are keeping clear I did not notice any sentries.  In any event there is no wire whatsoever surrounding the camp.

Boxing day

Usual working day.  We were cutting bamboo all day.  Managed to collect many scratches.

27.12.42

Showered last night, the first for many weeks.  At three am heard planes overhead, seemed at least six.  Hope they were ours.  A lone one was over about noon on Xmas eve.  We were near the head of the railway, tidying the sides of the embankment, really marking time.  As the guard seemed most keen that we should place red earth instead of darker stuff.

28.12.42

Now back at the old job of cutting down bamboos for the fire.  Jeff and I took our tiffin out with us as we thought we’d avoid yesterday’s long walk of 25 mins each way.  Tiffin consisted of rice left from breakfast, peas and hard boiled egg and two bananas, with cold tea in the water bottle.  The guards wandered off so I had a really peaceful read.  Derek Barr and Bill Paterson found some brinjals in an abondoned Thai garden, so had them boiled.  We mean to do the same tomorrow.

31.12.42

First year over.  I can only hope that 1943 will bring peace.  Pearson returned from Ban Pong and Kanchanaburi last night.  He’d been down there with Frankie Walker trying to buy goods for the canteen.  He returned by lorry to Tarsau and came down from there by tongkang.  Walker is still in Ban Pong waiting for the Nips to supply transport for the purchases.  Pearson’s news was encouraging.  He heard our planes on Boxing Day and heard heavy bombing towards the coast.  The guards came rushing into his hut telling them all to stay in and added: ‘English soldiers no speak’.  The guards took to their slit trenches.  They do not see eye to eye with the Thais, in a fracas one Thai was killed and one Nip officer and six OR’s.  Owing to sniping they are not using the Kanchanaburi road after dark.  All to the good.  A holiday today and tomorrow as it is a Nip special holiday.  A cricket match and a concert tonight.  We’ve had most of the morning occupied by talks, some really interesting.  Major Swanton on Hendren and ‘ Sporting Memories’, Corke on the ‘Volunteers’ a gunner on ‘Tales of a barman, he was at the Criterion.  Another cricket match yesterday.  Very successful concert in the evening.  Opening chorus with V signs and backcloth ditto dead with Nip green mosquito nets, as was the curtain.  Union Jack draped over the back of the stage.  At midnight a large one was carried through the ...  and towards the stage where… Col Lilley was talking.  All the Nip officers present actually….
1.1.43

In his speech Col Lilley expressed the fervent hope that next year’s eve would be with our loved ones.  I only hope that you are having a cheerful time and not worrying.  I’ve still got the photos of you and have managed to retain the ring you gave me, although many Nips have cast eyes on it.  In most cases “wifo presento” is sufficient to put them off.  We all feel that we will be free this year.  Usual roll call at 9am but otherwise are being left alone, yesterday was a partial holiday.  I’ve had a quiet day as some bamboo scratches on my leg are not too good.  One cannot be too careful as many chaps have awful ulcers.  I’ve also the usual sore throat and ulcerated mouth which are attributed to malnutrition.  Ian had boiled brinjals with… in addition to curry powder, green chillies and two eggs, this added to our usual rice and veg meal, quite a tasty meal.  Two pieces of peanut toffee and eggs are all we’ve been able to get through the canteen.  There were soccer games this morning, one against the Nips, who played quite a reasonable game and were beaten 1-0.  This day had started rather as Xmas day did by people wishing each other the compliments of the season.  This as well as “Who’s the bastard who stole my socks?”
2.1.43

Another partial holiday day, roll call and firewood collecting until 11am then free for the rest of the day.  Supposed to be cricket before tiffin but the Nips monopolised the pitch for soccer, they are learning quite well.  A change for tiffin; I managed to collect some wild spinach, which when cooked tasted excellent with the addition of green chillies, brinjals, and our normal rice and veg.  The brinjals taste rather like gooseberries than the brinjals we used to get in Malaya.  Chinese tukangs are now living in the end of two of our huts.  Friendly, but unfortunately only two or three speak their dialects, they are from Bangkok.  Many beards are coming off for the New Year, so far Maurice, Pat Miles, Roy Moltan and Mac… have succumbed so far whilst Derek Barr and Bill Paterson are growing them.  I’ve managed to remain clean-shaven since Havelock Rd by shaving once in three days.  I’ve used one blade for nearly three months so should be able to last out.  Sitting on the bank of the river in my birthday suit, shaving without a mirror, can be amusing.  An amusing concert run by the Nips; turns were given by them, the Chinese workmen, and some of our chaps.  It was the usual stage with large bonfires, the rising sun replacing the Union Jack.  The turns began with the blowing of a whistle.  Our Nip played the mouth organ then asked everybody to join in the chorus.  Much to our surprise, his version of the chorus was the national anthem.  Few joined in but most did heartily on the word  ‘Victorious’.  They had a gramophone on the side of the stage but hardly anybody heard it as the guard in charge was very drunk.  The Nip parade in the evening was a farce as they were all in varying stages of drunkenness.  The chap in the front rank bowed and received for his pains a large kick in the seat from the rear rank chap.  This went on for some time with all the POW’s standing around laughing.

3.1.43

Out on the upstream end of the task, wielding a slashing knife.  A pleasant easy day, stayed out to get tiffin, which was very much improved by salt.  Derek managed to get me a packet yesterday for 20 sultanas.

4.1.43

Crabby of the SVC died last night of complications following diptheria.  The tenth death in this camp.  But the eleventh as far as the community is concerned as the downstream appendix op was not a success.

8.1.43

Received a note from the Pater dated 18.9.42.  It was evidently found in a rail truck.  A bit of luck recovering it.  I only hope he is fit now as at the time he was recovering from gall bladder trouble.  He received my letter giving address of friends in case of repatriation.  We are still on the jungle clearing job and enjoying it.  One guard thought he heard a large animal so went to investigate with Starkey Cameron.  In a short time he returned with Starky’s measuring stick, having left Starkey with the .303.  Rumours of the Burma offensive; only hope its true.

11.1.43

The other day a hamadryad was caught and eaten.  The chap said it tasted like something between chicken and fish! Some have also tried moles and found them like hare! So far I’ve dodged this kind of meat though I sometimes long for a decent steak and often think of our parties at Firpo’s and Sam’s.  A year is over since I saw you last; it seems like ten.  Churchill’s speech makes us all hope we’ll be free soon.  Yesterday, as usual, we had our tiffin in the jungle by the track.  I spent a while day dreaming and going over our trip on leave together.  I am afraid you must have found me very trying.  I hope I’ll be able to make it up to you.  A holiday today.  Spent the morning doing the usual dhobi.  We had another issue of rock salt, about a pint a man for five cents.  It will make a great difference.  We are putting a portion of ours in an old beer bottle and are adding water which we will sprinkle over our food as we think it will make it last longer.  Collected 20 cigarettes for 12 cents and had a good smoke, which will last me some time.  Rumoured 300 chaps had their faces slapped at Camp 2.  Also Thai army inaction in north against Chinese.

12.1.43

Still cleaning, Sammy and Suggie out on the job again.  The former’s first effort.  Got covered by itching hairs from a creeper.  Most uncomfortable.  Joe Potter returned from a quick trip to Tarsau Camp as a friend of his, Jock Brown, who’d gone up from this camp for treatment, was seriously ill.  He arrived up there to find he’d died two days before.  The 12th death connected with this camp.  He was very decently treated by the Nips but came back at once.  Nip wounded passed through by barge, evidently after a brush with Chinese guerillas.

13.1.43

 Same job but Nips are not pressing us and no one was overworked.  Extremely cold last night, temperature about 50 c.  My blanket seemed made of thin cotton.  Even with my feet wrapped in it and placed in a kit bag they were still cold.  I was wearing socks, trousers, shirt and battle blouse with the maternity blouse round my middle.  Even then I shivered.  Many chaps spent most of the night round fires.  We were afraid that the Nips would stop our blazing fires but so far they have done nothing.  There were some funny sights in the morning, as the temperature had dropped chaps pilled clothes on.  One was in a mac with a shirt over the lot.  Another with blue shorts over khaki bags.

14.1.43
Evening meal, had our first meal of buffalo meat, about one… piece tough, but a great change.  During the tiffin hour Bill Paterson and I climbed a hill behind our task, it was at least 600’ high so had a good view of the surrounding country.  Most attractive, but line after line of fairly high hills extending to the western horizon with a large valley going roughly south east.  The hill was clad throughout with bamboo, so it was easy to get there, though steep.  First day our task, 1x30 metres per man.  Slashing was easy and we finished very early but did not point it out to the guard as we have no wish to have it increased.  Eventually started home at 3.30 instead of usual 5pm.  As we had a tiffin break from 1 to 2pm instead of from 12.30 to 3pm.  We didn’t return from our climb until 3pm but nothing was said.  The Nip didn’t miss us.  If he had somebody would have said we’d gone for a banjo i.e.  gone to see a man about a dog.  Another side of their nature was shown this morning when we noted a Thai kneeling by a guardhouse fire with his arms tied behind his back, odd guards came up looking at him.  Two of them kicked him, one getting him at the back of the neck.  The rest thought this was very funny and roared with laughter.  Nobody knew what his crime was.

18.1.43

A party of about 150 left for Wamp South,a  camp about 2 ½ miles downriver.  About 50 FMSVF went, I was standing by as reserve in case anyone went sick at the last moment.  I was against going as it would mean separating from the MT crowd.  The clearing north is nearly finished, but until a way can be blasted round a cliff just beyond Wampo North camp where we have been having our tiffin for the last few days.  Today we were issued with digging tools, which sounds bad.  A lot of petty arguing over the cookhouse which started with the unequal portions of buffalo meat issued to CSM Worthington and CSM Shaw taking his place.  There was immediate improvement as he started with the next issue of buffalo meat.  He’s a warder from Changi, rumoured to feather his own nest so it will be interesting to see what happens as the rations issued allow little or no surplus.  Bought a fish-hook for 10 cents in case we get left high and dry by the Nips.  An optimistic thought, but possible if all the rumoured news is anywhere near true.

19.1.43

Three large four engined planes with twin rudders passed over from SSE to NW while we were having tiffin at the upper camp.  We are digging the railway embankment, have been given a three day task of felling timber, means that we dig out less than 2 ½ metres per man per day as stumps are left and covered up.  Any roots etc being dug up are thrown in.

22.1.43

We started on our next three day task, a fairly easy one having finished the last one with almost one half hour to spare.  We hope to do better this time as we learned a lot from the regulars on either side of us.  We started fairly well by placing a stump in the middle and two large… near the side.  Yesterday a friendly guard saw one going in and yelled out:
“ No goodo officer seeo.” much to everybody’s amusement.  The new broom is still sweeping very clean, the food is very much better.  A beef pasty, very tasty stew filled with veg including some cabbage and onions.  The former is the first we’ve had for a year.

25.1.43

A year yesterday since I was rescued and arrived in Singapore.  I never thought it would finish this way.  We finished our second three day task before tiffin yesterday.  The Bouncer expressed disapproval; he is a useless officer.  The Floster is not much better.  We had a two day task starting today when we felt much better after the half holiday.  Col Lilley was slapped by a Nip private.  Another Nip told one of our chaps his pal would be beaten up for it.  New guards arrived today, presume extra.

29.1.43

The third day of a ten day task, looks fairly easy though the earth must be stacked to a height of 3.25 metres.  Rocks on the higher side, so are working as one gang from the lower side.  Planes over yesterday and again today.  An amusing incident the other day.  We’d just come back from a very hard day’s work and chaps were immediately ordered to go and haul in a bullock which had just been shot.  CSM Thomson ordered Sadler to be one of the party; he retorted: “Why not go make some of the CSM’s etc.  do it, they’ve been doing f.a.  all day” He was at once put on a charge and duly appeared before the Floater and Bouncer that evening.  He was escorted by Sinclair and Thomson, the party being marched up by Romney.  The Floater gave him a homily ending up by saying that CSM’s had a busy day out on the job and on returning were expected to issue canteen goods.  The effect of this was spoiled by S.  finding difficulty in keeping a straight face.  When we heard this there were roars of laughter.  Dan, who overheard the conversation, was going to charge him again for contempt, but could not do so as it was the truth.  As the rude remarks were rather pointed, as Dan usually only stands and watches the work, very occasionally watching the work, very occasionally giving a hand.  Since then he’s been better acting as a kapala, telling the carriers where to dig the earth.  A vulture was shot by a guard the night before last.  The general health is better but there are some bad cases of beriberi.  Jack King is hobbling about, looks like an old man.  Matheson has hardly any flesh at all and many others have numb extremities.  I have pains in my left leg every morning.  Scotts has gone off his head and is in hospital.  His main worry is craving for food, he’ll pinch any he can get his hands on.  The dust is very bad and I get catarrh frequently.  Cigs are at a premium, luckily it does not worry me but chaps are smoking tea leaves etc.  The latter smell filthy.  There is very little paper for making cigs, actually seen leaves from bibles and pamphets used.

31.1.43

13th death occurred from dysentery , a chap from the 7th Coast RA.  A yasumi today, the hottest day we’ve had in ages.sammy Sanders had his Nip books taken back by the Nip Q.  During the argument thr Floater and Bouncer kept on laughing.  Inspiring officers.  An odd plane over daily.  Reading Barnaby rudge by Dickens.

2.2.43

Joe’s 32nd birthday.  Still on the ten-day task schedule.  In a voluntary quiz team against the officers were Ian and Gale, one excellent.  Major Swanson is very good at arranging entertainment for the coming roll call.  A very good concert on Burn’s Night.  The backdrop was done by an expert.  Also talks on the World Crisis by Capt Watts, Capt Fane and Major Swanson.  Also talks on Clay products… finishing by Mr Barker etc which all helped pass the time.  The weather is threatening and hot, a blanket hardly necessary at night, whereas only last Wednesday we had not sufficient to keep us warm.  Planes over again, are now a daily occurrence so will not mention again.

4.2.43

Wampo South.  We are here this morning.  We only heard last night but as our belongings are few there was little difficulty.  Laying stretches of earth was back-breaking work and I am not adverse to a change, but am sorry to leave Ian, Derek, Bill and the rest, but hope they will be following on.  The party was composed of 42 SS & FMSVF.  Our party was Alexander (HKB), Curry, Stephenson, Grey, Sadler, Billy Bragg, and Jock.  Luckily yesterday the Nips blasted the river and Billy and I managed to collect quite a lot of small fish, which Derek made into excellent soup, which, with our morning rice, sugar and jam, was a fair foundation for our 2 ½ hours work.  This is a small camp and should be fairly pleasant.

5.2.43

Summoned at 0330 by a blast on a whistle.  Breakfast: rice, sugar and tea, followed immediately.  We’d finished the latter by the time it was really daylight.  More blasts and roll call parade at 0830.  Collected tools and were ferried across the river, put on to clearing a path with a section of SSVF.  Eurasians, very hard workers.  One of the Nips took over a kettle and gave us frequent cups of tea.  They were a pleasant crowd, evidently not frontline troops, only engaged in railway work.  Was responsible fro repairing the bridges during the drive through Malaya.  A lot of the volunteers were clearing and burning for blasting.  Ferried across for tiffin at 1542.  Canteen issue of two eggs and one dried fish.  Heavy Aid activity.

8.2.43

A little rain last night and same today, the first for some time.  We’ve been employed in camp carrying attap and cleaning clumps of bamboo.  Ian Jeffries and a few others arrived today.  Daily blasting going on.  A couple of chaps hit by rock splinters.  An informal service last night read by Capt Fane, about ten of us around a blazing fire, rather weird.

11.2.43

A yasumi in aid of the umpteenth anniversary of the Nip empire.  Spent the early part of the morning boiling clothes, then the Nip blasted the river and I spent until tiffin collecting fish with the aid of a small bag tied to my wrist.  I did fairly well.  Afternoon… rather noisy as the guards have hed beer and two Thais came to visit them.  They usually entertain them in the tool shed.  Quite a few chaps went visiting the main camp, where the Nips are holding sports, they asked our chaps to compete.

13.2.43

The sports last Thursday went very well.  Quite a lot of the events being won by our chaps, including the 500 metres by Att C.  The swimming, rather tactless, considering the diet, which can’t be as bad as we complain it is.  The last couple of days we’ve been carrying gravel in stretchers, easy work but monotonous.  The Nips have done most of the loading and given extremely small loads.  I was doing it this afternoon on the main beach.  Billy scraped the gravel together with a dumper, and I loaded it onto a stretcher, carried by Ian and Walker.  So had a really slack afternoon.  Only hope it is true about Turkey being in the war.

15.2.43

POW a year.  Seems like a decade.  A service was held last night by Capt Watts.  The latter is in place of Fane, an older and more pushing chap.  The evenings here are well occupied with talks, quizzes, etc.  A … gave his experiences, also a chap from a circus and a police chemist from the SSVF.  We are still messing about collecting gravel, spent a lot of yesterdaypaddling in the…….  it, the Nips made a chute for sending it on to the beach where it was passed through a bamboo screen.

19.2.43

Thanks to the above paddling I collected a bad cold, but it is nearly better now.  A pleasant surprise last night the pay for privates increased from ten to 25 cents, NCO’s 15–30 cents, WO’s 25–40 cents.  Which means three eggs a day, if available, a dried fish.  As few have much cash left I have lent a tical which Jimmy Green paid back.

25.2.43

Placed the last of my whisky into the iodine bottle which will make the latter last considerably longer.  It is the best thing for bamboo scratches, which, if they are not looked after, are inclined to turn into ulcers.  Ian has a bad one now.  A lot of the chaps went up to the main camp to see a show.  They swore it was the best they’d seen, six chaps dressed as girls were the success of the evening.  It appealed to the Nips who offered the cast a holiday today.  Rumoured, since disproved, that Germany capitulated on the 15th, quite like Changi.  We have not heard a plane for days, which is odd considering the activity before.  The moon is just before the full and we have had a few freezing nights.  The temperature seems to vary with the moon.  Talks among the Nips regarding rumoured American peace terms.  Seven pts?.   Monotonous job standing in line passing sand or gravel in baskets for cement for the places they are building on the other side.  Amusing trips across the river with the material.

1.3.43

A yasumi yesterday.  A party went up to the main camp to work, they were to return by 6pm, but as the clocks never agree, ours being very fast, consequently they came late.  After roll call the Nip guards, who are Koreans, as opposed to the real ones who are ordinary Nips and quite decent chaps, made the party fall in separately and kept at attention.  Capt Watts went down and pointed out that the men must not be punished for something that was beyond their control.  The guard who went with them actually left them and returned by boat, leaving them to walk.  Stephenson was slow in coming to attention, so had his face slapped, it did not hurt him as he is heavily bearded.  As our officers are responsible for discipline Watts intervened and was knocked out, being kicked in the thigh while on the ground.  At that there was a general growl and some of our chaps moved forward.  A guard grabbed Johnny and told him to hop it.  Luckily he did not hit him before.  I’m sure Johnny would have hit him back, then the fat would have been in the fire.  As it was, the guards rushed for their rifles.  The chaps were kept at attention until ten pm from 8.80 and were then allowed to sit down but were called to attention again while the interpreter, Sibiakof, a Russian, was spoken to.  He received a few hard slaps for nothing, which shows how illogical they are.  The others were eventually let off at 10.30 Capt Watts is none the worse except for a sore face, while Tebenov had resigned his job.

2.3.43

As yesterday was St David’s day and Watts is Welsh, a concert was arranged.  Whiting came down with his squeeze box.  The party came to a sudden finish at 11.30pm as Watts was making the closing speech before the King.  The guard, who caused the trouble the night before, approached complete with fixed bayonet and ordered everybody into the hut.  11.30pm camp time must be about 9pm by the sun as we finish breakfast before sunrise.

4.3.43

 They are now forcing us to be in the hut by 11pm, and in addition they are making us work until 5pm.  The food also has gone off, no issue sugar, although we are buying it and salt through the canteen.  No veg, but Griffith, late Agric Dept, is in the cookhouse and spends his time collecting edible leaves, mainly bush susu, wild passion fruit and wild spinach.  Both taste fairly reasonable.  Meat issue is about normal, just under an oz per man.  A Nip at the other camp was killed while blasting yesterday, and a chap from our camp died of Malaria the 14th.  An amusing day screening gravel, ten men on and twenty off, a quarter of an hour on and half off.  I took the opportunity of dhobying a shirt.  We were in the charge of Edna Mary Oliver, the slackest Nip we have ever seen.  This afternoon a barge load of chaps came to collect gravel and roared with laughter when they saw us, i.e.

 The off shift, Willoughby was asleep,… shaving, and I was arranging the shirt to dry and give shade to the guard, Ismay boiling as egg.  Emma collected a raspberry from the boys, guards; so he politely requested us to move to another part of the beach.  Pointing out that sleeping etc.  was “ No goodo” when resting between shifts.

5.3.43

Some general or other on a visit, the Nip Sergeant came round and said that he was expected at noon, when we must all work hard until he’d gone, when shifts could come into action again.   

6.3.43

Jimmy green, Doug Yewes and Robbie Robinson, and many others have been transferred to the camp today.

8.3.43

A yasumi today.  Rennie and a Sigs officer passed through on a ramble.  Sam Tailor is at their camp and is fit.

9.3.43

Ferrying gravel, on returning before tiffin the tongkang sank fairly near the shore and turned over.  Most of us got to shore fairly easily but some of the non-swimmers had a difficult time, especially Stinker, a semitic looking Nip.  Sergeant Curry saved him and collected quite a few humorous remarks for doing so.  After tiffin I was a bit late in going down to the river to find Lockhart and Wilson diving for something.  Sergeant Cromarty told me in Malay that they had found the shovel they were looking for but were spinning out the job, but that I could join them.  We soon got fed up with diving so found the lost article.  Afterwards we received a cigarette for our trouble.  A weird lecture last night from Capt Webb on the job of an undertaker.  Whilst a few days ago we had first hand accounts of life in a workhouse and in the Tanglin Military Prison.  The North West frontier Gunner who’d been at Pindi and N… The regulars are very intrigued by six elephants who are employed in shifting timber in and near the river.  From stories we hear these camps under Lt Hatori are the best on the river.  In other camps they have been made to work very long hours, finishing tasks at midnight on one occasion.  Officers who brought their parties back early were beaten up and made to kneel in front of the guardhouse, where a mock execution by sword was staged, leaving them nervous wrecks.

11.3.43

Innoculated for plague, a tablet of quinine last night and the night before.  Bill Paterson, Derek Barr, Sanders and the Hawes from the old MT left for a transport job.  (Odd rumours about them… in the Nip Army driving trops into Burma.)First heavy rain last night for some considerable time, though about ten days ago we had a slight shower.(…….)

13.3.43

Ian Jeffries and Billy Bragg went back on Thursday and were replaced yesterday by Halkett and Bill Munns.  A regular in Nip cookhouse was hit during blasting, fractured frontal bone; another death, the 15th or 16th .  Food better, plenty of canteen eggs.
17.3.34

The hottest day we’ve had.  The last couple of nights a blanket has been unnecessary.  On Monday I was persuaded, rather against my better judgement, to give a short talk on the loss of the Taisang.  It went down very well.  About a hundred men went by this camp yesterday including Cross of the JVE, I understand his brother died a little while ago.

20.3.43

Although we were due for a yasumi this morning the 11th or 12th day, we had to do four loads of gravel, finishing at 1330, so we at least had the afternoon off.  An issue of five sheets of Bromo, the first for two months! The work is harder and longer.  Roll call 0830, work immediately after to 1245 then 1400 to nearly 1730.

22.3.43

When we got back at tiffin yesterday we were told to pack up and be ready to move to Wampo Central by 0930 today.  Then last night they postponed it.  Dutch prisoners are supposed to take our place here.  All barang was searched today, the second time since we’ve been POW’s.  30 sticks of dynamite were found! Miller, a chap in the 9th Coast, called Graham ‘The man God forgot to finish’.

23.3.43

Still here they changed their minds again last night and are very indefinite about the whole thing, not overworking us by any means.  The dynamite, complete with fuse and detonators in 2/Lt Marriot’s barang.  He is a nephew of Phil Marriot of O&C’s Ipoh.  He was taken to the main camp and beaten up by the NCOs and then was sent to the Officer’s hut, thanks to Hatori.  Let’s hope that is the end of it.

25.3.43

At roll call yesterday morning we were told it was a yasumi but at 1345 the whistle went, another roll call over, and then work as usual.  Usual evening roll call at 2000, just after the whistle went again.  We were checked, and a few chaps from each section Robertson, Willis, Johnny, Miers, and Cromarty with… were fallen out.  We could not make out what the trouble was.  We were dismissed and found that they had been picked out as the best workers and were to receive a present; it hasn’t turned up yet! A senior officer came down in a launch during the morning but did not land; I presume he had something to do with it.

27.3.43

Your birthday yesterday and I could do nothing about it, but at least a message had gone through saying that Bob had got in touch with all evacuated wives, which is good news.  Terribly sorry to hear of Mr Cherry’s death.  Yesterday a Nip Officer took over the camp with the idea of speeding things up.  We took our plates, etc out and fed on the job.  The morning was easy sawing and chopping trees down but after tiffin they made us carry logs out of the jungle, back breaking work.  The railway is only a few kms away.  We finshed after 1900.  Today we finished at 1800, our usual job, six trips, but I also had to carry a bag of cement, 100 lb at least, on my back for a quarter of a mile.

28.3.43

A nasty accident last night from the blasting.  Fitton, of the SS who sleeps one away from me, was hit by a large lump of rock while on his bed, the rock came right through the attap roof, he was stunned by a blow just below his left eye, by a miracle the latter does not seem injured.  As usual the phone was not working but RSM Marion ran to the central camp and fetched Major Richardson, who biked down.  Still no news of our move.  The officers were told that it depended on where the next batch from the south land.  If on this side then we move north at once, if on the other side then in a few days.  Whereas they might go by, in which case we stay.  The Nips seem more secretive than our people.  But they have decided that the rails must be by this outcrop by April 9th and up to Tarsau by the 30th, rather optimistic.

30.3.43

Back in Wampo Central.  Yesterday WOs arrived and camped below and on the other bank.  I met Charles Mouncey, he is in an officers working party 30(L) bridge building, who looked very fit.  Also saw Richard West and Maurice Edgar.  We had an easy day until just about 1800, loading logs.  Then we were taken across the river to collect barang.  We walked about a mile and to our surprise came upon the railhead.  The sleepers and rails being on the bare ground without ballast.  Diesel lorries dragging about five trucks.  We carried some small poles to the Nip camp near the cliff.  500 of our chaps from a lower camp came up, including Ross, Pr.., Di..  and Dr Hardie and many others whose names I could not remember.  They were on their way upriver but spent the night here.  When we crossed the river another Nip caught us and said five minutes more work before finishing.  I was ordered to carry five 8lb sledge hammers.  George tried to carry two, but was asked if he was an officer; when he answered no he was told to carry four! At evening roll call we were told we were moving at 0900 this morning.  We started being ferried across punctually, but as they had only one ferry we counted nearly two hours before we formed up and marched down here.  A party of Dutch troops were on the cliff drilling.  A friendly, decent crowd.  Deaths from disease have been heavy.  Met Roby this afternoon, looking fit.

7.4.43

A day off with tummy trouble.  Too many raw onions.  No sugar for breakfast for days, issue of new onions and peanuts instead.  With the addition of a whipped raw egg I managed to get the rice down.  Work has speeded up, we work at… camp are are away from 0900 to 1830?, now to 1830.  A bit thick as we’ve had no full day’s holiday for nearly a month.  Drilling gangs work four-hour shifts, day and night, but I don’t think the railway will be through by the 9th.  A general inspected the work yesterday.  I was on a support wall against the high embankment but changed with Ronnie Todd, he could not stand the height when clearing the debris after blasting.  The day we changed I had to dig out a cubic metre.  But yesterday I was carrying cement and collecting stones off the cliff, a fairly easy job.  One day we marched up to the N, boarded two invasion barges and came down to help unload a lorry they carried.  We had to strip and get overboard to get the barges through the shallows.  A visit of ants which are cleaning up the bed bugs.

8.4.43

My holiday is over, M&D tomorrow.  I feel very much better for the rest.  Rumours that letters are at either Tarsoa or Kamburi (Kanchnaburi), I live in hopes there will be news of or from you.

11.4.43

Back in dock again with sore throat and cold.  Had three days in last time, then back at work.  About 40 Annamites have arrived from Saigon.  All under nourished forced labour, were enchained part of the way, two died.  One filthy ulcerated leg from a Nip kick.  Supposed to be paid three piastres but have received nothing so far except rice three times daily.  Nips have no consideration for them.  If no shelter is available they do nothing about it.

13.4.43

M&D tomorrow, throat better.  Yesterday the chaps had a nearly 12 hour day digging etc.  Joe Rotter knocked into a pit, only dignity hurt.  A regular also, but he held up a shovel to ward off the blow and received a beating for his pains.  Korean guards mainly responsible and the latter chap is in hospital with black eyes and swollen face.  Tongkangs (assumed reference to the Coolies), arriving kids of 8 to 12 with them.  Nips help them so little that they have to be given our meat etc.  Some actually use their hats for collecting food, they have so few belongings.

15.4.43

Yesterday and today have been most tiring work I have ever done.  Digging a metre per day and carrying it to fill the embankment, 75 yards walk, including a climb of at least 20 feet.  We started by being called at 0645, breakfast being at once, parade 0730, walk to the North camp, two miles.  Start digging about 0900, go home when you finish.  We finished between 1200 and 1500, being last or nearly so.  Yesterday we had the longest carry, today owing to a misunderstanding with the Nip Corporal, we did nearly an extra metre.  We worked in teams of six.  Cecil Lee, Johnny Marshall, Ian Jeffries and tho others making up our party.  Cedric, Sadler was in it but was unfortunately ill today.  The climb up to the slope was a weird sight, everybody jockeying for position.  Whilst at the top the Nips came yelling at everybody not to drop their loads too near the post.  One or two were hit for doing it too early.  Chaps were extremely quick to do it when the Nip’s backs were turned.  The dress is very varied, Dutch green straw hats and types of British headgear, very few shirts.  Dutch green shorts, our khaki underpants, shirts so torn that they give little or no cover, and a lot in Jap bandages, a cloth attached to a tape at the back passed between the legs and looped over the tape in front.  The Annamites were also there, carry large stones on their shoulders.  They are far worse off than us, have nothing.  One was actually collecting his rice in his hat.  We get no food until we return to camp.  I luckily took a little rice over from breakfast and two hard boiled eggs, so did not feel too famished, but terribly tired at the end of the day.

17.4.43

Was so exhausted had to report sick this morning and was told to take it easy.  Spent the day reading and sewing, the latter hemming a shirt of Kechil Morries and making little bags to carry my odds and ends when we move, which is supposed to be between the 20th and 26th.

19.4.43

Worked as a B3 which only entails a little digging and carrying.  I shared the work with two cheerful Annamites.  Many only earned 10 cents instead of the usual 35.  A medical inspection after tiffin to pick out the chaps not fit enough to march upriver.  I was one; Pavillard put me down as a bit anaemic! We are supposed to be going down to Chungkai.  The rails passed the cemetery yesterday.  Planes, hope ours, over during the full moon.

21.4.43

Still a B3, the Nips had no job for us as we were a bad example to the Annamites.  Yesterday I swam across the river to help refloat a barge, that being the total days work.  Taking advantage to really learn bridge, I’m hoping it will be a pleasant surprise for you.

23.4.43

Work, as far as we are concerned is nearly finished.  A further medical inspection, I’m still going south.  I’m not sorry as the Nips idea of ‘speedo’ is too much of a strain.  We’ve been digging soil for a siding, the rails were laid today.  The diesel convertible lorries seem efficient.  The Nips allot tasks and they say that on finishing we can go home, but time and time again when finished they nearly always find something else.  Luckily I was a B2 as the others worked long hours.  All day, back for food, then after food, back by 10pm owing to rain the job being completed this afternoon.  Which is typical of the way they mess us around.  1000 new men arrived, half Dutch.

24.4.43

Easter Saturday, rather hard to realise.  F.  Bell left for the North, Roby, etc from the North Camp.  We were told today was a yasumi, we marched up there carrying tools, but no work, back this afternoon.

30.4.43

Our first yasumi since 8.3.43, even then the Nips needed small parties.  They were also issuing clothes.  A lot were out of shirts but few were supplied, in some cases they gave jackets instead.  At least they are useful for selling to the Thais.  I tried for a Dutch straw hat, my topi is about finished.  They are issuing Dutch clothing mainly.  The work is as hard as ever, away from 0815 to 1945 one day.  Tiffin at the west camp, but I was so exhausted that I had to report sick.  Was scared last night, 8 visits to the lavatory within a few hours, but stopped this morning.  Yesterday they told us to be prepared to move to the North Camp today, but cancelled it.  The rail-laying gang is working long hours too.  Out from noon to 0300 without food.  None of us have much spare daylight as, owing to Tokyo time, we get up about 0700 in the dark and get back with only an hour to spare before dark.

5.5.43

I have now been in the cookhouse for five days, the rest off the company are at North camp, they asked for volunteers to stay behind; I was one being a B2.  I went into the CHWC, cook for the hospital and about 30 left behind for ration parties, etc.  hard work but pleasant not to be buggered about by the Nips.  There are 22 of us divided into four shifts, Sergeant Brislin, (40th MT) i/c.  Cassidy (LB) 2i/c.  I’m in a shift with Tillbrook (Q&C’s), Kennedy (GA&B) and a gunner.  A shift gets every fifth day free and takes its turn at cooking the rice, stew and tea, while the remaining shifts prepare the vegetables, pasties, etc.  and carrying water in the evening.  We were duty shift yesterday, started at 0830 washing rice, carrying water from the khualis.  When the vegetables are peeled, we washed them and placed them in the khualis by the pailful.  That was for tiffin, the evening meal was the same and was divided about 1800.  After clearing up we were free about 1900.  This morning we were on early shift, up between 0500 and 0600.  Only rice and tea to get ready as sugar is eaten with the rice.  Breakfast 0730 hrs.  After clearing up we were free until about 0830.  The vegetable pasties are much better, plenty of beans and sweet potatoes, but no meat.  Seven cattle escaped from the corale and the Nips are a trifle annoyed.  The other troops in camp, all newcomers from downriver, have far better food than us, some RA’s were in Ipoh just before the war and speak highly of the hospitality they received from the YMCA.  According to the chap from Tarsau, Nip infantry are passing through on foot dragging handcarts with mortars etc.  All going towards Burma.  We have managed to get hold of oil, so have made rice cakes, baked rice, Gula Melacca and eggs.

9.5.43

News last night that Nigel Wright died from septic ulcers.  25 more from ration party, etc.  sent to North Camp yesterday and 35 men from B&F Bn went from hospital to camp above Tarsa0.  Kechil Morris, the only one left I am really friendly with.  Nips issued the cookhouse with a sack of dried meat, it stank to high heaven when sorted, but after boiling for 4 to 5 hours, then fired with onions tasted like high bully.  Steam trains passing frequently.

11.5.43

A red letter day, a letter from you.  The one you wrote on my birthday last year, am hoping the others will arrive soon with detailed news.  Rather awful seeing letters for chaps.  who’ve died.  Only yesterday I sent off the usual postcard.  I only wish I could have added a note thanking you for yours.  Looks like a three months wait!

17.5.43

Three days ago the rest of the company returned from the North camp after the evening meal, were occupied in carrying rice etc to the rail siding before 0700 and were kept waiting for a train until after 2200.  Typical Nip organization.  Everbody in our cookhouse except 4, I was lucky, was working most of the night getting haversack rations, etc ready.  But even so everybody had to turn out to carry stuff to the railway.  (There were the following words “and transport the g…..cookhouse to Swanton’s hut” which had a squiggle through the words).  If it had not been for Humphrey from the hospital the latter would have been without food.  I saw Jack King at the railway on the way north, looking very fit.  Bobby and McArthy’s are in this camp in an officer’s working party.  He was captured at Alor Star and spent months in Pudu.  The sick go to Chungkai tomorrow and we move north when the attendants return.  I am writing this in the jungle where it is peaceful away from the crowd and a better way of spending part of the yasumi.  But even here the wind wafts foul smells now and again.
20.5.43

The sick left on the 18th and we had instructions to be ready to move on the 20th, this morning.  We spent most of yesterday morning shifting stores etc to the siding with little or no help from the chaps in the Nip cookhouse, who seemed pro-Nip, especially Hatfield of the RA.  A quiet afternoon with one load in after dinner.  We just had the latter when a message arrived telling us to be ready to catch a train at 2200.  Five prisoners were sent ahead to the siding in the pouring rain, which had just come on, the first for days.  Arriving there we found nothing to do so took cover in a FMSR carriage to find it occupied by a stray Thai kid of about 8.  A little later we were sent to help push a handcart which was having difficulty in the mud.  After pushing it we had to take it back for a further load, luckily there was a little light from the moon.  We just got back as the train was spotted in the distance.  We hurried as much as possible but it was not enough for the Nips, who started lashing out.  I received two lashes on the back.  The train came in, open trucks with troops from Changi where they left on the 12th (these men may have been part of “H” Force).  Our barang piled into a truck with us on top of it.  Very unpleasant as I had no shirt on and some hot sparks landed on my back.  We arrived at Tarsau in the early hours of the morning.  Marching to the camp in the rain.  As there were only 29, including Dr Pavillard, the Nips let us sleep in a carpenters shop; Don Young and I shared a space and slept well.  Spent this morning cleaning Nip boots, others washing their clothes, a lot of saluting.  Not all the Changi party, who have a ten day march in front of them, have boots, so the Nips have decided to take them off the chaps in hospital and remain there after the march.

24.5.43

Returned from Wampo last night after a return trip to collect two handcarts.  Wasted a day getting them, spent two nights and a day so had plenty of time to see Bobby Maxwell.  Last night met Bill Goodchild, and Hamilton who travelled out with you.  The huts are so full that I’m sleeping under a bed platform with Bill Rundell, Robertson, Gula, George Cameron and a regular… Has been raining continuously since the evening we arrived.

25.5.43

Thought we had a further free day but had to march up to Tonchan South, a short march, but a terrible pull up a hill at the end, mainly a tented camp, attractive country with a stream through the camp, very cool.  But Nips, Tamils, Malays and Chinese also bathe in it.  They are further forced labour mainly from Malaya and seem general in their hatred of the Nips, especially the Tamils.  We met one who had walked from Burma, the main food he had received was from white POW’s.  First day work shifting rocks off track.  Today finishing a Heath Robinson bridge, finishing off by 1200 carrying a winch back to camp.  Saw Timmons, a Dane from Changi.  Served in the FMSVF but his wife was not allowed to land in South Africa and had to go on to England.

30.5.43

An unruly rush to work reminiscent of the Changi run, chaps rushing to get on the drilling gang.  Frank Napier and I were keen to be on it but had no intention of hurrying.  As we arrived there we found a crowd lined up with drills and hammers, but Nip in charge yelled for all tools to be returned to the shed.  Then we were all lined up and the first twenty numbered and told to collect picks and shovels as they were the hurryers practically without exception, there was a certain amount of amusement.  We were in the next ten and were told to drill.  We drilled 1.3 metres, which we finished soon after 1500, even though we were held up by heavy rain.  It was so cold we started to find the work easier as it cleared up the hole and saved us using our team for the purpose.  Easy work as it was mainly sandstone.  On returning we found a ravine which was previously dry had turned into a raging torrent.  A couple of bad ulcers on my legs have permanent dressings but they are again oozing a bit.

2.6.43

Weather still uncertain.  On Monday it rained all day but they kept us working, in shorts only, it was most unpleasant.  We’re never really in dry clothes.  Drilling with Tillbrook today, home by 1630.  The guard leaves us alone on task, otherwise he never leaves us in peace.  The Tamils suffered from him today, two being beaten with a bamboo.  We sat eating our tiffin near the Tamils; except for colour and some us are very sunburnt, there is very little difference.

3.6.43

A letter from Betty written 28.6.42.  News of you and Bill which is great.  I only hope there will be more from you soon.

7.6.43

Still raining on and off, most are suffering from diarrhea.  The Nips gave a propaganda picture show, rather a change.  The next day the Nip in charge of the camp, The Tiger announced there were too many sick.  Many were sent out to work.  Some like Godden, had been swinging it, hence plenty of remarks re Tiger Balm…! Tillbrook going to jungle camp.  Jack King and Henry Roper Caldbeck to Tarsau with beriberi.  Sending a note by the latter to McArthy.

10.6.43

The Tiger said the railway would go through however many deaths there were.  Now cholera has stepped in so we had two deaths today.  None of us are really fit, getting wet day after day.  Started off today with everything wet.  They won’t let us stop work unless the rain is hard and then only to take refuge under the trees.

11.6.43

Four or five European deaths, 20 or more Tamils.  The whites were cremated; our chaps had the unpleasant job of stoking the fire.  As it entailed too much work the rest ahead to be buried, also by our chaps.  One Tamil came to life and walked away.  Bill Briggs saw it.  All this was going on fairly close to where the suspects are segregated.  The Nips are scared stiff, this camp is fenced, on going in you have to stop and step on a moist disinfected sack.  We collected their food and had to rinse our hands on two separate occasions.  Their behaviour does not endear them to us and I wonder how I ever saw anything good in them.  A lot of slapping recently.  We were inoculated a few days ago and some are getting more, so we can only hope for the best.

12.6.43

Europeans 11, Tamils 80+.  No further suspects in this section of the camp but four amongst the newcomers according to Joe Farriday.  Since the trouble started the river has been out of bounds and use of the water unless it is boiled, so you can imagine how filthy we all are.  Although we get frequent showers, usually when we are working, when it is possible to remove a little of the grime

13.6.43

Had a wonderful bathe in the river and feel much better, it was more than necessary as we had spent most of the day doing jobs in and around the isolation area.  Now Europeans 13, Tamils 160+.  We were sent to remove one tent and found five dead Tamils in it.  Another party carried them off for burial.  While cleaning blankets near the tent we found a dead Tamil under a bush so had to dig a grave for him.  The Tamils are first dumped in tents, and seem to be left to die.  One was crying for water, eventually a Nip guard took water up, much to the amusement of his pals.  A carrying party pass out the dead who are carried straight to the graves which are within 50 yards.  Though we saw dead in the tent drain, who remained  there a long time.  Whilst another was left naked on a stretcher.  Our dead were covered with a blanket but were eventually dumped into a communal grave.  We were sprayed on leaving.

14.6.43

European 15 dead, 13 new cases.  We worked on the track.

19.6.43

The cholera had abated a little.  39 European deaths, a few new cases.  The Nips are making us work very hard.  Rolled a 40-gallon drum of water over one mile up and down a hill.  My boots nearly fell to bits.  By bribing the shoemaker, a POW, with a tin of bully, he repaired them.  The gent is much too Jap happy.  I was issued a Dutch green straw hat today, look rather like a Swiss admiral.  My topi is heavy and filthy.

24.6.43

An easy day at least, the last few have been bad, called 0630, very seldom off the track before 2030.  Bathing in what water we can boil.  Cholera still fairly bad.  Capt Abrams went sick in the morning and was dead by afternoon.  There have been many similar cases in the battalions.  Bad news from Ken, Billington, Smith and many other Volunteers I did not know, dead.  Oldham and Alex Shields seriously ill, conditions are terrible there, even sick forced out to work.  The Nips have a lot to answer for.  They’ve actually over 1000 sick men into this camp during the last day or so.  They were warned that it was a cholera district but made no mention that there had been hundreds of cases and deaths.

27.6.43

Attended C as a bamboo scratch has gone septic.  Also I’ve got sore throat, mouth and tongue, been feeling rotten.  I think the latter is caused by a heavy cholera injection, our second in a month.  It was direct from the Pasteur institute, Saigon, and the doc considers very strong and safe.  The day before yesterday we did not back into camp before 2030, having left at 0330.  Yesterday it was only a 12-hour day.  Building a camp up to a bridge for the railway.  Logs and rubbish, thrown in.  The guards were very concerned that they should be covered before the officer arrived.  The sort of sabotage we’d like to see.

28.6.43

A large body left the camp this morning for upriver, 10 to 16 miles.  I was left behind with a crowd of unfit including Jack King, Alec Sadler.  Joe Potter and Cedric, Mac, Dick Barnard, etc.  A party of 34 went on night shift last night, on parade 35 and returned to camp 1000.  They’d been told that they’d have a day of rest and go tomorrow, but now having to report on the first stretch of the march.  Harry Roper-Caldbeck went down to Tarsau with beriberi a few days ago, kept back owing to cholera.  A case or so daily and deaths, but it is abating.

30.6.43

I was a bit previous above.  The cholera has come back badly.  19 admissions yesterday and 8 or 9 deaths, one battalion had evidently neglected precautions.  147 cases, 72 deaths to date.  We are all nominally sick so do nothing.  My sores are much better, the worst has a permanent plaster.

4.7.43

Doing light work for the second day.  The unpleasant job of cleaning out the camp hospital.  Taking out slats, smoking them to get the bugs out and digging out the soil to clean it up.  A filthy place, old dressings, etc thrown under the bays.  Our officers would never have allowed a hospital or the men to get in such a state.  Most of them have every bone in their body showing.  The habits are also bad.  Funerals every day, dysentery and cerebral malaria.  The cholera ones are not so obvious.  It is abating.  A carrier has been discovered.  Met James Barton, fairly fit.   

9.7.43

Red Cross boots have packed in at last so I got off work this afternoon; some of the work was standing in the water below the camp waterfall as the Tamils bathe there and use it as a general lav.  I’d no wish to paddle barefooted.  I’ve just discovered that the MO who was with the original crowd in this camp was a Volunteer called Ross, supposed to have worked for Dunlops.  The troops have nothing in his favour, and are inclined to blame him for the poor state of affairs amongst them.  Our docs are good, especially the Volunteers

14.7.43

McCarthy and Monty arrived here yesterday.  Camp much smaller now, rail gang having left.  Still a lot of deaths from debility, cholera practically over.  Went to a memorial service on Tuesday.  A cross for the cholera burial ground was consecrated.  A very impressive service at which nearly 100 names were read out, rather grim.  Odd presents from the Nips, a tin of mackerel fillets, 8 Indo-China cigarettes, a spoonful of marge and a little milk.

15.7.43

 Celebrated the day by reading your letter from last birthday, the news is good and I feel we may celebrate the next one together.  A nice easy job digging a swill pit under our own people, no Nips near us, a fact I appreciate.  Cedric Saddler is going down to Tarsau with a poisoned leg.  Shared a tin of fish in chilli sauce with Cecil Lee, Jack King and Derek Barr.  Immediately after we had a cholera test taken.  Sewed up the cover of “Bridge in 20 minutes.”

22.7.43

Doing odd jobs with the sanitary squad, a smelly job, but nevertheless far and away much preferable to working under the Nips.  Deaths have slackened off, especially cholera, a lot of sick have gone down river, no news of them.

27.7.43

Supposed to be moving to Tonchan Camp tomorrow.  Anybody who can walk.  Heard some days ago that Robbie (Gula) and Frankie Pulley died of cholera.  A nasty blow.  
Thanks to Mills I’ve got an old pair of boots.

29.7.43

Tonchan Central not a bad camp but a bit depressing as it is a hospital camp with hundreds awaiting evacuation.  Most of the huts are falling to bits.  The 5/6 mile march up was rather tiring.  Jack King did it despite beri beri, he is for evacuation.

6.8.43

Jobs in camp but waiting to shift upriver, huts rather broken down, wonder what they’ll be like in bad weather.

8.8.43

Yesterday a chap was caught trying to flog a case of tinned fish bought from the Thais.  He was beaten up, tied to a tree, after 20 slaps he was released and taken to the hospital to have his wrists bandaged and given food.  After tiffin he had to go back to the Nips and was made to stand to attention outside their guardhouse all the afternoon but was allowed away at 1800.  They threatened to shoot him as it was the second time they’d caught him.  A good concert last night, finished up with singing ‘ Land of Hope and Glory’ instead of the national anthem which the Nips have forbidden.  “There is Always an England…..  as long as Scotland lives.”
9.8.83

A driver was killed by a tree falling on him yesterday.  Last night a singsong was going on and the Tiger heard it and told them off thoroughly when a chap had died from injuries received at work.  As a matter of fact it was the first news they’d had of the incident.  The Tiger attended with a full guard and laid a wreath.

10.8.43

Improving the Tiger’s bathing facilities by clearing a ravine with Griffiths.

22.8.43

Kinsayok No3.  We arrived here on the 8th after many false starts.  On the 17th some of us were actually on the track standing by to leave.  We got there and had just collected our evening meal when we were ordered down to the river as barges were awaiting.  We piled into a barge 61 strong.  Travelled for little over five hours and the moored for the night.  Most of us decided to sleep around fires ashore, where we decided to have a second meal.  We were issued with rice and had so decided to put the former into a pail and heat it up with anything we could collect.  Lew Davidson had garlic and dried whitebait, McCarthy had onions and limes, and someone else had peanuts, whilst I put in a handful of the whitebait.  It tasted excellent.  We slept under the stars but were roused by a light drizzle at 0400.  So sat by the fire until dawn when we started off again.  I managed to pass the time reading a geography of Africa.  We arrived here at noon but did not have tiffin until 1430, the first food since the night before.  The previous night’s rice was available but I did not risk it as it was a bit sour.  This camp is in a good position near the river and the food is the best we’ve had for months.  The railway Nips are bad and go in for face slapping at the slightest provocation.  A yasumi today, part of the morning spent on the track looking for tools which we did not find.  It was very pleasant, a lovely view and no Nips.  We were given half a pint of sugar for our trouble.  I also made a good frying kuali out of an old tin hat.  A service in the evening, colonel Lilley officiated and Major Swanton preached.

26.8.43

We are the only battalion left here.  Excellent food so we are in no hurry.  Plenty of stray cattle have been collected so we had a double meat ration and are really replete for once.  The bad Nips are leaving, we only hope we do better next time.  We’re doing ballasting and embankment building.

27.8.43

Cattle still being collected, 8 to 10 per day, the Nips don’t worry and we are having a double meat ration.  Evidently they are part of a herd being driven up for the Nips by the Aussies, who have lost at least 25% out of 500.  We’ve little work and expect to leave any day.  I am hoping to get a lift owing to my fever.

31.8.43

Kinsayok.  Arrived here by barge, after two very pleasant days.  30 volunteers were left behind for barge loading, etc.  Walker and Billy Bragg and Ian Middleton and Maxwell also remained.  We had to load a barge each day, which took most of the morning and were then free except for little jobs like water carrying and onion peeling.   The latter being marvellous.  The Nips gave us presents of a tin of pepper and curry powder between each team.  We’ve never fed so well but it was too much for most and many had tummy trouble.  This camp is a large rambling affair and most of us are still in tents.  The huts have nearly all collapsed but new ones are being built.  There seems little work.  Bathing is not allowed in the river, but a tributary stream is used by everybody.

2.9.43

 Our fourth anniversary, we must spend the next one together.  Att.  C through sore on my legs and right foot, so had a pleasant rest.  Read your letter for the umpteenth time, the photos are still intact as is the ring but many eyes are on the latter, the Thais, Nips, etc, are scared of the local money (paper) and are buying gold, etc.  for a rainy day.  The flies here are bad, and lice seem to be increasing in my kit especially in the mother hubbard.  Rumours of more cholera, one suspected case and saw a few dead Tamils carted by yesterday.  George Allen and Rocky walked down from the advanced camp where the rest of F Coy is based, and found a dead Tamil by the railway.  As some went up yesterday he was most probably one who died after inoculation yesterday.  Also collected back Jimmy Green’s hammer which the Nips took.

6.9.43

Started on Friday as a storeman, there are five of us and we live in the store.  We are directly under the Nip QM but are left alone fairly well and work hard in transferring rice, etc.  from lorries to the store.  We also click for odd jobs such as clothes washing which are not particularly pleasant but at least they supply sufficient soap to wash our own clothes as well.  After supper last night they produced two iguanas, one dead, which had to be skinned, Jock Sangster did the job and we had to nail and salt the skin.  The other is in a box still alive, with wire round its thighs which cuts it badly.  The rest of the chaps are working on the track from 0900 to 2000, so I’m most probably better off, especially the perks such as pomelos.

15.9.43

Had an amusing experience a few nights ago.  We were woken up by a commotion at midnight; cattle milling around.  The Nip QM called us all out to help drive some cattle into the corale.  Two Aussies had arrived driving a herd from Hintok.  They had been originally told they’d have two days to do the trip but the guards changed their minds and made them come straight through.  The latter had rushed ahead with a small portion of the herd, 65, leaving three Aussies to bring on the rest.  They said the Nips had treated the cattle very cruelly, actually using their bayonets as goads.  They shot and bayoneted animals which became too exhausted to go on.  The QM was very pleased at our work and sent the Sergeant back for ‘ presento’ as he was very sorry but we must wait for the rest of the herd, to direct it.  Just after he arrived back the rest started to turn up so there was the amusing sight of the Sergeant herding cows with his hands full of fudge, bananas and cigarettes, cursing at us in the meantime for not taking them off him.  We found out that they had set out with 185 head.  So far we’ve counted 80 odd.  After a while the remaining Aussies arrived with a few more, leaving about 80 unaccounted for.  We wandered along the line near the shed where Tamils were sleeping, heard lots of commotion near the railway and found a few more, bringing the total to 121.  A further 16 were found the next day, leaving over 50 still missing.  But the Nips didn’t seem to worry.

18.9.43

An amusing incident.  This morning the Nips had a surprise Ack-ack alarm, just before reveille.  We were roused by a row at the back of the store, and thought it was a Tamil trying to attract our attention.  As we were arguing with him the QM cam bustling in for his rifle and bayonet that he’d left with us for cleaning! He identified the other intruder as a fellow Nip, so we gave him his rifle as well.  They rushed on parade.  Raining on and off practically the whole time.  Nips busy making us build an air raid shelter for them.  They have just told us of the capitulation of Italy; wonderful news.  It should not be long before we’re free.

19.9.43

Sick Tamils coming in by river to the Tamil hospital, four or five of them were left to make their own way up.  They could hardly crawl.  Two British POWs were trying to get them along, treated them very badly.  They might have been animals.  Absolute skeletons.  I had to go near their camp the other day.  Graves dotted all round the place.  A chap passing up by barge yesterday said there are letters for us at Kanchanaburi.  I only hope there is one for me.

22.9.43

Chaps still working on the Nip air raid shelter, including an Aussie from the MT who was at Ipoh.  A rickety job already nicknamed ‘the death trap’.  Sick still going down river and fit up, wondering where we’ll finish up.

24.9.43

Col Ishi here, really livening everybody up, he is OC POW’s as far as I can make out and seems an efficient but decent old boy.  Raised hell as to the stacking of the rice, not raised off the ground enough, so we had a really busy morning and now look like shifting our quarters nearer the centre of the camp.  I saw him snooping round the Anake? transit camp.  Only a few in it but at the moment mainly Tamil women and children, who are also forced to go on the long marches which all the labour seems to do.  Only hope he continued his walk to the Tamil hospital and was suitable shocked by the innumerable graves dotted in the scrub without any semblance of order and the lack of sanitary trenches.  Also the Tamils bathing their sores in a stagnant pool.  
26.9.43

Was taken to the pictures with the rest of the storemen by the Nip QM.  Propaganda except for the main film, which I could not make head nor tail of.  Also had the second TAB injection, which knocked me back a bit.  Some sick arrived from Rin Tin, they looked as bad as the Tamils mentioned above.  The local Nips took little interest in them and they only got cover for the night after Col Lilley intervened.  We are busy in making a new store nearer the centre of the camp.  Assisted by a crowd of POWs being made to sing before marching off to work.  The same Nips usually make them sing before dismissing.  Quite often they are accompanied by a cornet.

28.9.43

A chap from the Saigon Bn hit his Sergeant major and was given an almighty bashing by the Nips when handed over by his colonel ( Hugonin).  Evidently Col Lilley raised hell when he heard of it afterwards, because he’s been against handing them over to the Nips however intractable they may be.  Another pc off to you, Romney wrote it out as it was his pen, hence the mistake.  I hope you do not read between the ones that I am not fit.  As a matter of fact, except for bad attacks of catarrh and the odd small sore I am okay as I’m getting more fruit etc, thanks to this job.

30.9.43

Most of the Bn leaving for a speedo job near the station.  Rumoured that afterwards we return to Malaya.  Wonder if that is such a good idea as regards to food.  The Tamils who contracted for two months have been told it is extended a further three, but they’re here for the duration.

1.10.43

Carried 15 sacks of rice to a barge, really heavy work.  Sick down and fit still going up but a lot left for Tin Tin and Nickie.  The other four chaps I share the job with are Sergeant Vincent, a regular soldier in the AA.  Titch Birchenhall, Ian Manchester an under manager in United Yeast, Taffy Colman from Wales, a worker in a tin plate mill and before that a page at the Palace Hotel, Torquay.  Chapman of Guthries, a trifle difficult, the regulars call him that fucking Lord Chapman.  Actually had a conversation with Major …., he came up a week ago, rather upstage and county.  Have at last secured a new pair of boots, good new Indian Army ones.  Taffy went to the Nip QM and pointed out that he had worn his rubber ones until they were u/s.  He called us and examined my second hand pair, joking to Mills told me to change into an old rubber pair superintended while I walked through a puddle to make them thoroughly filthy.  Did the same with Vincent and then marched us off to Kiaora, the Nip in charge of boots, and had us issued with new ones.  When we got back he thanked us for the hard work we’d done and was thoroughly pleasant, much to our surprise.  This issue has made us all much happier as walking about in the mud in bad boots has been getting us down.  I shall pinch the QM’s dubbin and hope to make them last the duration.  Unfortunately they are nines while I usually wear tens; these without socks seem okay.

5.10.43

Archie Sadler passed through going 85 kms up with Wallie, Graham and Porky Gardiner.  Arrived late last night and slept on the soccer pitch.  Met a chap going down sick from a camp at the 210 km mark; conditions bad, guards too.  Chaps going down river with septic wounds from being hit with bamboos by the guards.  Camps above known as Dol Swinton’s and Death Valley.

8.10.43

Moved into our new store yesterday afternoon, luckily we secured a couple of lorries.  Flies very bad as we are near the cookhouses.  Met Ronald, looking very fit.  Gruesome stories of a camp upriver, at least 20 amputations, these through ulcers.  A cloudy day but no rain so far, the last few have been glorious, cloudless with a slight nip in the air in the shade.  Only hope the rainy season is over.

11.10.43 Monday.   Met an Aussie who is a great friend of Rex Blow, he thinks he is over in Borneo.   Di evidently used to come up to their battery in the front line.   Plucky but risky.

15.10.43

Patching up my shorts to get a little more life out of them.  Found I was showing rather more than I should , so stitched the pockets to the rents.  They are the ones Dr Allen gave us in Calcutta, lasted well.  Weather fine with occasional showers.  
19.10.43

Reliable rumours that the railway was connected up four or five days ago, also that we go down river soon.  Destinations various, Saigon, Singapore, Penang.  Which will finish off this job, the perks make it worthwhile.  Heavy work loading lorries, but plenty of slack periods.  General tidying up going on.

20.10.43

Chaplain and I had to go to picture show with Nip QM.  I sat on the ground amidst the Malays and Tamils.  Little or no conversation as the Nips are free with bashings if they catch us talking to them.  The films were interesting.  Nip handicrafts and campsites.  New films of a German submarine and Nips Indians (Free) troops marching in Singapore.  Somehow I don’t think they’ll be much good to the Nips.

25.10.43

An easy day yesterday but three barges arrived during the afternoon and we were working until after 2200 getting peanuts, etc into the store.  The ground seemed to be covered in the damn things.  After this was over the Nip Tagayama fell them all in, thanked them all for their good work and gave them one cigarette between four, one pomelo between two and a handful of peanuts each, he was really concerned and given to fussing.  Certainly near the end of the war.  Hinted instructions had been issued regarding better treatment and food.  We’ve nothing against him, he’s always been decent.  Major Chamier very kindly gave me $3.  Very useful, if we move.  Very few of our battalion, BDF, left here, the rest went yesterday to the railway camp.  We are feeding at the Hintok (English) cookhouse.  Chamier had a gruesome story of F Force living at the 305 mark.  6,500 men, 2,800 died, 3,000 in hospital in small camps of 200 men.  OC only non-workers, 5 cooks and 15 sick allowed.  Rice and tea only except for a little veg at night.  No canteen or intercourse between camps.  No tents or attap for huts.

31.10.43

Two years ago since we were in Rangoon together.  Hope by this time next year we’ll have been together for some months.  All the lorries except one which were stationed in the compound have left for Tarsau, further down.  This is not an isolated instance so I wonder if it’s anything to do with preparing for eventualities in Burma, especially as loaded barges are going down river too.  The Nip QM had now decided we’ll carry his bath water, it used to be done by the lorry driver for their Nips, 24 gallons carried nearly half a mile.  Wood to be collected and ready by 1800.  Nearly sacked last night because Wallie didn’t dilute a tin sufficiently but were forgiven and given a pomelo each.  He borrowed Chaplain’s cards, lost $5 and tore the cards to pieces.  Not so keen on this job if we are batmen as well.  Two Japs tried to shop at our canteen and were caught by a Korean and received a terrific telling off, though I don’t think they had their faces slapped.  As did Billy James for staying the night at the Railway camp, he’d received permission from one Korean but another Korean hit him all the same.  A search, all mirrors taken, I haven’t got one!

2.11.43

Two tremors yesterday, only hope they were bombs! This morning two isolated claps of thunder which got the optimists going again.  Nips starting rumours of repatriation to Australia.  Fresh POWs from Burma seen up the line.

6.11.43

A letter from Bobby dated 23.11.42.  The second and she’s still no news of me.  Only hope the pc’s have reached her at last.  The day before yesterday, at the evening parade, the Nips announced that excreta had been found on the floor of their guardhouse, which was a deep insult.  If the culprit did not own up at once there would be collective punishment.  Nobody came forward so we kept standing at attention.  Then Hatori turned up last night, the same thing happened again but Shimayaka called us off to look after the store.  The chaps were allowed to go but were warned there could be real trouble the next time it occurred.  They were very careful to ignore the fact that Asiatics pass within a few feet of the spot.  Another heavy quake last night, the store shook.  Thomas, a Singapore school-master, is our latest recruit.  Kechil is now the QM’s batman.  We spent the day stacking kilo sacks of beans, peas and bran.

12.11.43

Yesterday Armistice Day, was kept two minutes silence in the morning and very impressive service in the cemetery which contains 198 British, 150 Dutch being in a separate cemetery nearby.  Most professional looking wreathes were laid.  The smartest man on parade was a Dutch Flying Officer, though some of our officers managed to look very smart too.  An awful lot of us were without shirts, quite a few in Jap bandages.  The majority barefooted.  Major Swanton was sent down to Tarsau, he doesn’t get on too well with the Nips and received an awful bashing for not parading.  He’ll be missed as he took the services, the only padre in the camp being an RC.

15.11.43

Hatori replaced by Lt ‘Sombong’.  The exchange seems to be generally regretted.  The latest instructions are no whistling or singing in the huts.  A sing-song was allowed yesterday as it was a yasumi, but our chaps called it off as no community singing or applause was allowed.  Also no fire for illumination, which was understandable.  I’ve not mentioned food for a long time as it has been adequate and about the best we’ve had as POW’s.  double the old Wampo meat ration and plenty of beans and peas.  Fresh veg consists of sweet potatoes and Keledi and with a little Chines radish which is usually rotten by the time it is issued.  All onions are planted and the green tops issued.  Plenty of curry powder and pepper available.  Pomelo and bananas, eggs are in the canteen, the latter are usually stale.  Movement outside the camp is restricted, water carriers etc.  having to go in parties.  Bashings being administered for not saluting.

21.11.43

Friday was rather amusing, we went to the main store over the stream and the lorry driven by Shebah who would not come back as there were some Nip tarts there; his advances were really amusing.  Tagayama was more amusing, he evidently made a date.  When we got back he said he’d spent all his cash so Wallie lent him $5.  Just after the evening meal an agitated Korean rushing into the store asking for Sargie.  We pointed Wallie, he told him to go and get Tagayama out of our canteen.  Wallie went over and was soon seen leading him out by the hand and across the parade ground.  When they got near we started singing ‘My army and roses?’.  That evening he was supposed to take us to the pictures but was so drunk we only got as far as the hospital where a Nip Sergeant took him off.  Blasted the river yesterday and caught three fish were excellent fried.  BDF Bats came back today for work only.  Before falling out they marched in a singing a song in Nip.  The officers standing in the centre.  We’re for it soon, as our officers were being taught it this morning.

23.11.43

Bad new from up the line.  Jimmy Walker, Ian Ingles, Joe Benton and many others.  I believe the Manchesters were even worse hit.  I’ve spent the day boiling my clothes and two sacks to make an additional blanket at night as the cold spell seems to be here again.  As my blanket was boiled a day or so ago I ought to be free from bugs and lice for a bit.  It had been in continual use since I joined the MT on 27.1.42!

28.11.43

On Thursday saw the much heralded concert.  A great success, especially the girls led by Billy James and Arthur Woodroff Hill.  The latter trained choruses professionally.  Rude comments on the song ‘ Keep young and beautiful’ as most of the chaps had some skin disease or other.  Bill James made all the dresses, a frock of silver paper for himself.  Very cool nights and in the daytime out of the sun.  my sack blanket nice and warm.

6.12.43

The Aussies left for a temporary camp down the line, on road repairing I think as the other chaps have been on that job but have been gradually getting further and further from the camp.  The journey there and back equalling 12/13 miles, which is hard on the bottles, some have done it barefoot or in sandals.  Tagayama gave us a party last night.  Two bottles of samsu, two tins of fish, six packets of biscuits and five pomelos.  No ill effects today, much to my surprise.  The following were there: Wally V, Kechil, Taffy C, 

Chaplain, Sergeant Gent, Matthews and Woodroff Hill, the interpreter and Tony Hatherway the Tasmanian, Butcher, Grudie from the Nip cookhouse.  We had it behind the rice stack sitting on mats with a guttering light made out of a cigarette tin, whilst Tagayama kept watch.  It was very good of Tagayama and I really believe it was only out of the kindness of his heart.  He is one of the most pleasant of the Koreans and he never hits anybody, except Swanton for going outside when there was an air-raid alarm.  He was out lighting his pipe.  I’m finished reading Kipling’s ‘ Kim’.  Brings back northern India very vividly, especially where we were this time two years ago.  I wonder if we’ll ever be able to visit Kashmir again.

12.12.43

An amusing day yesterday, went with the ration lorry to the lower camp, a nightmarish trip with Shebah driving.  The road is good, condition new, but must have been terrible in the wet weather.  Ruts feet deep.  Tin trunks and suitcases such coolies carried are rotting everywhere.  The going must have been so difficult that it was impossible to carry much.  Quite a few evidently died on the way because there are quite a few skeletons in the jungle at the roadside.  In one place a skull can be seen stuck up beside the road.  The new Nip officer arrived the night before last.  Letters arrived also but none for me.  Today they have decided to have a POW guard of three officers and 24 Ors at the gate in addition to the usual Nip guard.  Each section does this daily on the gate, one sitting in front of the guardhouse and one sleeping.  This being repeated every 24 hours, the men then having 24 hours off.  The penalty for not saluting being a face slapping.  I saw a small Nip slapping a Dutchman nearly twice his size.  The singing after night toll call has been stopped since the incident when Woodroff Hill, the interpreter, had his face slapped.

15.12.43

The 13th was our unlucky day in the store.  Chaplain, Thomas and I got the sack.  As Shimayaki put it, it was not his doing but the bastard fixing No 1.  So I went on the road, a short walk and easy work, the guard keen on our burying a skull which was lying beside the road, but we left at 0900 and were not back until 1900 having food out.  Today we had a yasumi.

18.12.43

Easy day since last writing.  Yesterday on the track but was in the ration party, our job consisted of carrying the food our and bringing back the empty containers, ‘ yasuming’ the rest of the time.  Today is a proper yasumi as we worked yesterday.  Marrie was with me.  Spent the time reading ‘ England this England’.  A Nip search last night for documents, they admitted they did not expect to find anything but they’d been lost on the line and instructions had been issued for the search.

21.12.43

Night before last, a lot of aircraft, most probably ours, overhead.  On the road yesterday ‘bridge building, very heavy work.  So enjoyed the yasumi today.  Spent most of the time reading and eating peanut toffee.  The latter is made by the chaps who carry water for the Nips and have plenty of spare time.  The peanuts are pinched from the store used to do it.

Christmas Day 1943

A very pleasant surprise this afternoon, your letter of 3.8.42 was brought back by Major Cork from Tarsau.  All I can hope is that by now news has got through to you.  Xmas is turning out better than expected.  Cheered the night before last by a lot of our planes going over; the Nips were scared, running around in circles, making certain there were no lights or fires.  Carols last night by a choir including Ian Jeffries.  Woken up before reveille by two cooks bringing sweet tea.  Then a crowd singing ‘ Christians awake’.  This was greeted by a lot of ribaldry.  Then Street started up on his cornet playing appropriate airs.  Breakfast was good, as was tiffin.  Here with the menu: breakfast: porridge (rice) and hot milk, fish cakes, peanuts, tea.  Lunch: sweet beans and chipolata sauce and scrambled eggs and pork a la Bartlett, rice, sweet coffee.  Dinner: Braised steak, brown sauce and chutney, baked sweet potatoes, vegetables.  Jam tarts and custard pies, sweet coffee.  Cricket yesterday afternoon and soccer today.  The Nip officer is away so the guards are playing up.  Chaps beaten up last night for leaving glowing embers of a fire.  Just now some officers were dealt with for being in possession of samsu.  When the Nips knocked them down and started to kick them there was a growl from the front hut.  They desisted but hauled the chaps out and smacked the faces of about 25.  They kept the officers at attention for two hours.  Major Chamier gave members of the MT $1 each and all FMSVF got 75c each so I came in for that too.  Service this morning conducted by Col Lilley, sermon by an Aussie private (Possibly Harry Thorpe).

27.12.43

A yasumi  today but I had a busy boxing day on the road carrying bamboo.  A sharp piece fell on my arm from a height causing a nasty series of scratches which was duly reported to the Nip in case it goes septic so that I can continue to draw pay.  The concert on Christmas Eve was excellent, the ‘girls’ excelled themselves.  Started off with a kids Xmas party, looked attractive, although the decorations were made of labels, etc.

29.12.43

An issue of toilet paper, the first for months.  Jimmy Green says he can have a proper smoke at last.  Beginning work at the station yesterday and today.  Engine there seems to belong to the Burma railway.  What with the FMSR, TSR, Nip and Burmese engines and tolling stock, it will be some job sorting out afterwards.

1.1.44

 A holiday yesterday, today and tomorrow.  Japs preparing their special meal, pounded rice with soya sauce, rather tasteless.  We had to carry water for their cookhouse yesterday morning while Jimmy Green was sentry on the cakes to see the rats didn’t take them.  He’s had a liver ever since.  A concert last night, mediocre, but an amusing sketch ‘The Awakening’.  The three colonels and other senior officers dressed up as ballet girls.  The New Year was welcomed in, in the middle of the show with surprisingly little rejoicing.  Lights out at 2300.  The next must be with you.

7.1.44

I clicked for water carrying on the last day of the yasumi so I had a liver for a bit.  I don’t think the RSM likes us Volunteers.  The Xmas concert was repeated as the commandant had missed the previous nights, he suddenly ordered half way through the show that he wanted the one before.  A flutter in the dovecot and the colonels reappeared much to everybody’s delight.  Speeches followed, Col Hugonin pointed out that the concert was shown by permission of our ‘hosts’ and the RAF.  Then the Nip CO spoke, admitting we’d had a bad time last year but an easy time was in store for us, as we would not spend all our time in the jungle.  The whole war would be over soon and we would be returning home.  The most expansive speech we’ve had from a Nip.  Since then we have been doing odd jobs.  Including ratting.  Our people are offering 1 cigarette and the Nips 5c per rat.  To date 900 odd have been killed.  But there are plenty left, some ran over me last night.  Those not on that worked at the station building a hut and other odd jobs.  The Nips have decided the gradients here are too steep so they started surveying an alternative one.  I was with them cutting rentises?, one was by the old cholera cemetery.  The bodies were only below the surface, in many cases bones were showing.  Must have been 200, most probably Tamils; the poor devils have died in thousands.  We look like moving down to a camp near the clearing and an advance party has already left.

9.1.44

A cholera test on Friday.  Undignified but caused a lot of rude merriment.  Detailed today to go to the other camp tomorrow morning, but it’s just been postponed.  Air raid alarm at 0123.  A Dutch colonel from Burma passed through yesterday.

14.1.44

Now at the lower jungle camp.  We came by rail on Wednesday after waiting in Kinsayok station for over two hours.  Then we had the pleasant job of carrying rice bags and beans six hundred yards from the camp.  I did nine trips and was very exhausted.  The camp is right by the river, every inch having to be cleared of elephant grass etc.  yesterday eight of us spent most of the day heaving boats through the rapids above the camp.  Jimmy green and I are in a hut with regulars and rather pleased to be away from the rest of the Volunteers.

18.1.44

Great luck on Sunday, dated postcards were filled up, I only hope you will get my postcard soon and be reassured.  Out with the engineers yesterday from 0900 till after  1900.  Walked about 14 kms but did little else except carry the level case and their mess tins.

20.1.44

Planes over last night, Nips agitated but much more helpful and decent.  Cutting rentises today, got as far as ‘Rustler Camp’, but no cattle about this time.  Arm at last healed, it’s remained open since Boxing Day.  The bandage was filthy but I had nothing else so it had continuous use.

21.1.44

Out collecting wood for charcoal burner, this morning did about 15 minutes work, off in the afternoon.  The afternoon gang did well, our four took cards for bridge, dummies job being to cut wood.  I made a table for 98th Bow & Arrow Coy HQ i.e.  9th Coast with Rocky ..  and East..  playing cowboys this evening, really funny.

23.1.44

Service.  Climbed the hill behind the engineer’s camp, whilst supposed to be collecting bamboo.  Lovely view but can only see range on range towards the coast.  Gray was with us, no yasumi today, spent the morning hauling boats through the rapids.  Nips bargaining with Thais, we collected 5 eggs and 12 biscuits each and 1/5 share in a bottle of samsu.  We decided to sell the latter.

24.1.44

Two years since the Taisang went down.  Many letter arrived today but I was unlucky.  Ian Jeffries heard that his father-in-law had died.  Letters as late as 10.2.43 mentioned as no news received.  The yellow bastards have a lot to answer.  Received 17 cigarettes, ½ cake soap, ¼ lb tea from Red Cross, i.e.  Swiss consul, Bangkok.  Also got a small tin of fish in a raffle but it might have been soap or biscuits.

28.1.44

Felt rotten on Tuesday night and developed a kind of low fever, not a high temperature, but felt very bad.  Having a quinine course.  The first time I’ve had this.  Some chaps have had as many as ten goes.  Also having a course of Vit B tablets.  Jimmy Green and Maurice have looked after me very well.  The former cooking me eggs, etc, in an effort to tempt my appetite.  Thank God the weather is dry because the tent we’re in is in the last stages of decay, but we’ve made it pleasant.  All the same it looks like a tramps encampment.  Ragged clothes, etc.  my bedding consists of two layers of sacks.  When I was really cold on the first day of the fever I put on a “sack pullover or MacCreadie” as well.  A very cheery crowd in the tent.  Jimmy Green, Ginger Walter, worked in a colliery, John Barnes a steeplechase jockey up till ’37, Hindle and Pickles, Ginger Turrel joined the army when he was 14, only 22 now.  MacIllvaney, a boxer who fought as ‘Pat Hailey, medium weight’.  John’s an ex-farmer but now a regular Sergeant.  Eddie Deakin, Morris, both ‘Vultures’.  We are not sorry to be separate from the other Volunteers.

1.2.44

Weather much warmer.  Went ‘ light duty’ on Sunday and M&D yesterday.  Still on quinine course.  Very little work, Nip engineers seem to have finished surveying.

4.2.44

Still easy work, collected wood this morning for the cookhouse, which was soon done, so played bridge in the jungle with Morris, John and Paterson.  A lot of fever.  Pav(Pavillard) is just throwing cold water over a chap lying outside the tent.  Also an injection.

5.2.44

Had a lesson from the Nips in making string for fishing nets, received a kick in the pants for my pains.  Spent the afternoon playing bridge with Ron, Joe and Moray.  I seem to hold the only pack of decent cards, mainly because I’ve used them very little and do not lend them.  I am certainly envied.

9.2.44

Have done nothing since the string making except play bridge, do a bit of exploring with Ian.  The Nips have tied up a Chinese, say he is a 5th Columnist, anyway they’ve made our chaps watch him; if he escapes they get the rap.  Plague injections yesterday, it’s supposed to have broken out at Chungkai, where a lot of sick are.

13.2.44

Had to sign parole form again yesterday, promising not to escape or desert! As we signed it we stated that we signed it on the instructions of the IJA.  So it is worthless.  The knowledge that one will be shot on recapture is a far more effective deterrent.  Getting ready to move, carried up rice, etc to the railway this afternoon.

17.2.44

We eventually moved on Tuesday, 15.2.44.  Better organisation, a three hour wait for the train which we occupied with bridge.  The train arrived on time, 1500 we evidently impressed the one thing originally intended.  We took three hours for 150 kms passing many Nip troops trains.  Chaps yelled out, “Good luck, you’ve had it!” and received bows and smiles in return.  Much better organisation.  Marched to Tarsau main camp where we were numbered off and immediately allocated to huts.  A gloomy camp.  3,000 so called fit men 2,500 in hospital.  Amongst the latter are many amoebic dysentery cases who look fit.  Have met many chaps I’ve not seen for months.  Jack King, Pat Stewart, etc.  worked today getting bamboo.

21.2.44

Just getting over my second bout of fever, very weak but really now only suffering from quinine.  Met Horne, a chap in the Education Dept, who married Betty Thom…?

27.2.44

Last day of quinine course, feel very much better.  Yasumi today.  Did nothing but read ‘Tales of the NW Frontier’.  Horne very kindly gave me $2, most acceptable as I only earned 20 cents from my first pay period here.  Saw Goodchild and Hutch, of Indian Army.

4.3.44

Received your letters dated 12 July, 5 Sept, 13 Oct and one 1942, the last dated addressed to Pop which unfortunately I cannot deal with.  Only hope you have had at last received news from me.
10.3.44

Planes overhead on Monday, Thursday and Wednesday nights.  On the first night the Nips  ran round in circles.  Hand siren making a weird rasping noise, bugles going.  Planes overhead and to cap it all, a lizard reiterating “ – me, - me!” We are made to stay in the huts.  Many sleep outside because to the bugs, etc.  the Nips take to their slit trenches and funk holes.  Have been survey coolie again, peasant work in that the work on the railway or surveying is usually much easier and shorter than stuff for the camp.  Yasumi today.  Some Nip anniversary.  Man after man going down with fever again.  Cecil Lee came down from Kinsayok suffering from typhus.  Touch of the sun through bathing too much yesterday.

12.3.44

Down with fever again, marked for evacuation.  The MO, O’Driscoll, seems a bit crazy.  (There is independent records to support this statement- See Dunlop Diaries).  If you call him Sir you’ll get a reasonable number of days off but if he’s called 
Dr he will either sign M&D or hospital! Bathing in the new restricted area 20 yards.  2500 men, they keep on cramping our style.  Cricket and soccer matches on Yasumi days but no applause.  Concerts but no singing, no lectures in huts or hospital.

21.3.44

Just seen the MO, given M&D, so work tomorrow.  Fever seems to come on every 22 or 23 days.  So I should be due for it again about 1st or 2nd of April.  A lot of talk about the selfishness of the officers, in a very large number of cases its unfortunately only too true.  They just ignore the men when the latter are sick, they make no efforts to help them although their pay is about four times as much.  Most probably eight times.  Also there was the officer at Chungkai who had a pet monkey which we fed on a tin of milk a day, although men were dying of dysentery and debility.  Many Volunteer officers just ignore Volunteers in the rank, even chaps they knew well personally before the war.  Morris and D..  have noticed this particularly.  Walker is better than most, although he seems queer in his ways.  Jack King is not too good; I only hope he will be evacuated soon.  
28.3.44

On making inquiries about the above from Goodchild, it seems only too true though a certain amount of their pay goes to the hospital, once that’s done they consider that they need do nothing else.  Amongst the FMSVF officers here, amounting to at least 40, only Cooper, Madge, Ross and Mills really behave naturally.  Have more fever, went down on Friday again after only four days work and 14 day after the beginning of the last attack.  The weather is extremely hot at the moment, 107 in the shade yesterday.  Bit of a surprise on Sunday, two Koreans turned up for RC Mass, one did that at Christmas, but it is still rather unusual.  Evacuation down river has at last started, the first party actually left at 2315 last night, after standing by from 2000.  I was on it but fever prevented me going.  I’m afraid I spent your birthday with a temperature.  I’m firmly convinced the next we’ll be together.

29.3.44

Received 50c from the Vol officers’s fund as I was unable to work during the last pay period.  Also $1.50 from  Horne, which was most thoughtful of him.  Rice issued when travelling.  Ronney had an interesting letter from Seabridge.  Old Tony is not too fit from an ulcerated back.  Jack King much better after his second blood transfusion.  More room in the hut thank goodness, only three in our bay.  The chap on one side of me has fits, and he has lice in his clothes, which he catches but does not always kill.

31.3.44

Five more days ‘ bed down’ although I wanted to go to work.  People who didn’t got the M&D including Browning (HK Bank and OKS), a miserable specimen.

2.4.44

Half a yasumi, spent morning repairing old Calcutta shorts, very little of original left.  Nips passing through asked if this was India! Korean guards leaving ask for surats.  The writing on the wall?

4.4.44

Received two letters from Betty dated 25.9.42 and 1.3.43! First news of the son and heir.  I’m so pleased.

7.4.44

Fever back again, bad go yesterday, luckily was given some quinine by Davidson and Gullet, otherwise would have been in a bad way.  The mad doctor wanted to put me in hospital.  I argued him out of it on the support that I should have 5 to 7 days clear before the next packet so could be evacuated in the meantime.  Sweating under layers of sacks with the odd bug to annoy me.  Wet rice for breakfast, etc has rather a depressing effect.  Luckily I still have a quarter lb tin of Vegemite so opened it and had it with some rice and sambal, ideal invalid diet.  I’ve been carrying Vegemite for over 18 months, since Singapore.

12.4.44

Still down, on a quinine course.  But feeling better this week.  Jimmy Green has joined me and I’m able to repay a little for all he’s done for me.  Last night there were many planes overhead, one way of being home for Easter! Easter services but I was not fit enough to go.

16.4.44

First days work for ages yesterday, but weak in legs.  Eggs in canteen, 8 for $1.  $1 given by Ian - godsend.  350 left the hospital yesterday, same today.  Jack King, Cedric Seddon and Don amongst them.  Better organisation than usual.  
23.4.44

They suddenly revived the old evacuation list and I found myself in hospital.

24.4.44

Down again with fever.  (25th fever, 6.4.44; 6th term 24.4.44).  Jimmy Green over.

26.4.44

Immediately after breakfast ordered to shift.  Marched to station feeling rather weak.  Travelled in coal trucks, not as dirty as it sounds, open and much cooler than the covered goods truck we travelled in before.  Unevenful journey to Tamuan just beyond Kamburi.  At a stop on the way we were opposite a Nip troop train.  Men and one officer Lt Shrive, pushed to the side asked for ‘presento’ cigarettes.  A gunner and the officer got a packet each.  The gunner took one and gave the rest away.  The officer gave one to a brother officer and pocketed the remainder, at which there was a murmur of disapproval as very little tobacco had been available at Tarsau.  Unfortunately this is only one of many similar instances among the young officers.  The sick stood it fairly well although the sun was a bit hot.  Three died in the exodus from Tarsau, but none did in my particular party.

30.4.44

Still in dock but I am fairly okay, the MO is an Aussie, Major Corlette.  I’ve very mild BT malaria; this camp is going to be okay but at the moment the only huts and cookhouses that are built are nearly a mile away on the river, so it means a long walk for every meal.  The food is good but scanty for the sick, the workers getting more rice.  More are arriving in large batches.  Most outlying camps are closing down.  Jimmy and Joe have still not come down from Tarsau.

5.5.44

Still in dock, no further fever but a sore tongue, vitamin B deficiency.  The whole sick camp had a shift yesterday.  Food is brought up to us.  They are laying out an orderly camp but Thai kampongs are still in the area.  The first huts we were in had a kampong within a few feet of one end of the hut.  The Thais were selling boiling eggs, etc and were buying clothes etc.  One pair long bags changed hands for $2.  A bad clothes shortage here.  Dealing with Thais is officially forbidden but certain Nips encourage it and take a rake off.  There was a little child wandering in and out of the food queue selling boiled eggs at 10c each, duck’s, but fresh and not highly flavoured.  Women came this morning selling Bananas at 10c a hand.

8.5.44

Still in dock but feeling okay although fever symptoms.  Met Judy O’Grady and Wollmer.  Long list of Malacca Volunteers dead.  Dan Todman blind from beri-beri.  
10.5.44

Searched but lost nothing.  The killing of a large snake enlivened the proceedings today.

14.5.44

Suspected cholera case on Friday.  So far no deaths.  This one from pneumonia.  Have met Boyd, Oldham and Harry Roper-Caldbeck.  All fairly fit though the latter has some blood infection.  Believe Boyd’s brother dead.

18.5.44

Just getting over fever which started on Monday.  A cheerful ward though a couple of nights ago a RAMC chap slashed his throat and arms, lost a lot of blood but they seemed to have saved him.  He was suffering from cerebral malaria.  Raining yesterday with fine periods.  Food; one pint rice, ½ pint stew, ½ tablespoon milk, ½ tea, same plus one Doover.  Breakfast for months has been ‘sweet’ rice.  Met Chalmers.

25.5.44

Left hospital yesterday.  Glad to have more plentiful food.  American Red Cross parcels are being issued.  The Yanks intended them for one per man, but we are having 13 men to two parcels.  I received:- 30 Chesterfield cigarettes, 1 lb prunes, 1 damson preserve, 1 army spread, 1 Sweet-café, 3 pks boullon powder, ½ lb Kraft cheese, Ron Mills pate, which is in Kongsi with Morris.  We have an interest in Hickey’s draw.  Rather more interesting that the local Red Cross.  They give us 20 cigarettes and some biscuits.  I sold the former for 50c.

8.6.44

Moved into yet another hut.  We get very little peace these days working for long hours.  It’s easy but boring and tiring.  Thank goodness the cookhouse is near now.  We moved in the day before yesterday.  We thought we were here for the duration but suddenly shifts were in the air, to Japan, up river, etc.  The only one is the former, which I’m on as are most of us.  These moves coincided with rumours of a German pack up, and the largest number of Allied planes I’ve ever seen.  The Nips estimated 54, we saw quite a few of them and heard explosions.  Thousands of ducklings in camp, the Nips found they were dying so distributed 15 to a hut and a progress report has to be submitted.

11.6.44

Fever.  Nips doing a lot of bashing, one chap hit on the head with a chungkol handle, in critical condition.  Prayers for casualties in Western Europe.

12.6.44

Bashing parties.  Nip bashed 10 and made 20 others bash each other.  Work consists of digging drains, roads, etc.  building pig stys, etc.  at present seem to be off Nippon party.  (Fever 7th, Mess orderly second time 13th.)

20.6.44

Have been a tukang ayer for our cookhouse, hard work but plenty of time off.  Australian Jap (Nippon) party being fitted out, mauve, green, blue etc.  shorts and white singlets, rather a stunning sight.  Australian volunteers who were on the British party were taken off the parties, must be pure, nobody knows how they account for Russians, etc.  Full of wild rumours, Paris fallen, etc.

29.6.44

The usual yasumi but for once we’ve been left alone except for fly swatting.  Nips talk of Naval battle.  Off water job, brick layer’s assistant instead, wood carrier, etc.  transferred to gardening gang, spent yesterday putting fence round duck pond.

1.7.44

Down with fever again, 9th dose since 25.1.44.  Nips inspection eye wash unoccupied huts to be occupied.  No inspection.

6.7.44

Another yasumi.  20 cattle killed yesterday, mainly because the Nips are scared.  Two of the cattlemen have anthrax and are isolated.  A few cattle have died.  So I suppose they want to slaughter the herd before they all die.  Ian’s birthday tomorrow, we man to celebrate his and mine on the next yasumi, the 13th, we hope.

10.7.44

Am on a draft for an upcountry party, arranged by Baldy Clarke.  Had tiffin with Roger Horne, three fried eggs and sambal.

13.7.44

Yasumi again.  Still no news of our move, but many rumours, FIC, FMS, Uki dead, but think rejoicing premature.  Ian in hospital again with fever.

20.7.44

Pa’s birthday, only hope he’s not having too bad a time.  I spent mine last Sat on a Nip party to Kamburi, a nightmare drive, 42 men standing in a lorry driven by a Nip.  The 42 included a Nip guard with fixed bayonet, holding on to my belt.  The officer was full of a caravan tour to last 5 ¼ years, he was going to do this with his wife after the war.  No wonder he studied ‘ birth control’ during the tiffin hours! McCarthy and Moray are down.  We look like going up to Konkoita, received two jabs on Tuesday, cholera and plague.  Worked under an officer from Penang, a very nice bloke.  Nips prohibiting singing, concert or applause.  Only church service on Sundays.  Stew with sweet potatoes, wild green stuff and thyme, onions, chillies and salt.  It was very good.

21.7.44

10th fever.

22.7.44

Fever again but slight.  Announcement on parade last night; no swinging of golf clubs except on yasumis.  One officer did and teaches others, no ORs.  Just another Nip pin prick.  No concert last Thursday.

31.7.44

In middle of atabrin course.  Hope this five day quinine and five day atabrin course will cure the recurrent fever.  Letters in camp but so far none for me.  McCarthy gave me five eggs, very acceptable as I am not working.  Issue of local Red Cross as they are rather varied; our names were called out and we drew for the prize which were blue shorts, 46 cigarettes per man, singlets and cheap boots, powdered milk, 1 lb tea packets, soap, rolls of toilet paper and biscuits.  I drew a singlet which is too small.  Bill Paterson drew a roll of paper and 5 biscuits.  Others drew a cake of soap and five biscuits.  Donald Allen drew a singlet which he offered to me with his cigarettes but I am off smoking and gave my own away to Bill Paterson.  Donald very kindly gave me $5, most acceptable.  Dutch MI room burgled, atabrin, emetine, etc, all priceless.

1.8.44

Two Aussies caught with the goods, handed over to Nips who stood them to attention outside the guardroom.

2.8.44

Still standing, were allowed to rest last night for a short time.  When they collapsed water was thrown over them and they were kicked to attention again.  Opinion generally is that they deserve all they get as so many lives have been lost through the lack of these drugs upriver.

3.8.44

A yasumi.  Baseball, touch rugger, soccer, netball and a concert.  All with applause, an amazing change since last week.  Immre and others returned from Non Phaton (Nakon Pathom).  Dan Thompson at last has news of his wife.  Two more days BD from a small ulcer in the foot.

4.8.44

Your letter of 10.10.43.  So glad you have the address at last.  Railway delayed by sinking of a bridge; lorries very much in evidence.  650 odd Nip wounded arrived at Tamuan station in filthy condition.  Their people did little for them, one wounded in bandages was left to crawl.  Luckily some Aussies saw him and carried him.  They and our chaps helped many others.  Outside the camp one of our party marching up evidently fainted.  An orderly gave him a couple of injections but when he did not come round proceeded to kick him.  A crowd stood and watched.  Sold Red Cross singlet, $3.  Dan’s battledress jacket $9.

15.8.44

Nip celebrations in the form of sports, the POW band played such pieces as ‘ Hang out the washing on the Siegfried line’ and ‘ the Yanks are coming’! Some of our chaps competed and were given a banana and a cake for their trouble.  Horne tells me that there is a certain amount of agitation amongst the officers against the excessive profits of the canteen run by Major Barnett, etc of Lilley’s battalion.  50% on bananas, etc.  they purchase pigs, render down the fat, the sale of which covers the cost price.  They then sell the meat at $1.20 per lb, which is pure profit.  
28.8.44

Still busy gardening, which I enjoy as there is little or no interference from the Nips.  Robin’s in charge, is very decent, a carnation grower by trade.  He tried and succeeded with the office in getting Geoff and Joe off the party, standing by for Tarsau.  But Baldy would not help, although there are plenty of Chungkites who could take their place.  A camp inspection last Saturday by Col Sugasama, he asked Lt Col Knights? if he was satisfied with the camp, much to everybody’s disgust he said he was.  Many petty irritations these days.

31.8.44

11th fever on dengue, negative blood shot.  Down with dengue.

2.9.44

Our fifth anniversary.  I think the wishes expressed at the beginning of this notebook on this day last year seem to have every chance of being fulfilled early.  Feeling much better but I am still bed down.

8.9.44

Gone into hospital with BT yesterday.  Roll call on the 6th was taken by the Kami Kid, it was drizzling and yet he insisted on all raincoats, etc, coming off.  Even my sack had to come off.  Air raid yesterday after tiffin.  All blanket washing etc had to come off the line and fires out.

10.9.44

The air raid a few nights ago was on Non Pradock railway siding.  Most of the bombs were very accurate but unfortunately some POWs were in the target area too.  81 killed, 150 injured, many not expected to live.  70% Dutch.  Bumph was dropped, evidently intended for us, “ It’s in the bag!” Thanks to the raid the drains round the huts are being prepared for ARP.  Before we had no shelters, whereas the Nips had slit trenches, etc.  A Nip Sergeant did very good work.

17.9.44

Still in dock, not feeling too bad but having dengue aches.  Thanks to Alex Sheilds, who gave me atabrin, I’m having a proper course of treatment.  That drug is only available in hospital for black water fever as stocks are low.  The Nips are bloody minded again.  Presume they’ve had another reverse.  Barbers shop closed and barber out to work so it’s a part time job only.  Threatened to close the snack bar but left it when a declaration stating the returns were sufficient was signed.  As there are cases of beri-beri that seems doubtful.  But what can our Colonels do?:

27.9.44

Still in dock but work in the lines canteen.  Collecting cash for the pies.  We lose the job if we leave hospital.  Issue of local Red Cross.  Nip order is that they are for the workers only.

4.10.44

Canteen job still going nicely.  I collect cash while one of the Braggs, Rogers, a Sergeant Major Fry, Dusty Miller, Baxter, or Jasper break eggs.  Timins, Dobbs and Chadwick look after the accounts.

6.11.44

Roger Horne asked me along to a party celebrating his wedding anniversary

10.10.44

Still on Canteen but wholetime, 35c instead of 25c.  a large party going up river towards the border.  I’m passed as fit from my disability.  Baldy says he’ll only put me on the party if no one else is available.  Bill Paterson’s going.  A lot of rain and cold at night.  My sack blanket is falling to bits.  Just tied two more together, hope they will suffice.  Not been wearing boots lately, white ants eaten most of the soles.  Hewitt recognised me!

4.11.44

Great luck on the second.  Seven letters, one from Betty, one from Mrs Barton and the rest from you.  The latter included snaps, which I was awfully glad to receive.  The shot of Betty and Joan was unfortunately spoiled, but is still recognisable.  Party from Kamburi returned but more were added and left for upriver yesterday afternoon.  Walter Paterson and many others.  We look like going soon.  Goodchild returned from NC looking fit.

11.11.44

Tardan.  Arrived here yesterday after a nightmare trip.  We left Tamuan at 2100 on the 8th after being detailed on the 6th.  Other Volunteers were Filton, Lilley, Kennedy and Taylor of W battalion.  Sorry to lose the canteen job but glad to have left the camp.  A couple of decent Nips, what a change from the Koreans.  Marched us off, he had to show them where the station was.  We were piled on bogies carrying rails, 50 per bogey most uncomfortable.  That lasted as far as Kamburi.  With us we had Red Cross issue as flour, sugar, beans, etc besides 6 kualis.  At C.  we changed, this time to the tops of full covered C.G.s ? 20 men per truck, plus stores.  I was in rather intimate contact with a sticky sack of sugar.  But even then managed to sleep a bit.  Rather nerve wracking crossing the Wampo cuttings and bridges.  Also getting down.  We arrived at Tarsau 0500 and slept in the station yard.  Breakfast of curry cakes cooked by Tamils.  Pedas, but tasty.  Lucky I was carrying boiled eggs and cookhouse ‘drovers’ and bread.  We marched about 17 miles to this place, arriving in the rain.  We took cover on a platform which collapsed.  A chap lost a chunk out of his leg.  Luckily Capt Smith, the MO, was on the spot.  Capt Berkely Dennis is in charge, a first class officer, a friend also of Roger Horne.  Campbell, T.  Sigs 2 i/c.  Two WO’s.  Nips very cooperative, rest today, huts tomorrow and the next day.  Then road bridge building.  We are in rawhide chaplis.  Feet okay.  Nips helping build huts.  Everybody being helpful.

15.11.44

Went down with fever on Saturday, temp 103, but only for a short time – 13th dose 12.11., 14th dose 21.11.44.  Back to work tomorrow.  The CO having a bit of trouble, had to sentence McCarthy and ..  to field punishment, which is causing a hell of a lot of argument.

24.11.44

Went down with fever again on Wednesday.  Sergeant Major drunk with McCarthy etc.  – Kechil into cookhouse and a Staff Sergeant appointed one other being ignored.  Charlie Chase, who I am mucking in with has joined me with fever.

27.11.44

Relapse on Saturday but better today, should work on Wednesday.

30.11.44

Started yesterday as a tea boiler with Charlie Chase.  21 Allied visitors fairly low, a wonderful sight.  Nips annoyed as we were outside looking.  Returned in the early hours, few over here piling this morning.  60 men hauling rope, chanting, ichi, nee, san, go - like a scene from an African film.

2.12.44

Our visitors evidently destroyed the bridge as we are supposed to be going to Tamarkan this morning to put it up again.  150 going, leaving some good friends behind, including George Poolton.

4.12.44

Tamarkan.  Arrived here early this morning.  Left Tardan 0800 yesterday, marched 17 miles Tarsau, arriving 1400.  All heavy kit by lorry.  Train 1730, four trucks x150 men, some on the roof.  Stopped Wampo 1830-0200 while three allies overhead in daylight.  2110 took cover in jungle, interrupted bridge 0400, slept until daylight on old rail track.  Daylight marched over bridge.  Bridge okay though splinter damage.  Two AA out, one by camp.  Nine killed including George Paterson (Parkinson hurt by bamboo splinters upriver, not by bombing).  No real ARP.  But dried padi field looks fairly safe.  Met Robey, Saunders, Barr, Ogliviy, Laurie Cherry and Sheerlaw.

12.12.44

Daily arrivals, but camp okay.  Slit trenches were dug.  Kamburi bombed on 8th and 10th.  The latter raid was fairly long, one kite dropped stuff just beyond the bridge.  It passed right overhead of the hole I was in with Jackie Reid about 1000 feet only, we could see the doors open and his machine guns firing, a thrilling sight.  Nips got us under cover with plenty of time to spare.  Work easier now as we’re only pile driving.

13.12.44

Nearly proved an unlucky day for us.  Worked easily on the bridge all day.  Just as we were finishing supper an alarm, thunder we thought in the distance.  Message ‘planes approaching from the north’.  Into the ditch around the hut.  Kites in threes in every direction, one within 100 feet overhead, machine gunning the Nips.  Nips on hill opened fire, stream of bullets close, I got dirt in my hair.  Two chaps hit.  Bombs all round but none in camp.  Bridges escaped.

14.12.44

One chap lost arm, other died.  As funeral was on heard planes overhead and heavy explosions in distance.  So far no bridge, Nips came for us.

18.12.44

Started on the bridge again yesterday.  Quite a few missing anyway our Nips, mainly the better ones.  They started us at 0700 today.  Breakfast on the job.  ‘This to continue until the job is finished.  Searched today, this was luckily missed, second time in a week.  Camps upriver being evacuated of POWs.  Shelton, Palmer, Mills and Llewellyn came down with a party of sick and wounded.  The latter mistaken for a troop train.  Freddie Wright killed, Tommy Thomson and Joe Potter okay.

25.12.44

Third Xmas under Nips.  Our first official yasumi for three weeks.  Breakfast rice, meat and beans.  Fried egg and sweet milky coffee.  I had no meat so added sugar and bought an extra egg.  Tiffin one slice meat, veg, rice, sauce, Xmas pud, same rice roll.  Dinner meat (cold) and pickles.  Green etc, rice, Xmas cake.  ‘ Aladdin’ excellent .puppet show.  Father Christmas, crackers, cigars, etc chucked to audience.  Received $1, Volunteer officers 50c, both most welcome.  I bought peanut toffee.  Tax?? Bloom, a London Jew taxi driver, very kindly got me a seat at the concert.  This may be pinched off one so am closing.  Hope only short time left.

This is the end of George Wiseman’s diary as given to me by George and as it finished on the second type, which was also given to me.   I have lightly edited the type written record too in preparation  for placing on the website www.pows-of-japan.net.    Lt Col Peter Winstanley.
In 2009 George, aged 97 years, resides in Perth, Western Australia.
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